# A DESCRIPTIVE AND VISUAL ANALYSIS OF THE NORTH COAST FALL PREVENTION SURVEY DATA

By

Mishell Lopez

A Thesis Presented to

The Faculty of California State Polytechnic University, Humboldt

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science in Kinesiology

Committee Membership

Dr. Justus Ortega, Committee Chair

Dr. Jill Anderson, Committee Member

Dr. Amy Rock, Committee Member

Maggie Kraft, Committee Member

Dr. Taylor Bloedon, Program Graduate Coordinator

May 2023

### ABSTRACT

### A DESCRIPTIVE AND VISUAL ANALYSIS OF THE NORTH COAST FALL PREVENTION SURVEY DATA

### Mishell Lopez

Older adults over 65 will double from 52.4 million in 2018 to 94.7 million in 2060. Among this aging group, falls affect one out of four older adults and are a critical economic concern for our American society, with yearly costs of \$50 billion. In older adults, falling can result in negative consequences such as fear of falling, injuries, mobility restrictions, and loss of independence. California has one of the highest costs per fall (\$4 billion annually) and a high percentage of adults who have fallen (30.6%) compared to the nation. Moreover, two of California's northwest rural counties, Del Norte, and Humboldt County, have higher rates of falls than the rest of the state. Thus, the purpose of this study was to (1) identify fall risk and prevention needs by distributing the North Coast Fall Prevention Survey (NCFP) to adults aged 60 years and over in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties, and (2) to visually depict layers of this data across Humboldt and Del Norte zip codes. Participants completed the survey either by paper or online. Data were analyzed using descriptive statistics and Geographic Information Systems (GIS). The descriptive analysis showed Humboldt and Del Norte Counties had a variety of intrinsic, extrinsic, and behavioral risk factors consistent with previous literature. The maps of Humboldt and Del Norte Counties revealed areas needing fall

ii

prevention. The results of this study warrant further data collection and analysis; however, they will assist the North Coast Fall Prevention Coalition and local agencies with strategic planning.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to my loving spouse for encouraging and supporting my educational endeavors. I look forward to spending time with you and our growing family. I would also like to thank Dr. Justus Ortega for his patience, support, and mentorship. Through his guidance and the Fall Prevention Program at Cal Poly Humboldt, I have learned a lot about older adults in general and their needs in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties. Additionally, I would like to extend my gratitude to my committee members for their patience and support. Finally, thank you to Blue Lake Rancheria, Area 1 Agency on Aging, and the College of Professional Studies (CPS) for the financial support of this research. The data we collected was a result of your assistance!

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS v
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xiv
LIST OF APPENDICES xvi
INTRODUCTION/LITERATURE REVIEW 1
Aging Population1
Falls2
Fall Risk Factors   3
Intrinsic risk factors
Lifestyle behaviors
Extrinsic risk factors
Fall Prevention
Fall prevention coalitions
Geographic information systems (GIS)
Fall Risk and prevention in rural communities
Statement of Research Purpose
METHODS
Participants and Area of Study
Experimental Design

1	Measurements	. 43
	North Coast Fall Prevention (NCFP) Survey	. 43
S	Statistical Analysis	. 43
I	Assumptions	. 44
Ι	Limitations	. 44
Ι	Delimitations	. 45
RE	SULTS	. 46
I	Advertising, Distribution and Data Collection of Del Norte and Humboldt Counties.	. 46
	Advertising	. 46
	Distribution	. 46
	Data collection	. 47
Ι	Del Norte County's NCFP Survey Descriptive Data	. 50
	Demographics: Intrinsic personal characteristics	. 50
	Fall risk	. 51
	Fall history and circumstance of recent fall in the last 12 months	. 51
	Intrinsic medical risk factors	. 52
	Behavioral risk factors.	. 54
	Extrinsic risk factors	. 55
	Fall prevention	. 56
	Del Norte County's visual analysis of the NCFP Survey by zip codes	. 57
Ι	Humboldt County's NCFP Survey Descriptive Data	. 62
	Demographics: Intrinsic personal characteristics	. 62
	Fall risk	. 63

Fall history and circumstance of recent fall in the last 12 months	
Intrinsic medical risk factors	64
Behavioral risk factors	66
Extrinsic risk factors	67
Fall prevention	68
Humboldt County's visual analysis of the NCFP survey by zip codes	68
DISCUSSION	
Distribution Process	79
Demographics	
Fall History and Circumstance	83
Intrinsic Fall Risk Factors (Medical Characteristics)	85
Extrinsic Fall Risk Factors	
Behavioral Risk Factors	
Fall Prevention Awareness and Barriers	
Geographic Analysis	
Strengths	
Limitations	
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	130

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA, calculated sample size using the formula of Sample for Proportions and 2020 U.S. Census older adult population 141
Table 2. Humboldt County, CA, calculated sample sizes using the formulas of Sample forProportions, and Finite Population Corrections for Proportions. The 2020 U.S. Censusolder adult population was used for each formula.142
Table 3. Del Norte County, CA, calculated sample sizes using the formulas of Sample forProportions, and Finite Population Corrections for Proportions. The 2020 U.S. Censusolder adult population was used for each formula.143
Table 4: Community organizations in Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA,notified of the North Coast Fall Prevention (NCFP) Survey. *UIHS = United IndianHealth Services.144
Table 5. Name and location of community boards across Humboldt County, CA, and DelNorte County, CA, used to display the North Coast Fall Prevention (NCFP) Survey flier
Table 6. Organizations in Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA, who requested paper copies of the survey to distribute. The total number of paper surveys provided and the number of paper copies received from the organizations are listed 146
Table 7. The total number of paper and online surveys received from the zip codes ofHumboldt County, CA. Also displayed are the total number of surveys received and thenames of the zip code
Table 8. The total number of paper and online surveys received from the zip codes of DelNorte County, CA. Also displayed are the total number of surveys received and thenames of the zip code
Table 9: Humboldt County, CA, participants' demographics separated by rural and urban. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as mean $\pm$ SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. $\dagger$ Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question
Table 10. Del Norte County, CA, participants' demographics separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as mean $\pm$ SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. † Denotes

 Table 11. Humboldt County CA, participants' socio-economic status separated by rural and urban clusters.
 151

 Table 12. Del Norte County, CA, participants' socio-economic status separated by rural

 and urban clusters.
 152

Table 18. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall circumstance of their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is

displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question
Table 19. Humboldt County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Reasons for their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † LOC = Loss of consciousness
Table 20. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Reasons for their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † LOC = Loss of consciousness. 160
Table 21. Humboldt County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Activity leading to their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question
Table 22. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Activity leading to their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question
Table 23. Humboldt County, CA participants' intrinsic risk factors separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. * Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean $\pm$ SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. $\dagger$ BMI = Body Mass Index. FOF = Fear of falling. ADL = Activities of Daily Living. IADL = Instrumental Activities of Daily Living. 163
Table 24. Del Norte County, CA, participants' intrinsic risk factors separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. * Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean $\pm$ SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. $\dagger$ BMI = Body Mass Index. FOF = Fear of falling. ADL = Activities of Daily Living. IADL = Instrumental Activities of Daily Living. 164
Table 25. Humboldt County, CA, participants with chronic conditions separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † COPD =

Table 32. Del Norte County, CA, participants with pain separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes

Table 33. Humboldt County, CA, participants with limitations separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. ... 173

Table 34. Del Norte County, CA, participants with limitations separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. ... 174

Table 37. Humboldt County participants' common indoor home hazards separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.177

Table 38. Del Norte County participants' common indoor home hazards separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.178

Table 41. Humboldt County, CA, participants' common footwear worn separated by rural and urban. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question
Table 42. Del Norte County, CA, participants' common footwear worn separated by rural and urban. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question
Table 43. Humboldt County, CA, participants' awareness of fall prevention separated byrural and urban clusters.183
Table 44. Del Norte County, CA, participants' awareness of fall prevention separated by      rural and urban clusters.      184
Table 45. Humboldt County, CA, fall prevention separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † AMOB = A Matter of Balance. ‡ SAIL = Stay Active and Independent for Life
Table 46. Del Norte County, CA, fall prevention separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † AMOB = A Matter of Balance. ‡ SAIL = Stay Active and Independent for Life
Table 47. Humboldt County, CA, participants' perceived barriers to receiving or accessing the help they need regarding their health separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.187
Table 48. Del Norte County, CA, participants' perceived barriers to receiving or accessing the help they need regarding their health separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.188

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Humboldt County percentage of older adults aged 60 years and over by zip code. 2020 older adult and total population data were obtained from U.S. Census Bureau.
Figure 2. Del Norte County percentage of older adults aged 60 years and over by zip code. 2020 older adult and total population data were obtained from U.S. Census Bureau. 40
Figure 3. Percent of usable surveys received out of the calculated sample size of Del Norte County zip codes
Figure 4. Percent of usable surveys received out of the calculated sample size of Humboldt County zip codes
Figure 5. Older adults at risk of falling in Del Norte County by zip code. At risk scores were calculated using the Stay Independent, a 12-question screening tool
Figure 6. Older adult fallers in Del Norte County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing fallers per zip code by respondents per zip code
Figure 7. Older adults fall injuries in Del Norte County by zip code. Percent of fall injuries calculated by dividing fall injuries per zip code by fallers by zip code
Figure 8. Del Norte County fall incidence rate per 100 older adults by zip code 60
Figure 9. Older adults with no fall risk assessment in the last 12 months in Del Norte County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing total respondents who reported no fall risk assessment per zip code by total respondents by zip code
Figure 10. Older adults' primary choice of fall prevention class in Del Norte County by zip code. Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL) was the top choice for Crescent City, CA 95531. Tai Chi was the top choice for Smith River, CA 95567 and Klamath, CA 95548. Last, Gasquet, CA 95543 choice was Tai Chi and SAIL
Figure 11. Older adults at risk of falling in Humboldt County. At risk scores were calculated using the Stay Independent, a 12-question screening tool
Figure 12. Older adult fallers in Humboldt County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing fallers per zip code by respondents per zip code

Figure 16. Older adults' primary choice of fall prevention class in Humboldt County by zip code. Carlotta, CA 95528 top choice was a mix of three classes: A Matter of Balance (AMOB), Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL), and Other. Redway, CA 95560 top choice was a hiking class. SAIL was the top choice for Eureka, CA 95503, McKinleyville, CA 95519, and Trinidad, CA 95570. Blocksburg, CA 95514 top choice was Sail and a hiking class. Nine zip codes chose Tai Chi: Eureka CA, 95501, Arcata CA, 95521, Blue Lake, CA 95525, Fortuna, CA 95540, Garberville, CA 95542, Loleta, CA 95551, Orick, CA 95555, Rio Dell, CA 95562, and Willow Creek, CA 95573. Whitethorn, CA 95589 chose Tai Chi and SAIL. Ferndale, CA 95536 chose Tai Chi, SAIL, and a hiking class. Scotia, CA 95565 chose Tai Chi, SAIL, and a walking class. Tai Chi and SAIL. Ferndale, CA 95536 chose Tai Chi, SAIL, and a hiking class. Scotia, CA 95565 chose Tai Chi, SAIL, and a walking class. Tai Chi class. Ca 95524 chose a walking class. Tai Chi class. Tai Chi class. Tai Chi class. Ca 95524 chose a walking class. Ca 95565 chose Tai Chi class. Tai Chi class. Ca 95524 chose a walking class. Ca 95565 chose Tai Chi class. Ca 95524 chose a walking class.

### LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. The North Coast Fall Prevention Survey flier
Appendix B. The North Coast Fall Prevention Survey components: The cover letter, "Anonymous Exempt Consent" Informed Consent, and the North Coast Fall Prevention Survey
Appendix C. All tables for this study are listed in this section

#### INTRODUCTION/LITERATURE REVIEW

### Aging Population

Americans are getting older. By 2060, older adults will compose 25% of the nation (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022). One of the primary reasons the number of older Americans is increasing is that the baby boomer generation, born between 1946 and 1964, are all expected to be over 65 by 2030. This growth will increase the older population from 56 million in 2020 to 74 million in 2030 (Colby & Ortman, 2015).

This newer older generation will be more racially and ethnically diverse, have lower marriage rates, fewer kids, higher education, and live longer (Pruchno, 2012). They will also find themselves fulfilling a caretaker role while simultaneously receiving care. Already, addressing the needs of this older and diverse population has become a challenge. Unmarried men and widowed women have worse socioeconomic outcomes than previous older adults. Women are outliving men but experiencing decreased functioning (Crimmins et al., 1996), and aging is correlated with increased healthcare and pharmaceutical costs across private and public insurance (Sharma, 2018). As our older population continues to grow, preventative care is needed to alleviate the rising costs to our nation, increase the quality of life of older adults, and decrease the healthcare demands of our aging Americans.

Falls

One growing concern in this aging population are falls. Falls are a national public health concern in the older population because they are expensive, common, can lead to a decrease in quality of life, and are preventable. A fall is defined as an unintentional or sudden loss of balance resulting in a lower ground level (Kellogg International Work Group, 1987). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, one in four adults will fall each year (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019). Commonly reported injuries found in literature were hip and wrist fractures, traumatic brain injuries, sprains, lacerations, and hematomas (Terroso et al., 2014; Berg et al., 1992). Older adults who suffer hip fractures are three times at increased risk of mortality during the first 3-6 months of injury (Katsoulis et al., 2017). Additionally, about 5% and 10% of falls will result in fractures and soft tissue injuries respectively (Tinetti & Speechley, 1989). As the aging population gets older, the rate of an injurious fall has been shown to increase in both male and female populations (Sattin et al., 1990). Recurrent fallers, (fallers who experience more than one fall) are more likely to result in serious injuries such as fractures, abrasions, and lacerations (Gaebler, 1993). They are also more likely to get transferred to a nursing home after hospitalization.

In 2015, falls in community dwelling, non-institutionalized older adults cost the nation \$50 billion (Florence et al., 2018). Most of the financial burden was shared by Medicare (\$28.9 billion), followed by Medicaid (\$8.7 billion) and private or other insurances (\$12.4 billion).

To prevent the consequences of falling, it is imperative medical professionals are aware of fall risk factors that may place an individual at risk of falling. "A risk factor is defined as a characteristic or situation found significantly more often among individuals who subsequently experience a certain adverse event than individuals not experiencing an event" (Rubenstein & Josephson, 2002). Due to the large amount of risk factors identified as contributing to falls, they have been organized into three categories: intrinsic, behavioral, and extrinsic risk factors (Terroso et al., 2014)

### Fall Risk Factors

### Intrinsic risk factors

Intrinsic fall risk factors are personal and medical characteristics. Sociodemographic risk factors are unmodifiable yet can be used to identify at risk populations. By contrast, medical characteristics are sometimes modifiable and affect an individual's postural stability.

#### Sociodemographic risk factors.

Sociodemographic factors such as age, gender, race, ethnicity, income, education, marital status, and veteran status are unmodifiable risk factors but important to be aware of for fall prevention efforts. As adults get older, the risk of falling increases (Bergen et al., 2019; Deandrea et al., 2010). Aging is a risk factor for falls because of the increased prevalence of other risk factors such as a fall history, fear of falling, chronic diseases, deficits with central processing and decreases in walking speed, medication usage, decline in the sensory perception, functional decline, decreases in strength and flexibility, and postural stability (B. Moreland et al., 2020; Sekaran et al., 2013; Rubenstein & Josephson, 2006; Arcury et al., 2005; Rubenstein & Josephson, 2002; Tinetti & Williams, 1998; Alexander, 1996; Tinetti & Speechley, 1989; Horak et al., 1989). About 25-30% of adults aged 65 years and over fall each year and this percentage increases to 40% in adults aged 75 years and over (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b; Tinetti & Williams, 1998). Adults 60 years and over are more likely to die from an injurious fall than any other age group (World Health Organization, 2021). Additionally, adults aged 80 years and over are two times more likely to fall (Rubenstein & Josephson, 2006, 2002) and adults 85 years and over are four times more likely to report fear of falling (Bertera & Bertera, 2008). Other sociodemographic factors such as gender, race and ethnicity, Veteran status, lower income, marital status, and education have also been associated with increased risk of falls.

Women are more likely to fall and have a 40-60% higher injury rate than men (Stevens & Sogolow, 2005). Women are also twice as likely to fracture their hips because of a fall. Women who had fractured their hips showed 11 to 15% lower bone mineral density at the trochanteric, intertrochanteric, femoral neck and total hip (Greenspan et al., 1994). Women are also twice as likely to be hospitalized from a fall. Additionally, women who are considered frail and have urinary incontinence are more likely to have a fall history. While women may fall more often, men are two times more likely to die from a fall (El-Menyar et al., 2019). Additionally, men who have reported a fall history are more likely to have higher levels of depressive symptoms and difficulty performing balance assessments (Gale et al., 2016). Gender differences also exist between indoor and outdoor falls (Duckham et al., 2013). Women are more likely to have an indoor injurious fall while walking, performing light household tasks, and moving from sitting to standing at their own home, another home, or some other building. Women are also more likely to report falling in the kitchen on dry surfaces as well as slipping and tripping compared to men. In contrast, men are more likely to fall outdoors around their homes, forests, parks, and golf courses while performing vigorous activities such as hiking, tennis, jogging, or while doing household activities such as home repairs, lawn work, outdoor gardening, and taking care of others (Duckham et al., 2013; Chan et al., 2006). They are also more likely to fall on surfaces such as snow or ice as compared to women (Duckham et al., 2013).

Although limited, there is some evidence that the incidence of falls may vary by race and ethnicity. For example, in a study examining differences in fall rates and circumstances in community dwelling Caucasian and African American women, African American women were more likely to fall forwards and, on their hands, and wrists compared to Caucasian women who fell laterally (Faulkner et al., 2005). Moreover, Chinese were found to fall more often outside, and in the daytime in rural settings (Kwan et al., 2011). On the other hand, African American women were found to fall more inside (Faulkner et al., 2005), and in general African American fall rate is lower than Caucasians and Latinos (Hanlon et al., 2002). The lower fall incidence for African Americans was suggested because of less mobility due to increase balance issues and muscular deficits found in this population and higher mortality rates which would lead to less external fall exposure (Nicklett & Taylor, 2014). Fall rates for Latinos were found to

be like Caucasians although their circumstance differed (Hanlin et al., 2013). Additionally, indigenous native American rural older adults in California were found to fall more frequently than non-indigenous adults, but their risk factors differed when compared to non-indigenous adults (Bouweraerts & Ortega, 2019).

More than half of the United States' Veteran population (18 million total Veterans) are older than 65 years. Additionally, the median age of Veterans today is 65 years. Older adult Veterans served in periods from World War II, Korean and Vietnam Era and in 2015, 87% of Veterans aged 65 and over were male. In 2018, about one in three Veterans had served in the Vietnam Era (Vespa, 2020).

Older adult Veterans report poorer health (31% compared to 26% of Americans) and are more functionally disabled (Popham et al., 2019). About 67% of older adults have three or more chronic diseases and 22% have symptoms of depression. Vietnam era Veterans also have a higher prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder (30%) compared to the rest of the population (8%) (Wilmoth & London, 2011). An analysis of older Veterans with a fall history found 75% had been prescribed at least one fall risk increasing drug, and of this population, 75% had been prescribed two or more fall risk increasing drugs (Elias et al., 2020). Despite Veterans having a higher prevalence of fall risk factors, there is limited research in fall risk comparison with the rest of the nation's population. One recent research found older adult Veterans fall more often than Americans but experience less fall related injuries (Marciniak et al., 2020). This study also observed older adult Veterans reported more physical activity than the rest of the population. A higher prevalence of falls in older adults with incomes less than \$25,000 has been observed (United Health Foundation, 2021). About one in three older adults live below poverty level and women are more likely than men to be poor (Cubanski et al., 2018). Women who have higher incomes have decreased risk of falls (Chang & Do, 2015).

Marriage has been associated with decreased fall risk (Çakar et al., 2011). Conversely, being widowed and divorced is independently associated with higher risk of falls in men (Chang & Do, 2015). In the 2016 US Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), a higher prevalence of falls was reported by 34.6% of unmarried couples, 33.2% of widowed, 32.7% divorced, and 31.3% of older adults who had never been married (Bergen et al., 2021).

In 2016, a national study found older adults with an education less than high school had a higher percentage (12.2%) of fall injuries than those with higher education. (Bergen et al., 2021). In China, adults aged 60 and over with education less than high school had 49.24% of nonfatal falls and 72.66% of fall related deaths (Li et al., 2013).

#### Medical characteristics.

Postural stability, defined as the ability to maintain balance when postural disturbances occur, is essential for an individual to move and stand without falling (Melzer et al., 2004). Postural stability relies on the interaction of physiological systems such as the visual, somatosensory, and vestibular sensory systems, as well as neuromuscular and skeletal systems (e.g., motor control, strength, and flexibility). Maki and Mcllroy (1996) describe our body as a multilink inverted pendulum where our center

of mass is at the top of the base of the support. This connection is constantly held together by our body controlling the COM with torques at the joint, the BOS moving to maintain the COM upright, and the ability of our sensory systems to provide feedback and feedforward information. Postural control is defined as the "process by which the central nervous system generates the patterns of muscle activity required to regulate the relationship between the COM and BOS. Falls happen when a postural disturbance occurs and there is a failure of the postural systems to maintain postural control. Intrinsic risk factors that affect these systems and place an individual at an increased risk of falling include history of falls, fear of falling, chronic conditions, cognitive deficits, medications, sensory deficits, and functional limitations.

A history of two or more falls is a risk factor for future falls (Cwikel et al., 1998). A history of falls is among the top questions asked in fall risk surveys because it often reveals other risk factors and is a marker for underlying health conditions and frailty. A frail older adult is defined as an individual who has decreased physiological capacities resulting in increased vulnerability to stressors (Walston et al., 2006) and is consequently at greater risk of falls and more likely to experience recurrent falls (Cheng & Chang, 2017). Moreover, a history of injurious falls is an independent predictor of decreased functional capacities (Tinetti & Williams, 1998). In a three-year study of 1,103 community dwelling adults over 71 years, adults who had 1-3 injurious falls had decreased (ADL) and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL). Additionally, one injurious fall was associated with decreased physical activities while two falls showed decreased social activities (Tinetti & Williams, 1998).

When assessing fall history, the fall event is often analyzed to understand causes and consequences of falls (Carter et al., 2001; Berg et al., 1992). A fall event can be broken down into three phases: initiation, fall descent, and fall impact (Carter et al., 2001; Berg et al., 1992). The fall event can identify fall risk factors and serve as a method of preventing future falls if risk factors are addressed. Information collected to understand a fall event includes location and time of fall, type of activity performed prior to falls, possible causes of falls, direction of the fall and any injuries resulting from the fall. The direction in which a person falls is useful in determining the type of injury that may occur. For example, hip fractures often result from falling to the side while wrist injuries often occur when a person falls forward or backwards (Nevitt & Cummings, 1993). Falls from heights of 17+ cm places an individual at greater risk of having hip fractures when falling to the side (Hayes et al., 1993). Researchers speculate that the incidence of hip fractures is reduced when older adults attempt to lessen the impact of falling to the side by stretching out their arms, or by having more body tissue to absorb the force (Greenspan et al., 1994; Hayes et al., 1993). Additionally, research found older adults who had high bone mineral density around the femoral neck were less likely to have an injurious fall during high displacement fall (> 17 inches) (Greenspan et al., 1994).

Fear of Falling (FOF) and fall incidence in older adults are interrelated and risk factors for each other (Friedman et al., 2002). To determine if FOF occurred before or after a fall, 2,212 adults were analyzed during a 20-month period. FOF and fall incidence were found to be independent predictors of each other. Moreover, in a systematic metaanalysis of community dwelling older adults (60+ years) across four countries including Canada (Filiatrault & Desrosiers, 2011), Korea (Kim & So, 2013), U.S. (Dierking et al., 2016; Lach, 2005) and Spain (Lavedán et al., 2018) the presence of FOF (analyzed by a simple Likert question for variability) resulted in a 12-fold increase in falling when compared to adults who did not have FOF (Pena et al., 2019). Additionally, during a longitudinal 2-year study, the risk of community dwelling adults reporting FOF increased by 4 times if they had two or more falls, 1.88 times if they felt unsteady, and 1.72 time if they exhibited a decrease in health status (Lach, 2005).

About 26% of older women report FOF, while 56% of adults aged 80 and over report FOF (Lach, 2005). Likewise, in a cross-sectional study, 36% of community dwelling older adults reported moderate or higher levels of FOF (Boyd & Stevens, 2009). FOF is also highly prevalent in adults who have functional limitations such as difficulty with balance and mobility, having to use a walking aid (Denkinger et al., 2015) or having Parkinson's disease. Some researchers suggest that fear of falling may cause falls due to increased anxiety having a negative effect on postural stability (Young & Mark Williams, 2015). Regardless, the prevalence of FOF is greater among fallers than non-fallers and should not be overlooked when addressing falls. Denkinger et al. (2015) suggests that when assessing fear of falls in relation to fall risk, that gender, comorbidity, selfperceived health, history of falls, depression, and one performance-based question should always be asked to better understand the relationship.

Chronic health conditions such as stroke, cancer, kidney disease, arthritis, depression, diabetes, angina, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), osteoporosis, mild and severe cognitive impairment, urinary incontinence, dizziness, vertigo, moderate and severe pain, and Parkinson's have all been linked with falls (Immonen et al., 2020; Paliwal et al., 2017; Deandrea et al., 2010; Tromp et al., 2001). After analyzing 2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) national survey data of adults 65 year and older, Paliwal et al. (2017) found adults who had a history of either stroke, cancer, kidney disease, arthritis, depression, and diabetes were at increased risk of experiencing a fall for the first time. Additionally, they found older adults who had a history of either diabetes, depression, COPD, chronic kidney disease, arthritis, asthma, stroke, angina, and heart attack were at risk of recurrent falls.

Elderly adults with neurological conditions such as stroke, Parkinson's, dementia, epilepsy, peripheral neuropathy, peripheral nerve lesion are three times at higher risk of falling than older adults (Homann et al., 2013). Moreover, adults with stroke are six times and adults with Parkinson's are five times more likely to experience a fall compared to healthy adults. Likewise, adults with Chronic musculoskeletal pain (CMP) in the joints often have mobility restrictions and reduced Health Related Quality Of Life (HRQOL) scores placing them at high risk of falls (Stubbs et al., 2016). Leveille et al., (2009) found adults aged 70 years with two or more locations (in either the hands, wrist, back, chest, hips, feet, knee, or shoulders) of musculoskeletal pain fell more frequently. Additionally, they found adults who fell more frequently reported higher levels of pain and pain interfering with daily activities.

Comorbidity also increases the risk of falls (Immonen et al., 2020; Gale et al., 2016; Deandrea et al., 2010). Older adults who have comorbidity are at risk of losing mobility and their risk of falling increases as the number of chronic conditions increase

(Guralnik et al., 1993). Deandrea et al., (2010) found adding one medical condition increased the chance of falling by 1.2 times and 1.4 times for recurrent fallers. Another study found recurrent fallers were more likely to report having 2-5 chronic diseases compared to non-fallers and having five or more chronic diseases were significantly associated with recurrent falls (Immonen et al., 2020).

Research has shown a higher prevalence of dementia in adults with a history of falls and gait impairment (Zhang et al., 2019). Executive function provides attention and inhibitory responses to external stimuli and is important for maintaining balance during walking and standing. Adults with cognitive impairments like Parkinson often have difficulty prioritizing their balance over secondary stimuli placing them at greater risk of falling. Moreover, deficits in executive function have been found to double the risk of falls for community dwelling older adults and increase the risk of an injurious fall by 40% (Boron, 2019). A ten-year study found older adults with reduced processing speed and executive function were at higher risk of falling. Additionally, they found a 10% increased risk of an injurious fall for each standard deviation decrease in processing speed among older adult (Welmer et al., 2016).

Cognitive deficits are also more prevalent as adults get older (Bridenbaugh & Kressig, 2020). A study found that mild cognitive deficits in older adults, determined by the mini mental state exam (MMSE) were associated with an increased risk of falls. The MMSE is a 30-point scale. For each point missed, the risk of fall increased. For example, individuals who scored 28 out of 30 had a threefold increased risk of falling compared to adults who scored a perfect 30. This association persisted even after controlling for

assistive device, activities of daily living, and exercise levels. Last, cognitively impaired adults who fall are five times more likely to get admitted to an institution compared to an older adult with cognitive impairments who has never fallen.

Several classes of medication are associated with an increase of fall and are referred to as Fall Risk Increasing Drugs (FRIDS). Polypharmacy, the regular use of four or more medications has also been commonly considered a fall risk factor (Hammond & Wilson, 2013). Between 1988 to 2010, the proportion of older adults taking five or more medications tripled and the average number of total medications doubled from 2 to 4 (Charlesworth et al., 2015). Polypharmacy's association with falls is significantly stronger when certain FRIDS or Potentially Inappropriate Medications (PIM) are prescribed (Hammond & Wilson, 2013).

The majority of FRIDS are composed of drugs that affect a person's central nervous system. Additionally, the American Geriatrics Society (AGS) Beer Criteria for PIM specifies antiepileptics and psychoactive (antipsychotics, antidepressants such as Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), Serotonin and norepinephrine inhibitors (SNRIs), benzodiazepines, and nonbenzodiazepine specifically eszopiclone, zaleplon, and zolpidem and opioids) medications are FRIDS (American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel, 2019). Despite the known risks of these medications, a cross-sectional analysis of National Vital Statistics (NVSS) and medical expenditure panel survey (MEPS) from 1999 to 2017 showed older adults had 7.8 billion FRIDS prescribed and the percentage of older adults taking one FRID increased from 57% to 94% (Shaver et al., 2020).

Psychoactive drugs have commonly been identified in studies as increasing the risk of falls. Sedative-hypnotics FRIDS, drugs that depress the central nervous system and whose dosage effects the type of depression can be separated into two classes: benzodiazepine and nonbenzodiazepine. Benzodiazepines can be used to manage anxiety, insomnia, seizures, acute alcohol withdrawal or as muscle relaxants. They are thought to increase the risk of falls because they increase drowsiness, relax muscle, and decrease cognitive function (increased reaction time and poor concentration) which all decrease postural stability when standing or walking. Adding two or more benzodiazepines to an older patient doubles their risk of falling (Hartikainen et al., 2007). The generic drug named *diazepam* commonly known as the brand name *Valium*, a drug used to manage anxiety, seizures and muscle spasms was specifically identified as FRID. A study found adults who took *diazepam* were 3.7 times more likely than adults who didn't take this medication to have two or more falls and their odds of falling increased to 5.3 when they were prescribed the medication for a year (Cumming et al., 1991). This increased risk of falling demonstrates the profound risk of long-term continuous use of Benzodiazepines. Indeed, they are not recommended for long-term use due to tolerance that may develop and other negative effects such as cognitive impairment and visuospatial issues. However, between 2014-2016 older women were prescribed benzodiazepines at a higher rate than any other age group (Santo et al., 2020).

Nonbenzodiazepines are another sedative hypnotic FRID that have similar effects as benzodiazepines but are chemically different (Neubauer, 2012). They are primarily used as sleep medications and cause psychomotor slowing which places older adults at an increased risk of falling. Three nonbenzodiazepines generic names have been identified as placing individuals at increased risk of falls and fractures: *Eszopiclone* (known as the brand name *Lunesta*), *zaleplon* (known as the brand name, *Sonata*), and *zolpidem* (known as the brand name *Ambien*) (American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel, 2019).

Another psychoactive medication that has also been associated with falls and fractures is antidepressants. Antidepressants are generally used to treat depression but can also be used for anxiety, neuropathic pain, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Their side effects can include sleep disturbances, dizziness, and impaired balance. It is believed decreased reaction times, disturbances in sleep and orthostatic hypotension may increase the risk of falls for antidepressant takers. In a longitudinal study of antidepressants and falls, recurrent falls were significantly associated with intake of antidepressant drugs. Moreover, older adults who use antidepressants were 83% more likely to fall than non-users (Marcum et al., 2016). The three subclasses anti-depressants associated with falls include Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), and Serotonin-Norepinephrine Reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs). A systematic review of literature from 1996-2004 of older adults showed Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) increased risk for fall related hip fracture by 4.76 and 6.30 respectively. Moreover, *fluoxetine*, and *paroxetine* were specific TCAs found to be related to a higher risk of falls (Hartikainen et al., 2007).

Antipsychotic medications (psychoactive medication) have also been associated with an increased risk of falls and fractures. These drugs are generally taken to treat conditions such as schizophrenia, bipolar, anxiety, PTSD, and Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). The atypical antipsychotic *risperidone* increased the risk of falls by 1.26 (Hartikainen et al., 2007). Two other central nervous system drugs, opioids (a psychoactive medication) and anti-epileptics have also been associated with increased risk of falls.

Other drugs associated with increased risk of fall include drugs used to lower blood pressure such as diuretics and calcium channel blockers like *diltiazem* (Hartikainen et al., 2007). Older adults risk of multiple falls increased by 1.8 in those prescribed diuretics and 1.2 for nitroglycerin. In older adults who had these medications prescribed for a year, their risk of falling increased by 2.2 for both diuretics and diltiazem (Cumming et al., 1991). The researchers suggested diuretics and diltiazem are risk factors because they may cause hypotension and cardiac arrhythmia.

Other recent studies found the use of two other cardiovascular drugs, antiarrhythmic and non-selective beta blockers increase fall risk in community dwelling older adults (Ham et al., 2014). This research suggests that bradycardia or hypotension as a result of these medications increase the risk of falls for older adults prescribed these medications.

Sensory deficits such as vestibular dysfunction, somatosensory system (proprioceptive) vision deficits, and hearing loss, can decrease postural stability in an older individual (Tinetti & Speechley, 1989). Visual deficit is an independent risk factor

16

for falls. The visual system allows an individual to visually perceive their environment (Tobis et al., 1985). Deficits in the visual system caused by either diseases, or visual abnormalities prevalent in older adults are associated with reoccurring falls, fractures, and decreased postural stability. Moreover, visual cognition aids in perceiving the environment and recognizing hazards. Visual cognition is broken down into visual attention, visual-spatial ability, and visual processing. Decreases in any of these components have been associated with falls. For instance, lower visual attention is associated with increased chance of interacting with obstacles while walking and visual processing is associated with slower saccadic eye movement and stepping errors.

The visual sensory system processes the environment by separating it into color, motion, orientation, texture, and depth (Tovée, 1996). Eye conditions such as presbyopia, glaucoma, cataracts, macular degeneration, diabetic retinopathy are prevalent in older adults and can affect the visual processing system (Reed-Jones et al., 2013; Kornzweig, 1977). Individuals with presbyopia have difficulty seeing things closely and will often need bifocal, trifocal or multifocal lenses. Older adults who wear these lenses are at risk of falling because it diminishes their depth perception and contrast sensitivity. For example, older adults who wear bifocal lenses are at risk of injurious outdoor falls, and individuals who wear multifocal lenses are two times more likely to fall than other older adults. In addition, individuals who have glaucoma are at an increased risk of falling because of impaired peripheral vision caused by damaged optic nerve. Also, older adults with macular degeneration are at increased risk of falling because of decreased recognition of color, straight lines, and blurry vision. Other eye deficits prevalent in older adults besides peripheral vision, contrast sensitivity, and visual acuity include decreased night vision (adaptation to dark). Furthermore, drugs such as anti-arrhythmic (amiodarone), anticholinergics, anti-epileptics, corticosteroids, cardiac glycosides, and erectile dysfunction medications can also affect visual perception, and thus further increase the risk of falls.

The severity of an older adult's visual impairment affects their ability to conduct activities of daily living. For example, the percentage of adults reporting difficulty conducting activity of daily living increased with minor, moderate, and severe deficits respectively: 18%, 25%, and 43% (Hochberg et al., 2012). Visual impairments are also associated with fear of falling that may further decrease participation in activities of daily living (Tobis et al., 1985).

The vestibular system provides proprioceptive feedback about the position of the body and assists with maintenance of balance (Purves et al., 2001). Older adults with vestibular dysfunction symptoms such as dizziness are 12 times more likely to fall (Agrawak et al., 2009). An important component of the vestibular system is in the inner ear for its ability to sense the direction and motion of the head and body. Additionally, the vestibular system is important for postural reflexes and eye movements. Vestibular dysfunctions decrease an older adult's spatial orientation and eye movement at rest. As part of normal aging, older adults experience reductions in the vestibular organs (Rosenhall & Rubin, 1975). Additionally, osteoporosis, saccular degeneration, medications, alcohol use and traumatic brain injuries are among other factors that may

negatively affect the vestibular function in older adults (Overstall et al., 1981; Tinetti & Speechley, 1989).

The somatosensory system, a system of sensory cells that provide perception of touch, pressure, pain, temperature, position, movement, and vibration, which arise from the muscles, joints, skin, and fascia, discriminates between position and movements of body parts. Somatosensory system provides feedback regarding balance and stability during position changes such as walking on uneven surfaces. Peripheral neuropathies because of diabetes or vitamin B12 deficiency may cause changes to the somatosensory system. For example, one study comparing older adults with somatosensory loss associated diabetic polyneuropathy showed these individuals had 40-50% larger postural sway. These changes can place an individual at risk of falling. Other disturbances to the somatosensory system can result from cervical spondylosis, arthritis, or damage to mechanoreceptors in the apophyseal joints (Wyke, 1979).

Functional limitations associated with balance and gait deficits are among the top two factors, besides the history of falls, used to identify adults who are at high risk of falls. (Guirguis-Blake et al., 2018; American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society, 2011; Ganz et al., 2007). Adults with gait and balance deficits are 1.7 to 2.4 times more likely to fall. Additionally, 20-50% of older adults are likely to have balance and gait deficits (Ganz et al., 2007; Alexander, 1996). Recommended methods of assessing gait and balance deficits included 1) asking adults if they have issues with their balance and mobility, 2) conducting functional assessments such as a Sit-to-Stand or Timed-up-and-go (TUG) or 3) conducting manual muscle testing for strength and range of motion. Typical signs of balance deficits may include slow walking, using a wider stance, shuffling while walking, swaying from side to side, having a stooped posture and using an assisted device to walk.

Older adults are more likely to have increased postural sway during standing, which are deviations from the vertical upright standing (Sheldon, 1963). For example, increased age is associated with increased sway energy ratio and sway area with eyes open. Additionally, when older adults close their eyes while standing, postural sway is amplified to a greater extent than young adults (Horak et al., 1989; Sheldon, 1963). Postural disturbances in the anterior and posterior direction (e.g., push, trip) are often corrected using three fall prevention postural strategies. The first is the ankle strategy which consists of the center of mass moving about the ankle joints and is used as postural correction when the surface is flat, wide and during small disturbances. The second is the hip strategy, which consists of the center of mass repositioning through hip extension or flexion when the surface is smaller, is not slippery, and the disturbance is faster or larger. The final postural correction is the stepping strategy that moves the base of support in the direction of the center of mass and is used during faster and larger disturbances in which the hip and ankle strategy would not suffice. The way an individual chooses to use postural strategies during disturbances depends on prior experience, sensory and neurologic deficits. Moreover, these postural corrections to prevent falling rely on the vestibular, visual, and somatosensory system to provide sensory feedback, and the musculoskeletal system to rapidly contract in a specific order depend on the postural strategy. Impairments to this process resulting from disease or even just natural aging can
negatively affect postural stability and fall risk. For example, older adults with Parkinson's disease activated their leg muscles but failed to elicit a fall prevention postural strategy during a disturbance (Horak et al., 1989). Additionally, older adults with hemiplegia demonstrate correct but delayed muscle activation, resulting in a delayed execution of a fall prevention postural strategy and inability to maintain postural stability (Garland et al., 1997).

In addition to decrease postural stability during standing, A variety of age-related changes in walking gait performance are also closely associated with fall risk among older adults. Community dwelling older adults who have fallen show increased gait unsteadiness compared to non-fallers and younger adults. For example, "fallers" are typically slower and spend more time with both feet in contact with the ground during walking. Although older adults who fell performed worse than older non-fallers, it is interesting to note that adults who had not fallen performed worse than the younger population. In fact, decreased gait performance affects about 20 to 40% of older adults 65 year and over and 40-50% of adults 85 year and over (Hausdorff et al., 1997). These observed declines in postural stability and gait performance are often associated with impaired sensory perception and reduced muscle strength. Musculoskeletal deficits, especially lower extremity weakness increase the risk of falls by impairing an individual's gait and balance. Sarcopenia is the loss of muscle with age, and it is often caused by chronic conditions, medications, sedentary lifestyles, disabilities, or undernourishment. Musculoskeletal deficits are prevalent in healthy older adults as indicated in a study assessing isometric and isokinetic knee muscle torques of three age

groups between 20 to 86 years (Murray et al., 1980). The prevalence of musculoskeletal deficits increases with frailty. About 57% of older adults who reside in nursing homes and 80% of older adults in skilled nursing homes have lower extremity weakness (Robbins et al., 1989; Tinetti & Speechley, 1989). Lower extremity weakness can occur because of medications, decreased physical activity, chronic diseases, or disabilities. The odds ratio for any falls among community dwelling adults with lower extremity weakness is 1.76, while for upper extremity it is 1.53 (J. D. Moreland et al., 2004). Additionally, the odds ratio for recurrent falls in community adults with lower extremity is 3.06, while for upper extremity it is 1.41.

Functional limitations associated with fall risk are closely linked to increased need for physical assistance. Adults who need assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs) are two times more likely to be at risk for falling. About 20% of community dwelling older adults require assistance with ADLs, and older adults who report difficulty with ADLs have been shown to experience more falls and fall related injuries. For example, when compared to non-fallers, older adults who fell once and sustained an injury were 1.78 more likely to report difficulty with ADLs. Moreover, older adults with more than two falls were 2.36 times more likely to report difficulty with ADLs compared to non-fallers, while adults with more than two falls and one injury were 3.75 times more likely to report difficulty with ADLs. Finally, among older adults (71+ years), a single fall without injury decreased their ADL and as the number of falls and injuries increased, ADLs decreases (Tinetti & Williams, 1998)

### Lifestyle behaviors

Lifestyle behaviors such as cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity are fall risk factors that have been identified as modifiable fall risk factors. Cigarette smoking is a risk factor due to its association with other risk factors such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, cognitive impairment, and muscle loss (Marques et al., 2020; Okusaga et al., 2013). Moreover, Marques et al. (2010) found men who smoked had lower quadricep cross-sectional area and muscle activation while female smokers had lower quadricep cross-sectional area, lower muscle activation and peak torque.

Adults who consume 14 or more alcoholic drinks in a week are 25% more likely to fall compared to nondrinkers. Older adults who drink alcohol may be at risk of falling due to alcohol related cognitive impairments, and lower extremity weakness and balance losses (Makamal et al., 2004). About 18-39% of older adults take alcohol interactive medications such as psychoactive medications that further impair central nervous system function and are at greater risk of falling. Risk factors for increased drinking include being a male, having higher income, being married, smoking, increased mobility, having chronic conditions, polypharmacy, and poor psychological wellbeing such as depression. Risk factors for the combined use of alcohol and interactive medications include, living in a rural community or small town, polypharmacy, poor social network and having a higher education and income (Holton et al., 2017).

Older adults with high and low levels of physical activity are at risk of falling. For example, in a prospective cohort study of 5,995 community dwelling older men, higher levels of physical activity (assessed by the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly

[PASE]) were associated with falls (Chan et al., 2006). Additionally, about 66% of the total PASE score was related to household chores such as home repairs and gardening. This has perplexed researchers as physical activity in the form of exercise is highly recommended in the prevention of falls. Tinetti et al. (1995) also found community dwelling adults 72 year and older who participate in increased levels of physical activity are at higher risk of injurious falls and described the trend as "complex". In a study of healthy (no neurological, cognitive, or other factors that may affect balance and mobility) female community dwelling adults aged 70 year and older, 49% of participants fell during the 12-month study (Hill et al., 1999). These female older adults had higher physical activity scores (indicated through the Normative Impairment Index [NII]) and reported higher levels of physical activity outside their home. Interestingly, 47% of these falls occurred outdoors, while only 26% fell indoors. Moreover, 9% of falls resulted in fractures, 26% had minor injuries such as bruises, and 10% reported strains. Therefore, researchers speculated these healthy female adults were falling because of their willingness to conduct higher risk activities such as climbing ladders and therefore being exposed to a higher risk of falls. The researchers also speculated injuries might be related to increased momentum during impact due to higher velocity during physical activity such as walking. This study was one of the first to suggest healthy older adults should not be neglected during fall risk assessments because of their increased risk of falling and higher chance of injurious falls. Similarly, another study (case-study) focusing on risk profiles for outdoor and indoor falls, found outdoor falls were strongly associated with

higher levels of physical activity even after adjusting for demographics such as age, gender, education, race, and ethnicity (W. Li et al., 2006).

Adults with low physical activity levels are also at an increased risk for falls. Older adults with low physical activity are likely to have chronic diseases (Watson et al., 2016), muscle weakness, higher body fat, and need assistance with activities of daily living (ADL) (Langhammer et al., 2018). In 2014, the Center for Disease Control (CDC) found 26.9% of adults aged 65-74 years and 35.3% of adults over the age of 75 years were physically inactive (Watson et al., 2016). Continuing physical activity in life has been shown to sustain independence in older people, restore functional capacity, improve overall health and immunity, reduce sleep disturbance, reduce depression and incidence of chronic conditions (cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, breast and prostate cancer, dementia, and Alzheimer's) and prevent cognitive decline (Cunningham et al., 2020; Langhammer et al., 2018; Shephard, 1997). The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services recommends adult aged 65 year and older do at least 150 minutes of moderateintensity aerobic activity (30 minutes a day for five days) during the week or 75 minutes of vigorous activity with at least 2 days of muscle-strengthening activities (including all major muscle groups such as legs, hips, abdomen, chest, shoulder, and arms) (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, also recommends that older adults do exercises, a form of physical activity that is planned and has an objective (Langhammer et al., 2018), to improve balance if individuals are at risk of falling.

### Extrinsic risk factors

Extrinsic risk factors (environmental risk factors) are defined as risk factors outside the body such as home and outdoor hazards and shoe wear. These risk factors are modifiable and are reported in about 30-50% of falls (Rubenstein, 2006). Common environmental fall hazards include staircases without railing, clutter on floor, rugs that are not secure to the ground such as throw rugs, poor lighting, absence, presence of grab bars in showers or near toilets, items at hard-to-reach areas, toilet, beds too high or too low, and pets near an individual (Pynoos et al., 2012). Additionally, indoor environmental hazards have commonly been found in the living room, at the entrance to the house, bedroom, stairs, bathrooms, and hallways (Pynoos et al., 2012; W. Li et al., 2006). Common areas where falls occur outside include sidewalks, streets, curbs, gardens, porches, outdoor stairs, parking garages and parks (W. Li et al., 2006).

Environmental hazards are determined to cause falls if a specific hazard is identified, if an individual slipped or tripped over an item, or if the fall occurred during a change of level such as stairs. Hazards affect individuals in relationship to their behavior, specifically with physical activity levels. Interestingly, both physically active and frail older adults are at risk of falling due to environmental hazards, but the type and location of environmental hazards differ. For example, falls among physically active older adults are more likely to result from outdoor environmental hazards and it has been speculated their increased physical activity levels increases their rate of exposure to these environmental hazards (Kelsey et al., 2010). Physically active adults fall indoors too and their risk of falling indoors increases with the presence of hazards (Northridge et al., 1995). On the other hand, frail older adults fall two times more than physically active adults but their falls typically involve a greater interaction of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors. (Tinetti & Speechley, 1989). Moreover, frail older adults are more likely to fall indoors, and they are more likely to be of older female gender. Frail older adults are also more likely to take psychoactive medications, have lower levels of cognition and have poorer health; all factors that further exacerbate fall risk.

About 53% of older adults fall indoors, while 47% fall outdoors (Kelsey et al., 2010). Most older adults will age in their owned or rented homes (Wellman, 2010). In 2018, the percentage of older adults living in nursing was 1% for adults aged 65-74 years, 2% for adults aged 75-84 years and 7% for adults aged 85 years and over (Administration for Community Living, 2020). Therefore, identifying hazards at home is crucial to enhancing the safety of our older adults aging in place and reducing the risk of falls. When assisting older adults identify home hazards it is important to note differences may be found geographically and culturally (Romli et al., 2018).

Another modifiable environmental fall risk factor is footwear (Hatton & Rome, 2019). Footwear affects postural balance by varying foot and ankle somatosensory feedback in around the ankle and foot as well as frictional conditions at the bottom of the foot (Menant et al., 2008). Choosing the appropriate footwear can prevent balance problems that may arise from wearing heels, slippers, and sandals or high heels. A study on community dwelling older adults found adults who were barefoot, or wearing just socks, or slippers were 2.5 times more likely to suffer a serious injury after falling (Kelsey et al., 2010). Additionally, the prevalence of being barefoot, wearing socks or

slippers was 51.9% in those who fell. In a New Zealand study, 37% of institutionalized adults reported wearing slippers indoors (Kerse et al., 2004). Moreover, heel height of 2.5 cm or greater was positively associated with fall risk (Tencer et al., 2004). Similarly, greater footwear sole contact area has been found to decrease risk of falling. Multifactorial interventions that have included changes in footwear saw 36% fewer falls (Spink et al., 2011). Choosing appropriate footwear can be useful for patients who have diseases that may affect proprioception such as neuropathy found in diabetic patients and arthritis.

## Fall Prevention

There are various preventative guidelines and tools available to screen "at risk" fall populations, assess, and prevent falls in older adults. Prevention of falls begins with health care provider awareness of fall risk factors and prevention strategies. Fortunately for health care providers, the American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society (AGS/BGS) as well as the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) have created fall prevention guidelines which include screening for "at risk" fall populations. The AGS/BGS recommend screening for previous falls and asking older adults if they have difficulty with their gait and balance (American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society, 2011). The frequency of the falls and circumstance should be annotated as well as if the member presented to the emergency services after a fall. An adult who reports recurrent falls (two or more falls) or has difficulty during balance and mobility assessments should have a multifactorial risk assessment. Similarly, the USPSTF recommends screening all adults 65 years and over for falls and functional limitations (Guirguis-Blake et al., 2018). Despite best practices available, just over one third of providers ask about fall history (Smith et al., 2015; Tinetti & Speechley, 1989). In one survey of Massachusetts providers, only 52% of providers felt they had the expertise to conduct fall risk assessments (Howland et al., 2018).

Stopping Elderly Accidents, Deaths, and Injuries (STEADI) is fall prevention toolkit created by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Injury Center to assist health care providers with fall prevention (Stevens & Phelan, 2013). Using AGS/BGS suggestions, the STEADI tool consists of three elements which are (1) screening patients for fall risk, (2) assessing modifiable risk factors and (3) intervening by using effective clinical and community guidelines. Screening tools consist of either a three-question tool about balance and gait, fear of falling, and fall history or a 12-question tool. The 12question tool consists of checking whether (1) an individual has fallen in the past year, (2) an individual has been advised to use a cane or walker to get around safely, (3) an individual feels unsteady when they are walking, (4) an individual needs to hold on to furniture to steady themselves, (5) an individual is worried about falling, (6) an individual needs assistance standing up from sitting, (7) has difficulty stepping onto a curb, (8) has to rush to the toilet, (9) has lost feeling in their feet, (10) takes medicine that sometimes makes them feel light-headed or more tired than usual (11) takes medicine to help them sleep or improve their mood, (12) feels sad or depressed. After screening, providers are advised to recommend "not at risk" older adults education, vitamin D if deficient, community exercise or fall prevention programs, and fall screenings yearly or anytime an

individual has fallen. Providers who find "at risk" individuals are advised to further evaluate for other risk factors. STEADI recommends assessing older adult's gait, strength, and balance using either the "Timed up and Go", "4-Stage", 30-Second Chair Stand, or "Balance Test", identifying any FRIDS, inquiring about potential home hazards, checking standing and lying orthostatic pressure, visual acuity, feet/footwear, vitamin D intake and chronic conditions. Fall prevention for "at risk individuals" consist of referring older adults to physical therapy or community exercise or fall prevention programs for gait, strength, and balance, adjusting medications, referring to an occupational therapist for home safety evaluation, management of orthostatic hypotension, managing visual impairments through medication adjustment, education on lenses, or referral to ophthalmologist or optometrist, referring to podiatrist for feet issues or education on proper footwear, vitamin D recommendation if deficient, or addressing chronic health conditions. Interestingly, a survey conducted with Massachusetts providers found only 14% of providers were aware of the STEADI toolkit, demonstrating a need to educate providers on fall prevention (Howland et al., 2018).

Unfortunately, the problem with screening fall history is that only about half of older adults report their falls. Often, falls are caused by multifactorial reasons which can include a combination of modifiable risk factors such as behaviors, and intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors. Inquiring about other risk factors such as behaviors can give a better understanding of "at-risk" individuals. For example, physical activity behavior should be assessed as individuals who have high physical activity levels are at risk of injurious falls and are often overlooked (Chan et al., 2006; W. Li et al., 2006; Hill et al.,

1999; Tinetti et al., 1995). Moreover, a systematic review and meta-analysis of screening tools found no single measure could accurately predict community-dwelling fallers because falls are generally multifactorial. Researchers suggest using a comprehensive assessment of both intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors. For example, Lusardi et al., (2017) was able to better identify at risk individuals by using combination of performance-based measures (Single Leg Stance [SLS] with eyes open, Self-Selected Walking Speed [SWSS], Berg Balance Scale [BBS] combined with Timed Up and Go [TUG] or Five Times Sit-to-Stand Test [5TSTS]) medical history questions (history of falls, ADL difficulty, use of ambulatory device, concern about falling, and use of psychoactive medications) and self-report measures (Falls Efficacy Scale International [FES-I] and Geriatric Depression Scale-15 [GDS-15]) (Lusardi et al., 2017).

Older adults can also benefit from hazard reduction in their homes. There is an abundance of home hazard checklists, but many are not standardized. Home Hazard assessments are often used as part of a multifactorial interventions or as a single intervention. Studies have found home hazard assessments and modifications reduce falls among older adults (Romli et al., 2018). A systematic review of home hazard assessments for community dwelling older adults identified Home Falls and Accidents Screening Tool (HOME FAST), Westmead Home Safety Assessment (WeHSA), Home Safety Assessment Tool (HSSAT), In-Home Occupational Performance Evaluation (I-Hope) as having good psychometric properties. The HOME FAST, WeHSA and HSSAT focused on person-environment interaction, while I-Hope focused on an on an individual's functional activities at home. The HOME FAST was the most accessible, shortest in duration (20 minutes), required minimal training and was designed for at risk older adults. The WeHSA was recommended for use as an occupational therapist while the HSSAT was recommended for adults who wish to conduct their own assessment at home (Romli et al., 2018). Multifactorial interventions for frail and recurrent fallers that involved occupational therapy or physical therapy and home hazard assessment had a 31% to 36% reduction in falls. (Davison et al., 2005; Nikolaus & Bach, 2003).

Older adults can also benefit from exercise interventions regardless of if they have balance, strength, and mobility issues. A systematic and metanalysis review of exercise interventions found the overall number of falls among healthy older adults aged 65 years and older were significantly reduced by 32% and the total number of individuals falling was also reduced by 22% (Hamed et al., 2018). Additionally, a study of frail older female adults, demonstrated a 25% reduction in fall risk through exercise intervention (Hauer et al., 2001). Studies have also shown that exercise interventions alone can reduce falls and injurious falls (Guirguis-Blake et al., 2018). Evidence based fall prevention programs such as A Matter of Balance (AMOB), Otago Exercise Program, Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL), Tai Chi: Moving for Better Balance all incorporate exercise and may reduce falls by increasing strength, flexibility, reaction time and balance (Carter et al., 2001). AMOB is a program that has widely been disseminated, but providers often are not aware of these community programs. For example, in Massachusetts, only 15% of providers surveyed were aware of AMOB (Howland et al., 2018). Another study found, despite Tai Chi's documented fall prevention evidence, less than 15% of providers discussed Tai Chi as a prevention (Howland et al., 2018).

### Fall prevention coalitions

Fall Prevention Coalitions are groups involving multiple sectors of the community that come together to address community needs regarding falls and solve community problems (Beattie & Schneider, 2015; Wolff, 2001). These fall prevention coalitions can help bridge the gap in areas where access to care is limited. Additionally, they can create a common platform in which organizations address falls, raise public awareness of fall risk across all stakeholders, identify gaps in fall prevention resource usage and allocate resources to appropriate locations. The National Council of Aging developed guidelines for state coalition building (Beattie & Schneider, 2015). These guidelines are broken down into three major steps: formation stage, maintenance stage, and institutionalization Stage. The formation stage involves four steps. These include reviewing the *Falls Free*®: 2015 National Fall Prevention Action Plan (a national plan for addressing falls), identifying key partners, making a case for fall prevention, and creating a planning group. The maintenance stage involves developing the coalition group's mission, goals, and objectives, as well as launching the fall prevention coalition. The final stage called the institutionalization stage involves sustaining the coalition, networking and evaluating the coalition and it's progress.

Additionally, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention developed guidelines for implementing effective community-based fall prevention programs (2015). Besides understanding fall risk factors, building partnerships or coalitions to address falls, the CDC emphasized understanding community needs to identify suitable resources such as evidenced based fall prevention programs (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2015). Thus, a key to understanding fall risk and the most appropriate fall prevention interventions for a community is to 1) identify fall risk, 2) identify the prevalence of behavioral, intrinsic, and extrinsic fall risk factors, and 3) the access to fall prevention programming....as these all relate to geographic area.

## Geographic information systems (GIS)

Geographic information systems (GIS) have recently gained momentum as a means of identifying fall prevention programming needs. GIS is a powerful tool that can be used to gather, analyze, and manage data. It can be used to analyze spatial location and organize layers of information into visualizations using maps, to reveal deeper insights into data, such as patterns and relationships. For example, Yiannakoulias et al. (2003), used GIS to describe emergency department reported fall patterns of community adults aged 66 years and older in Canada. Their GIS data revealed that the inner city of Edmonton had a high incidence of calls, followed by rural and small communities, while suburban areas demonstrated lower incidence rates. The results of this study were the first to show the potential usage of GIS in fall prevention. In 2011, Carlson et al. used GIS to identify possible fall prevention sites that were within 10 minutes' drive of high densities of older adults in Pierce County, Washington. This site suitability analysis resulted in an 80% increase in adults attending fall prevention programs (Carlson et al., 2011).

In Texas, GIS was used to map emergency fall-related services and locations of AMOB fall prevention programs. The spatial analysis showed high emergency fall services in zip codes where fall preventions where located (Smith et al., 2017). There were several suggestions from this study. First, they suggested mapping fall injuries and other factors for a better understanding of the environment. Second, they suggested mapping other fall prevention programs including community fall prevention stakeholders to enhance the research process and ensure the needs of the community are met.

## Fall Risk and prevention in rural communities

In rural areas, access to health care can create a barrier in identifying older adults at risk for falls and screening for risk factors. A recent survey disseminated to rural communities revealed access to health services such as emergency services, insurance and primary care were a top concern (Bolin et al., 2015). Lack of health care resources such a primary care providers, physical therapists, occupational therapists, and home care nurses can make it difficult to focus on fall prevention and coordinate care due to insufficient time and expertise for falls (Tinetti et al., 2006). Moreover, injury costs are higher in rural areas (Coben et al., 2009). These higher costs may result from a combination of outsourcing providers and medical attention needed because of injury. Additionally, older adults who live in rural areas may be geographically isolated and this may prevent them from accessing local fall prevention resources as well.

To make matters worse, health behaviors associated with falls are highly prevalent in rural areas. It has been consistently noted that culturally sensitive approaches are needed in modifying health behaviors because health-related behaviors are embedded within an individual's community. Moreover, addressing health issues in rural health such as falls, requires different methods of detecting risk factors because cultures differ across geographic locations. (Hartley, 2004).

#### Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.

Humboldt and Del Norte are two of California's most northwest rural counties. These two counties contain a higher percentage of older adults 65 years and older (17.9%) compared to California (14.3%). They are also home to 11 Native American tribes. Like other rural areas, these counties have health care challenges such as provider shortage in primary care and behavioral health, and high death rates from accidents, alcohol, and drugs (California Health Care Foundation, 2020).

These counties also have very limited medical services in the most rural areas. Screening older adults for fall risk may be challenging due to the geographic isolation of each county's population. However, to prevent falls, screening and identification of atrisk populations should be conducted. In 2010, the Redwood Coast Region (Del Norte, Humboldt, Mendocino, and Trinity Counties) reported increased falls in the past 12 months and higher percentage of falls compared to California (Jones, 2010). This report addressed the need to use all community members including city and county planning departments like Public Health, local organizations like Area 1 Agency on Aging, local physical and occupational therapists, any health care providers and friends and neighbors to prevent falls. This urged local fall prevention efforts and in 2019 led to the creation of the North Coast Fall Prevention Coalition (a coalition of 19 local agencies) and the eventual purpose of this study.

# Statement of Research Purpose

The purpose of this study was 1) to administer the *North Coast Fall Prevention* (*NCFP*) *Survey* to assess fall risk factors and fall prevention needs of adults 60 years and older living in Humboldt and Del Norte counties, and 2) to analyze spatial location and organize layers of the *NCFP* survey to reveal deeper insights into the data.

## METHODS

# Participants and Area of Study

Participants included 615 Humboldt County residents across 35 zip codes, and 147 Del Norte residents across four zip codes aged 60 years and over. Humboldt County is 3,567.99 square miles and has about 37.7 people per square mile. The total population of Humboldt County in 2020 was 136,465 and the total older adult population was 34,079 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020b) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Humboldt County percentage of older adults aged 60 years and over by zip code. 2020 older adult and total population data were obtained from U.S. Census Bureau.

Del Norte County is 1,006.37 square miles and has about 28.4 people per square mile. The total population of Del Norte County in 2020 was 27,745 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020a) and the total older adult population was 6,907 (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Del Norte County percentage of older adults aged 60 years and over by zip code. 2020 older adult and total population data were obtained from U.S. Census Bureau.

To achieve a sample of adults aged 60 years and over in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties with a confidence level of 95% and level of precision of .05, we used the Formula for Calculating a Sample for Proportions (N = population size and e = level of precision) (Table C1):

$$n = \frac{N}{1 + N(e^2)}$$

However, due to the small population size of each zip code we then adjusted for population for Humboldt (Table C2) and Del Norte (Table C3). The Finite Population Correction for Proportions adjusts for a small population (n = sample size, and N = population size) (Singh & Masuku, 2014):

$$n = n_0 / [1 + \frac{(n_0 - 1)}{N}]$$

Survey data was used only if participants resided in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties and were over the age of 60. All community dwelling and institutional residing residents were invited to join. Prior to data collection, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved this research (IRB 21-084). This study was granted an "exempt" status as the NCFP survey was anonymous and the information collected was recorded in a manner that the identity of the participants cannot readily be ascertained directly or through identifiers. The primary investigator did not contact the subjects, nor did they try to re-identify the subjects. The participants were provided with basic information regarding the risks and benefits of the study before completing the survey.

### **Experimental Design**

After IRB approved the study, the NCFP survey was advertised to local agencies using public service announcements and fliers. The flier (Appendix A) contained a QR code to access the online version of the survey and a phone number to receive a paper version of the survey. Participants were able to access the survey in two ways: a paper copy of the survey or online via ArcGIS Survey123. The paper copy of the survey contained: a cover letter, "anonymous exempt" informed consent, 57 questions, and a paid return envelope (Appendix B). All paper surveys received were entered manually into ArcGIS Survey 123. We anticipated collecting data for three months, beginning March 2022 to May 2022, however due to a low response from certain zip codes we extended the data collection for another four months. This resulted in data collection stopping in September 2022.

In September 2022, data was downloaded from ArcGIS Survey123 coded and organized using excel. The data was separated by Humboldt and Del Norte County, by zip codes and rural and urban designations. Humboldt has 35 zip codes and Del Norte 4 zip codes. If a zip code had a population less than 2,500 it was given a rural designation. If a zip code had more than 2,500 it was given an urban designation (U. S. Census, 2010). Descriptive analysis was conducted using SPSS. The data was further analyzed in SPSS by fallers and non-fallers. Result data table topics included, demographics, fall risk, fall history and circumstance. It also included intrinsic, behavioral, and extrinsic risk factors. Last, it included fall prevention and barriers.

To visually create maps, data was also organized for compatibility with ArcGIS Pro. TIGER/LINE shapefiles from the U.S. Census Bureau were downloaded of 2020 Counties, and Zip codes. County and State shapefiles were also downloaded from IPUMS National Historical Geographic Information System (NHGIS), and Natural Earth respectively. The following maps were produced for Humboldt and Del Norte Counties: percentage of sample size achieved for each zip code, older adult fallers, fall injuries, fall risk (screened using the Stay Independent 12-question tool), fall incidence rate, and preferred fall prevention class. Except for the fall prevention classes, all maps contained graduated colors to visualize data.

#### Measurements

## North Coast Fall Prevention (NCFP) Survey

The survey included questions on demographics, history of falls in the last 12 months, fall circumstance of a recent fall in the last 12 months, past medical history like chronic conditions, pain, and medication intake, fear of falling, physical, muscle strengthening, balance and flexibility activity. It also included environmental risk factors such as indoor and outdoor hazards, type of footwear worn, and fall prevention awareness, needs and barriers (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b; Guirguis-Blake et al., 2018; American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society, 2011; Rubenstein et al., 2011).

To improve response rates, the NCFP survey contained a cover letter with a social utility appeal and was less than 2 pages (2-sided) (Houston & Nevin, 1977; Yammarino et al., 1991).

## Statistical Analysis

The NCFP survey data underwent descriptive and GIS analysis. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (SPSS Inc., 2019). Data was reported as mean, standard error of deviation, and percentages. ArcGIS Pro software was used to join (Esri, 2022) geographic features and data. Data was normalized using total survey respondents or sample size per zip code. The incidence rate of falls was calculated per 100 older adults.

### Assumptions

- All participants were 60 years and older and resided in Humboldt or Del Norte Counties.
- 2. Participants answered the survey questions truthfully.
- The sample of participants were proportionally representative of Humboldt County and Del Norte County.

## Limitations

Some limitations that may exist include recall bias. Since the survey asked participants to recall past medical history, participant information may not be accurate. Additionally, not all fall risk factors were assessed in this survey due to concern that excessive survey length would severely reduce response rates. Non-response bias may also be present and there is a chance participants may have refused to complete the survey because they were too busy or did not think the survey was relevant. Selfselection bias, where individuals choose to participate in the study because they are interested in the topic may have occurred as well. Unfortunately, this survey was only available in English limiting certain groups from participating. Last, this study is only representative of Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.

## Delimitations

This study was limited to adults 60 years and over in Humboldt County and Del Norte County. Thus, sample population is only representative of Humboldt and Del Norte counties and cannot be generalized to other counties in California. Since rural populations are small, the sampling was not randomized. Participants who have cognitive deficits may not have been included.

### RESULTS

Advertising, Distribution and Data Collection of Del Norte and Humboldt Counties

## Advertising

Prior to distribution the NCFP Survey was initially advertised at the end of January 2022 with a flier and public service announcements (Table C4). In Del Norte County, survey fliers were provided to 13 organizations to distribute to the seniors they serve. The fliers were also posted on three community boards (Table C5). In addition, four Del Norte County organizations (two newspapers and two radio stations) also assisted with public service announcements. In Humboldt County, the survey fliers were provided to 29 organizations for distribution. Public service announcements were provided to four organizations (three radio stations and one newspaper). Additionally, fliers were posted on 18 community boards.

## **Distribution**

The NCFP Survey was distributed to participants electronically and physically. Specifically, an internet link to the online survey was included in all fliers and a phone number to request a paper copy of the survey. In the public service announcements, a phone number was listed to gather more information regarding the survey. The paper version of the NCFP Survey was distributed to participants using several methods including using mailing list of partner organizations, physical distribution by partner organizations to their clients, direct mailing in response to individual request and using U.S. postal Every Door Direct Mail® (EDDM®) service. Starting in March 2022, we began to distribute paper copies of the NCFP survey using our community partner organizations. In Del Norte County we provided paper 261 copies of the NCFP to one organization (Table C6). In Humboldt County, we provided 83 paper copies of the NCFP survey to three organizations. We provided a total of 2,386 paper copies to three organizations serving Humboldt and Del Norte older adults. Moreover, in May 2022, US postal EDDM® service was used to identify mailing routes in both Humboldt and Del Norte Counties with an older adult population density of 60% or greater. This information was used to distribute 3,250 surveys via direct mail to targeted zip codes with limited response rates using prior methods.

### Data collection

Data was collected between March 2022 to September 2022. The total number of paper surveys distributed in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties was 5,980. Seven hundred seventy-four surveys were returned on paper, and 28 surveys were completed online. Of these surveys, 762 participants were eligible for this study (age range of 60-98 years old), and 40 were excluded because they did not meet the age or location criteria. For Humboldt County we received the sample size needed to sufficiently represent the county population overall. However, in Del Norte County we only received 38.9% of its sample size.

Last, none of the 35 zip codes of Humboldt or the four zip codes of Del Norte received the sample size needed to represent its zip code population (Table C7 and Table C8). Del Norte County's zip code of 95531 received 27.1% of its sample size (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Percent of usable surveys received out of the calculated sample size of Del Norte County zip codes.

It was the highest sample size received per zip code in Del Norte County. Three areas in

Humboldt County had the highest sample response (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Percent of usable surveys received out of the calculated sample size of Humboldt County zip codes.

The first area, 95503 (Eureka), 95501 (Eureka), 95521 (Arcata) is where high urban clusters exist in the bay. The second area 95555 (Orick) is located at the northwest

portion of Humboldt, and the third area 95514 (Blocksburg) is in the outer southeast edge of Humboldt County. We received no data for eight out of the 35 zip codes in Humboldt County. We had a total of 27 Humboldt County zip codes with data. All four zip codes in Del Norte County received surveys.

Del Norte County's NCFP Survey Descriptive Data

### Demographics: Intrinsic personal characteristics

Del Norte County had a total of 147 eligible surveys. Of those 147 surveys, 52 were from rural zip code communities (defined as less than 2,500 residents), and 95 were from urban zip code communities (defined as greater than 2,500 residents). Del Norte participants were 73.4 years (SD = 7.6), 61.9% female, and 96.7% non-Hispanic (Table C10). Regarding race, 76.1% self-identified as Caucasian, and 14.2% as American Indian. Rural Del Norte had an 8.1% higher prevalence of American Indian respondents than urban Del Norte. In addition, Del Norte County older adults reported some college as their highest level of education. In rural Del Norte, participants reported some college and an associate degree as their highest level of education.

Del Norte County residents were 46.3% married (Table C12), and 28.1% reported a yearly income for a household of two below the 2023 United States Federal Poverty Level (Department of Health and Human Services, 2023). Rural older adults reported earning over \$80,000, 12.4% more than urban older adults. Moreover, Del Norte, older adults, were community-dwelling and lived in a house (74.8%) or mobile home (15.6%). Interestingly 14% of Del Norte participants were Veterans (n = 21), but only four were VA service connected.

## <u>Fall risk</u>

This study used three screening tools to assess fall risk, including the Three Key Questions, MAHC-10, and Stay Independent: a 12-question tool. The composite scores for each of the three screening tools showed, on average, that 69% of Del Norte County seniors are at risk of falling (Table C14). However, the Stay Independent screening tool showed rural Del Norte participants were less at risk (48.1%) of falling than their urban counterparts (56.8%). Yet, rural Del Norte's average Stay Independent fall risk was a 4 (SD = 2.6). A score of 4 or more on Stay Independent indicates a risk of falling.

## Fall history and circumstance of recent fall in the last 12 months

Del Norte County participants fell an average of 1.2 times in the last year (SD = 2.6). Of the 60 fallers, 86.7% reported an injury from one or more falls. Rural older adult fallers who reported an injury (Table C16) had a 13.1% greater prevalence of fall injuries than urban older adults. The top two reported injuries of a recent fall in the last year across Del Norte were bruises (number one reported injury) and cuts or abrasions (number two reported injury). Moreover, rural fallers had a 11.6% greater prevalence of cuts or abrasions than urban fallers. Other commonly reported injuries by Del Norte participants were sprain/ligaments (9.7%), broken bones and fractures (7.5%), other (6.5%), and traumatic brain injuries (4.3%). Del Norte respondents mostly did not seek assistance for their most recent fall, but those that did reported visiting the Emergency Room.

Del Norte's older adults' most recent fall happened outdoors (20.4%) and around their yards (13.3%) (Table C18). They fell forward (34.3%), and sideways (34.3%) and in the afternoon (43.4%). Their fall occurred because they tripped (24.2%) or lost their balance (19.2%) (Table C20) while walking on level (14.0%) or uneven ground (13.2%) (Table C22). Rural older adults reported they primarily fell sideways (36.4%) while urban older adults frequently reported falling forward (40.0%). Rural older adults reported than urban fallers, and urban fallers reported losing their balance 7.6% more than rural fallers. Rural fallers frequently reported they were walking on level ground (17.6%), going down the stairs (11.8%), and walking on uneven ground (11.8%) when they fell. On the contrary, urban fallers frequently reported walking on uneven ground (13.8%), walking on level ground (12.5%), and standing (12.5%) when they fell.

## Intrinsic medical risk factors

Del Norte County respondents had an average BMI of 28.2 (SD = 7.0) (Table C24) and reported a FOF (78.5%). Urban fallers had a 23.6% higher prevalence of FOF than urban non-fallers. More than half of Del Norte participants said they were restricting their activities because of FOF. Rural fallers had an 18.7% higher prevalence of activity restriction than rural non-fallers, and urban fallers had a 39.8% higher prevalence of activity restriction than non-fallers. Del Norte, older adults, indicated they never needed help with personal care (89.7%) or handling chores or errands (67.4%). However, rural fallers reported "Never" needing assistance with personal care 20.5% less than rural non-fallers.

Similarly, urban fallers reported "Never" needing assistance with personal care 9.8% less than urban non-fallers and "Never" needing help with handling chores or errands 16.2% less than urban non-fallers.

In Del Norte, 79.6% of participants reported having one or more chronic health conditions. Rural and urban fallers had a higher prevalence (15.7% and 10.4%, respectively) of one or more chronic conditions than rural and urban non-fallers. Del Norte's older adults also frequently reported having arthritis or osteoarthritis (17.5%) followed by hypertension (12.9%) (Table C26) and commonly taking arthritis (17.1%) and hypertension medication (15.7%) (Table C28). Moreover, 88.1% of Del Norte respondents were prescribed drugs by their providers and, on average, prescribed 4.6 (*SD* = 3.9) medicines. In addition, urban fallers reported a higher average of prescribed medicines than urban non-fallers, and urban respondents reported taking more medications than rural Del Norte County (Table C30).

Throughout Del Norte County, 70.1% of older adults reported pain in the last 12 months that lasted three or more months (Table C32). They commonly reported pain located in their back (21.1%), hip (15.2%), and knee (14.9%). However, their pain location differed across urban and rural older adults. Rural non-fallers frequently reported back, hip, knee, and shoulders (55.6%, 50.0%, 27.8%, 27.8%, respectively), while rural fallers commonly indicated their pain location was on their hip, back, knee, and shoulders (57.1%, 57.1%, 42.9% and 35.7% respectively). Urban non-fallers indicated pain in their back, hip, knee, and shoulders (61.5%, 46.2%, 46.2%, and 35.9%, respectively), and urban fallers indicated pain in their back, knee, and shoulders (72.4%, 55.2%, 37.9%).

Due to the pain, 60% of Del Norte participants reported mobility restrictions. Urban fallers had a 17.8% higher prevalence of pain restriction than rural fallers. In addition, rural and urban Del Norte fallers had a higher majority of pain restriction (23.8% and 13.5%, respectively) than rural and urban non-fallers. Relatedly, urban adults had a 22.4% higher prevalence of consuming pain medication than rural older adults, and rural and urban fallers reported taking 13.5% and 21.6% more (respectively) than rural and urban non-fallers.

More than half of Del Norte respondents indicated they had functional limitations, and fallers specified more functional limitations than non-fallers (Table C34). Urban and rural fallers had a higher prevalence of walking (21.9% and 24.4% respectively) and balance (21.0% and 24.4% respectively) instability than non-fallers. Moreover, Del Norte rural fallers showed a 26.1% higher prevalence of needing assistance to get up from a chair than rural non-fallers and had a 7.7% higher occurrence than urban fallers. Although fallers in both rural and urban designations displayed higher percentages of needing devices and general assistance with mobility, Del Norte older adults expressed they were able to walk up and down stairs without assistance and did not need mobility assistance. Moreover, rural residents indicated they were more able to perform these activities than the rest of the participants, even though they showed they had more functional limitations than the rest of Del Norte County.

#### Behavioral risk factors.

More than half of Del Norte participants (69.4%) engaged in physical activity (Table C36), but less than half of them performed muscle-strengthening movements

(46.2%). Moreover, rural fallers showed a 24.3% higher prevalence of physical inactivity than rural non-fallers and had the highest percentage of inactivity (47.6%) compared to the rest of Del Norte. Additionally, rural, and urban fallers demonstrated a higher pervasiveness of muscle-strengthening inaction than non-fallers (31.4% and 14.1% respectively). Rural fallers had the highest percentage of muscle inactivity (71.4%) than the rest of Del Norte. In addition, 58.3% of Del Norte respondents did not participate in a balance, flexibility, or local class. Rural fallers and non-fallers reported the highest percentage of non-attendance (66.7%) than their urban counterparts.

#### Extrinsic risk factors

Del Norte's frequent home hazards (Table C38) included throw rugs (15.9%), front entrance edge (13.5%), pets around feet (12.9%), bathtub or shower without grab bars (12.7%), and bathtub or shower edge (12.2%). Rural non-fallers commonly reported pets (59.1%) and throw rugs (54.5%) while rural fallers frequently showed they had front entrance edges (75.0%) and throw rugs (65.2%). Urban non-fallers and fallers often showed throw rugs were their number one home hazard identified followed by front entrance edges. For outdoor home hazards (Table C40), rural non-fallers reported pets near their feet (40.0%), slippery walkways or steps (35.0%), and uneven surfaces (35.0%). Outdoor hazards frequently chosen by rural fallers were poor or no lighting (36.4%), pets near feet (27.3%), items on walkways (27.3%), and slippery walkways or steps (27.3%). Additionally, urban non-fallers chose pets near their feet (47.6%) and uneven surfaces (33.3%), while urban fallers picked uneven surfaces (35.7%) and pets near their feet (32.1%) frequently. Different types of footwear such as slippers, walking barefoot, and wearing socks without shoes can increase the risk of falling. For rural non-fallers, slippers (Table C42) were the second most frequently reported footwear along with thick soles shoes. They also displayed a 25.7% higher prevalence of slipper usage than rural fallers. Rural fallers reported 23.8% wore socks without shoes along with other types of footwear. Urban non-fallers and fallers' third most reported footwear were slippers (41.5% and 28.2% respectively).

### Fall prevention

Although less than half of Del Norte respondents' medication have not been reviewed for fall risk, 100% of all older adults reported they were aware of the medication prescribed to them (Table C44). A high percentage of Del Norte older adults indicated they have never had their home inspected for falls (88.9%), but only 47.2% were "maybe", "likely", or "very willing" to pay for home modifications to reduce injury.

Across Del Norte, 86.4% of older adults perceived there was a "low", "moderate", or "high" chance they would fall in the next 12 months. Rural older adults had a 6.1% higher prevalence of perceiving they would fall compared to urban fallers, yet they indicated 56.1% that they did not want to receive fall prevention (Table C46). On the contrary, 66.3% of urban participants indicated willingness to receive fall prevention. Across Del Norte, the top methods requested for receiving information were through the internet (27.7.%) and a private conversation with a doctor (23.9%).

Older adults were asked what fall prevention classes interested them if offered for free and rural older adults frequently chose Tai Chi (25.2%), while Urban adults chose
SAIL (21.4%). Finally, although Del Norte respondents commonly reported no barriers to receiving or accessing care, rural and urban older adults agreed their distance or geographic location to health care was an issue (Table C48).

Del Norte County's visual analysis of the NCFP Survey by zip codes

Two of the four Del Norte zip codes (Gasquet, CA, 95543 and Crescent City, CA, 95531) received Stay Independent screening scores higher than four (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Older adults at risk of falling in Del Norte County by zip code. At risk scores were calculated using the Stay Independent, a 12-question screening tool.

In Del Norte County, Gasquet, CA, 95543 had the highest percentage of fallers per zip code (55.6%). It was the only zip code out of Del Norte County with more than 50% of respondents with fallers (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Older adult fallers in Del Norte County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing fallers per zip code by respondents per zip code.

Yet, three zip codes had a high percentage of fallers who reported fall injuries

(Gasquet CA, 95543, Smith River, CA, 95567 and Crescent City CA, 95531). Gasquet

CA, 95543 had 100% of their fallers report an injury (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Older adults fall injuries in Del Norte County by zip code. Percent of fall injuries calculated by dividing fall injuries per zip code by fallers by zip code.

Two zip codes had an incidence rate higher than 100 cases of falls per 100 older adults

(Figure 8).



Figure 8. Del Norte County fall incidence rate per 100 older adults by zip code. Zip code 95531 had an incidence rate of 122.2 cases of falls per 100 older adults. Zip code 95543 had an incidence rate of 130.5 cases of falls per 100 older adults. Crescent City, CA, 95531 covers the northwest coast of Del Norte County and ends approximately 5 miles from Del Norte's eastern border to Siskiyou County. Gasquet CA, 95543 is north of 95531 and covers rural northeast Del Norte County.

In Del Norte County, three zip codes (Klamath CA, 95548, Gasquet, CA 95543, and Crescent City, CA 95531) showed more than 86.3% of respondents did not have a fall risk assessment in the last 12 months. In Gasquet, CA, 95543, 100% of its respondents reported no fall risk assessment within the last 12 months (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Older adults with no fall risk assessment in the last 12 months in Del Norte County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing total respondents who reported no fall risk assessment per zip code by total respondents by zip code.

Furthermore, participants primary choice of fall prevention class resulted in three

different options. Tai Chi was requested by Zip codes 95567 and 95548, SAIL was

requested by urban zip code 95531, and a combination of Tai Chi and Sail was requested

by 95543 (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Older adults' primary choice of fall prevention class in Del Norte County by zip code. Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL) was the top choice for Crescent City, CA 95531. Tai Chi was the top choice for Smith River, CA 95567 and Klamath, CA 95548. Last, Gasquet, CA 95543 choice was Tai Chi and SAIL.

Humboldt County's NCFP Survey Descriptive Data

# Demographics: Intrinsic personal characteristics

Humboldt County had a total of 615 eligible surveys (Table C9). Of those

surveyed, 130 were from rural zip-code communities, and 485 were from urban zip-code

communities. Humboldt County participants were, on average, 74 years old (SD = 7.5),

non-Hispanic (98.1%), Caucasian (91.5%), American Indian (3.6%), and highly educated

(60.6%). Urban Humboldt County older adults had a 10.1% higher prevalence of bachelor's, graduate, or professional degrees than rural respondents.

Additionally, Humboldt County respondents were community-dwelling older adults (Table C11) who primarily lived in a house (90.8%) and were married (42.2%) or widowed (22.4%). Rural residents reported a 9.0% higher prevalence of yearly income below the federal income level than urban residents. Urban residents often (23.6%) disclosed (23.6%) an annual income greater than \$80,000 annually. About 10.0% of Humboldt County residents were Veterans, but only 12 indicated they were VA service connected.

## Fall risk

The composite scores for each of the three screening tools showed, on average, that 67.4% of Humboldt County seniors are at risk of falling (Table C13). Moreover, urban residents had a higher risk of falling for each screening tool than rural residents. For example, the MAHC-10 and Stay Independent fall risk assessment tools showed rural residents were 10.0% and 8.2% (respectively) less at risk than urban residents.

# Fall history and circumstance of recent fall in the last 12 months

Humboldt County participants fell an average of 1.4 times (SD = 6.0) in the last year (Table C15). Of the 295 fallers who reported a fall (48.0%), 292 answered the question on whether they were injured by one or more falls in the past year and 69.5% responded yes. Rural residents fell 7.4% more than urban fallers, but urban fallers were injured 5.0% more than rural respondents. The top two reported injuries of a recent fall in the last year across Humboldt County were bruises (number one reported injury) and cuts or abrasions (number two reported injury). Humboldt County rural fallers stated they received physical therapy for their injuries while urban fallers visited their doctor. Overall, 61.9% of Humboldt County respondents did not utilize medical services after their fall.

Humboldt County's most recent fall in the last 12 months happened outdoors (26.3%) because of tripping (26.3%) or losing their balance (21.8%) (Table C17 and 19). Rural older adults frequently reporting falling outside 11.8% more than urban fallers. Additionally, rural fallers reported falling most during the afternoon (62.5%) and sideways (39.5%) whereas urban fallers reported falling most in the afternoon (54.8%) and forward (37.6%). Prior to the fall, rural fallers frequently said they were walking on uneven ground (21.9%), walking on level ground (12.4%) or rushing and hurrying (12.4%) (Table C21).

#### Intrinsic medical risk factors

Humboldt County respondents had an average BMI of 27.0 (SD = 7.6) (Table C23) and reported a FOF (74.4%). Urban fallers had a 13.9% higher prevalence of FOF than rural non-fallers and rural fallers had a 16.9% higher prevalence of FOF than rural non-fallers. More than half of Humboldt County participants said they were restricting their activities because of FOF. Rural fallers had a 13.1% higher prevalence of activity restriction than rural non-fallers, and urban fallers had a 17.3% higher prevalence of activity restriction than non-fallers. Humboldt older adults indicated they never needed help with personal care (90.5%) or handling chores or errands (69.8%). However, rural fallers reported never needing assistance with personal care 12.8% less than rural non-

fallers and never needing help handling chores 22.7% less than rural non-fallers. Similarly, urban fallers reported never needing assistance with personal care 11.0% less than urban non-fallers and never needing help with handling chores or errands 13.8% less than urban non-fallers.

In Humboldt, 78.1% of participants reported having one or more chronic health conditions. Rural fallers had an 8.1% higher prevalence of one or more chronic conditions than rural non-fallers. Of the 19 chronic conditions listed, respondents frequently reported having arthritis or osteoarthritis (17.0%) followed by hypertension (12.9%) (Table C25) and commonly took hypertension (15.9%) and arthritis medication (15.7%) (Table C27). Moreover, 84.3% of Humboldt respondents were prescribed drugs by their providers and, on average, prescribed 4.0 (SD = 2.8) medicines. In addition, urban fallers reported a higher average of prescribed medicines than the rest of Humboldt County (Table C29). In general, fallers reported taking more sleep and mood enhancing medications than urban fallers.

Throughout Humboldt County, 66.0% of older adults reported pain in the last 12 months that lasted three or more months (Table C31). They commonly reported pain in their back (18.7%), hip (14.9%), and knee (14.9%). However, their pain location differed across urban and rural older adults. Rural non-fallers frequently reported knee (51.7%) and back (48.3%), while rural fallers commonly indicated their pain location was on their hip, back, and knee, (45.8%, 43.8%, and 43.8% respectively). Urban non-fallers indicated pain in their back (48.8%), and hip (39.6%) and urban fallers indicated pain in their back (51.6%), and knee (39.6%). Due to the pain, 57.8% of Humboldt participants reported

mobility restrictions. Urban fallers had a 7.2% higher prevalence of pain restriction than urban non-fallers and rural fallers had a 21.9% higher prevalence of restriction than nonfallers. Urban fallers were 9.7% more likely to report taking pain medication compared to urban non-fallers. On the contrary, rural non-fallers reported a 20.3% higher prevalence of pain medication intake than rural fallers.

Humboldt County fallers displayed higher levels of functional limitations than non-fallers across urban and rural locations (Table C33). Urban and rural fallers had a higher prevalence of walking instability (18.2% and 26.0% respectively), balance unsteadiness (15.9% and 20.8% respectively) and needing assistance getting up from a chair (21.2% and 15.1%). Despite the balance, mobility and strength instability, Humboldt County participants stated they were always able to bend, stoop, or kneel (65%), and walk up and down the stairs without assistance (83.9%). Also, more than half of Humboldt County respondents (69.4%) indicated they did not need assistive devices or any other forms of assistance for mobility.

#### Behavioral risk factors

In Humboldt County, 77.8% of older adults were physically active (Table C35). Urban non-fallers were 11.6% more likely to be physically active than urban fallers. In general, Humboldt County respondents participated in muscle strengthening activity (62.6%) and were active in balance, flexibility, or a local exercise class (63.4%). Urban non-fallers were 11.2% more likely than urban fallers to report muscle strengthening activity and 9.5% less likely to say they did not participate in a balance, flexibility, or local class.

### Extrinsic risk factors

The most reported indoor hazards (Table C37) in Humboldt County were throw rugs (15.3%), front entrance edges (15.3%), and bathtub or shower without grab bars (13.2%). Similarly, rural non-fallers frequently listed bathtub or shower area without grab bars (58.8%) and front entrance edges (52.9%). Rural fallers listed bathtub or shower area (65.1%) without grab bars, front entrance edges (54.0%) and throw rugs (54.0%). Urban non-fallers frequently reported throw rugs (57.8%) and front entrance edges (56.5%) while urban fallers reported throw rugs (55.6%), front entrance edges (55.6%) and bathtub or shower edges without grab bars (44.9%).

The outdoor home hazards across rural and urban areas varied (Table C39). For example, rural non-fallers commonly stated uneven surfaces (54.5%) and no stair railing (36.4%) were present at their homes while rural fallers reported uneven surfaces (60.7%), slippery walkways or steps (41.0%) and pets near their feet (41.0%). Urban non-fallers and fallers frequently documented uneven surfaces (36.4% and 50.0% respectively) and pets near feet (27.8% and 35.2%) as outdoor hazards.

The two most reported footwear (Table C41) by Humboldt County were shoes with thin soles less than one inch (29.0%) and shoes with thick soles greater than one inch (25.1%). Urban and rural non-fallers were more likely to report walking barefoot and wearing socks without shoes, while urban and rural fallers reported more frequently wearing slippers than non-fallers.

### Fall prevention

Although 63.7% of Humboldt County respondents' medication have not been reviewed by their doctor or pharmacists for fall risk, 98.2% of all older adults reported they were aware of the medication prescribed to them (Table C43). Moreover, 85.7% of Humboldt County older adults indicated they have never had their home inspected for falls. Urban respondents indicated they are 13.5% more willing than rural participants to pay for modifications to reduce injury.

Across Humboldt County, 89.0% of older adults perceived a likelihood of falling in the next 12 months, yet only 16.4% of respondents have been assessed by their provider for their risk of falling. Fortunately, 64.2% of participants were willing to receive fall prevention (Table C45). Urban participants were 10.0% more willing for fall prevention than rural older adults. Both rural and urban older adults agreed their preferred method of receiving information was through the internet (28.1%) and private conversation with a provider (21.9%).

Older adults were asked what fall prevention classes interested them if offered for free and rural and urban frequently chose Tai Chi. Rural respondents indicated their distance or geographic location of resources (37.8%) was a barrier to receiving or accessing care (Table C47). On the other hand, urban respondents stated there were no barriers (33.4%) and indicated "other" as the second most common barrier (11.0%). Humboldt County's visual analysis of the NCFP survey by zip codes

Out of the 18 zip codes with mappable data, The Stay Independent fall risk screening tool revealed nine zip codes with older adults at risk of falling (95589, 95501,

95519, 95540, 95521, 95503, 95569, 95555, and 95554). Zip code 95554 (Myers Flat,

CA) is in the southeast rural area of Humboldt County and scored 5.4 (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Older adults at risk of falling in Humboldt County. At risk scores were calculated using the Stay Independent, a 12-question screening tool.

The second and third highest fall risk scores were in rural Orick CA, 95555 (4.8) northwest of Humboldt County, and Red Crest, CA, 95569 (4.7) southeast beneath 95554 of Humboldt. If zip codes had fewer than two respondents, no data was visualized.

There were 9 zip codes where 50% or more of the respondents were fallers. Three zip codes had over 60% of their respondents who reported a fall: Redcrest, CA, 95569, Myers Flat, CA, 95554 and Blocksburg, CA 95514. These three zip codes are towards the southeast side of Humboldt County and share a border (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Older adult fallers in Humboldt County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing fallers per zip code by respondents per zip code.

Moreover, 14 zip codes had 50% of their fallers report fall injuries (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Older adults fall injuries in Humboldt County by zip code. Percent of fall injuries calculated by dividing fall injuries per zip code by fallers by zip code.

There were 11 zip codes with 60% of fallers who reported an injury (95540, 95589, 95514, 95551, 95519, 95503, 95542, 95521, 95554, 95501, 95555). Orick CA, 95555, located in Humboldt County's most northwest location had the highest percentage of fallers who reported a fall (85.7%). Two zip codes had incidence rates higher than 361 (95525 and 95542). Zip code 95525 (Blue Lake, CA) had an incidence rate of 769.2 cases of falls per 100 older adults and 95542 (Garberville, CA) had an incidence rate of 588.5 cases of falls per 100 older adults. Zip code 95525 is approximately 20 miles from the center of Humboldt County, and 95542 is at the southeastern bottom of Humboldt County (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Del Norte County fall incidence rate per 100 older adults by zip code.

More than 60% of older adults reported no fall risk assessment in the last 12 months in the following 17 zip codes: 95569, 95551, 95536, 95555, 95540, 95570, 95519, 95503, 95501, 95521, 95525, 95542, 95589, 95514, 95524, 95554, 95573. Unfortunately, seven of these zip codes had more than 90% of older adults report no fall risk assessment in the last 12 months. These zip codes are Blue Lake, CA 95525, Garberville, CA 95542, Whitethorn, CA 95589, Blocksburg, CA 95514, Bayside, CA 95524, Myers Flat, CA 95554, and Willow Creek, CA 95573. Four of these zip codes are in the southern region of Humboldt (95589, 95542, 95514, and 95554), one (95524) is located nearer the western urban parts of Humboldt County about 5 miles above the center of Humboldt County, and two (95525, 95573) are located east of 95524 (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Older adults with no fall risk assessment in the last 12 months in Humboldt County by zip code. Percent calculated by dividing total respondents who reported no fall risk assessment per zip code by total respondents by zip code.

Finally, a closer look at older adults' primary choice of fall prevention class

revealed a variety of different choices (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Older adults' primary choice of fall prevention class in Humboldt County by zip code. Carlotta, CA 95528 top choice was a mix of three classes: A Matter of Balance (AMOB), Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL), and Other. Redway, CA 95560 top choice was a hiking class. SAIL was the top choice for Eureka, CA 95503, McKinleyville, CA 95519, and Trinidad, CA 95570. Blocksburg, CA 95514 top choice was Sail and a hiking class. Nine zip codes chose Tai Chi: Eureka CA, 95501, Arcata CA, 95521, Blue Lake, CA 95525, Fortuna, CA 95540, Garberville, CA 95542, Loleta, CA 95551, Orick, CA 95555, Rio Dell, CA 95562, and Willow Creek, CA 95573.

Whitethorn, CA 95589 chose Tai Chi and SAIL. Ferndale, CA 95536 chose Tai Chi, SAIL, and a hiking class. Scotia, CA 95565 chose Tai Chi, SAIL, and a walking class. Last, Bayside, CA 95524 chose a walking class.

However, Tai Chi, the commonly requested fall prevention class, was displayed on nine

zip codes: 95501, 95521, 95525, 95540, 95542, 95551, 95555, 95562, and 95573. Three

other zip codes (95589, 95536, and 95565) showed Tai Chi as a tie with other fall

prevention classes.

#### DISCUSSION

The first goal of this study was to distribute the NCFP Survey to adults aged 60 years and over residing in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties, conduct a descriptive analysis, and identify fall risk and fall prevention needs. The distribution process of the NCFP Survey 2022 resulted in an understanding that Humboldt and Del Norte participants preferred responding to surveys via paper. Also, distributing the survey through agencies that serve these populations resulted in a higher survey response percentage. Finally, the descriptive analysis revealed various fall risk factors and prevention needs across Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.

The second goal of this study was to visually analyze layers of this data across Humboldt and Del Norte zip codes to reveal fall risks and prevention needs based on geographic location. This visualization describing fall risk differed across zip codes, resulting in different fall prevention needs. In addition, this study provides a first detailed examination and visualization of rural California residents' fall risk factors and needs.

## **Distribution Process**

Despite having two methods to complete the survey, paper-based or web-based, Humboldt and Del Norte Counties participants chose to primarily respond via paper. In a 2010 Netherlands study examining two ways of acquiring data (paper and online), 45% of adults aged 60-70 years responded through paper compared to 71% of adults aged 70-80 years and 82% for adults 80 years and greater (Horevoorts et al., 2015). In our study, Humboldt County's average participant age was 74, and Del Norte was 73.4 years. We did not analyze disaggregate age groups and response rates, but Humboldt and Del Norte's online eligible responses (3.9% and 2.7%, respectively) are of the younger age group. As our population ages and is more familiar with the internet, future survey studies should continue to provide an online version, as there may be an improvement in online response rates. Furthermore, the online distribution of surveys is inexpensive compared to administrating paper surveys.

Of the eight local agencies that received paper copy surveys to distribute across Humboldt and Del Norte Counties, A1AA had the highest percentage of respondents (24%). A1AA encourages healthy aging by connecting older adults with resources. This agency may have received the highest response because they work almost exclusively with older adults. In comparison, the local university Cal Poly Humboldt only received 5.6% of their paper surveys despite sending out 47% more paper copies of the survey than A1AA. A1AA may have received a higher percentage of surveys than Cal Poly Humboldt because A1AA sent out surveys directly to older adults, whereas Cal Poly Humboldt simply distributed surveys to USPS routes with a high density of older adults (> than 60% adults over 60 years). Additionally, older adults may have been skeptical of Cal Poly Humboldt's research intentions contributing to the low response rate.

Dibartolo and McCrone (2003) identified 11 strategies for overcoming barriers in recruiting rural community-dwelling older adults for research. One of the strategies involves finding and collaborating with community "gatekeepers" such as physicians, religious members, and trusted or trusted agencies. Another involves advertising through different modes, such as newspapers, community bulletin boards, and local agencies. Although we identified 36 various local agencies and 21 community boards to advertise through, the majority of the agencies and community boards were from Humboldt County. Moreover, many of these agencies and community boards were centered around larger urban population clusters, resulting in less access to rural-dwelling older adults.

Additionally, even though certain gatekeepers of communities, such as local tribes, were made aware of the study, the interest was low, possibly due to a weak relationship between the researchers and these agencies. For example, a member of one agency in Del Norte County after seeing the survey, suggested that elders would probably not fill out the survey because they would view it as too invasive. We have yet to receive any surveys from this agency.

Despite reaching out to over 27 local agencies that work with older adults, only 13 agencies responded and participated in survey distribution. Although this lack of participation cannot be associated with any explanation, many agencies suggested that they did not have the capacity or financial resources to support the distribution of the survey. Given the inherent challenges of outreach and distribution in rural communities, new and innovative strategies for survey distribution and improving response rates are warranted. One possible strategy would be to partner with local agencies to acquire grant funding to support survey marketing and distribution. In addition, feedback from local agencies suggests that the North Coast Fall Prevention program should spend more time planning and developing relationships with key agencies to overcome recruitment and gain acceptance within the communities they serve.

## Demographics

In older adults, frailty (defined as having less energy, performance, and strength) places an individual at higher risk of falls because of reduced functional capacities and ability to withstand postural disturbances (Mello et al., 2014). Frailty has been associated with females and older age. Females may be at greater risk of frailty because of menopause, bone loss and reduced physical activity levels. As adults get older, the risk of falls increases due to increased physical activity, sensory impairments, and increased prevalence of chronic conditions (to name a few). In our study, the average age of Humboldt participants was 74 years while Del Norte was 73 years. Additionally, in Humboldt County and Del Norte County, 70.6% and 61.9% (respectively) of the respondents were female. Identifying intrinsic risk factors like demographics identifies target groups for fall prevention.

Although this study was open to all Humboldt and Del Norte Counties adults aged 60 years and over, participants were overwhelmingly "community-dwelling" older adults. Prior research has shown community-dwelling older adults are less frail than institutionalized older adults and thus, the prevalence of risk factors may differ. Del Norte's participants were 96.7% non-Hispanic, 76.1% Caucasian and 14.2% American Indian. Humboldt County's participants were 98.1% non-Hispanic, 91.5% Caucasian and 3.6% American Indian. The 2016 US Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System revealed, non-Hispanic whites, and American Indians reported higher percentage of falls compared to Hispanics, Asians, and non-Hispanic blacks (Bergen et al., 2021). More than 94% of Humboldt and Del Norte Counties' participants had an education of 11 years or greater. In a 3-year prospective study, a higher education level of 11 years or greater was a predictor of falls for community-dwelling older adults aged 65 years or greater. There was no discussion as to why this may have occurred. However, one possible explanation may be that older adults with more education have greater socioeconomic privilege and access to health care where they can report falls. Less than half of Humboldt and Del Norte County residents were married. Bergen et al., (2021) found unmarried couples reported higher fall percentages than married couples. Similarly, a systematic review and meta-analysis of sociodemographic factors found adults 80 years fall risk decreased if they were married. The presence of these risk factors can assist with targeted group fall prevention planning. Further research on these sociodemographic variables and fall risk can reveal elaborate risk profiles.

### Fall History and Circumstance

A history of falls puts an individual at risk of falling again. Our study found 48% of Humboldt County respondents and 41% of Del Norte had fallen in the last year. Other studies have found a 30-61% prevalence of falls. Moreover, the odds of falling for fallers compared to non-fallers has been reported between 2.6-2.8. Fallers include those who have fallen at least once while recurrent fallers are those that have fallen more than once. Recurrent fallers have 3.1-3.5 higher odds of falling compared to non-fallers. This study did not compare fallers and recurrent fallers, but future research should analyze and

compare Humboldt and Del Norte County fallers and recurrent fallers' risk factors as previous literature has shown differences in risk factors for these two groups.

Falls often are a result of multiple intrinsic and extrinsic factors. An understanding of a previous fall circumstance can reveal risk factors and identify future fall prevention strategies. Our study found in Humboldt County a high prevalence of both rural and urban fallers that fell because they tripped or lost their balance while walking on uneven or level ground, and/or because they were rushing or hurrying. Conversely, Del Norte rural fallers reported a higher prevalence of falling due to tripping and being inattentive while walking on level or uneven ground or going down the stairs, whereas Del Norte urban fallers reported tripping or losing their balance while walking on uneven or level ground or standing. In a community-dwelling older adult sample, Berg et al. (1997) also observed that older adults most commonly fell because they tripped, were walking on level or uneven surfaces, and were hurrying. He also noted they fell more during the afternoon. In our study we found Humboldt County and Del Norte County residents primarily fell outdoors in the afternoon and morning. This may demonstrate older adults are more active during twilight and thus are more likely to interact with hazards, especially outside. This data also supports prior research showing that older adults are more susceptible to falling in low light and high shadows situations and they are more heavily dependent on vision for balance.

Of those participants that received medical assistance for a fall in the prior year, 9% of rural Humboldt County fallers reported receiving physical therapy, 8.6% of urban Humboldt County fallers reported visiting the doctor's office, 14.3% of rural Del Norte

84

reported visiting the ER, and 11.5% of urban Del Norte most reported visiting the ER. We found higher percentages of fall injuries (69.5% for Humboldt and 86.7% for Del Norte) compared to Tinetti et al., (1995) who reported 23% of fallers had fall injuries. Across Humboldt and Del Norte Counties, the most reported injury was bruises. Traumatic brain injuries occurred in 3.3% of Humboldt County and 4.3% of Del Norte participants, while broken bones occurred in 9.8% of Humboldt County participants and 7.5% of Del Norte. Tinetti et al. (1988) reported 6% of their community-dwelling older adults had fractures. Falls in older adults are the most common cause of traumatic brain injuries and hip fractures among older adults.

Intrinsic Fall Risk Factors (Medical Characteristics)

In both Humboldt and Del Norte counties, several key intrinsic risk factors were observed. Fear of Falling (FOF) was present in both fallers and non-fallers across Humboldt and Del Norte counties with urban fallers in both counties having higher fear of falling percentages than the rest of the participants. In previous studies, FOF prevalence in community-dwelling older adults has ranged from 21-85% for fallers and 33-46% for non-fallers (Kumar et al., 2014). We observed a higher percentage of FOF in non-fallers than in previous literature, however, our percentages for fallers were within the range of previous studies. FOF causes negative physical and psychological consequences such as activity restrictions and decreased mental health. Additional risk factors typically associated with FOF include functional limitations, a need for walking aids, female gender, low income, lower educational levels, and a history of falls

(Denkinger et al., 2013). "A Matter of Balance" (AMOB) is a fall prevention program focused on curtailing FOF by educating older adults about how to cope with FOF and develop fall resilience by mitigating intrinsic and extrinsic fall risks and increasing physical activity levels. Additionally, by identifying and implementing interventions for other fall risk factors associated with FOF, the risk of falling for those individuals with FOF may potentially decrease.

Across Humboldt and Del Norte Counties, fallers had higher percentages of functional restrictions than non-fallers. In a stratified study of AARP Medicare Supplement insured older adults, fall rates were 3 times and 2.5 times higher for individuals who had severe and moderate mobility limitations than those with no limitations (Musich et al., 2018). Moreover, the study found that pain interference and poor health could predict severe and moderate limitations. In our study, 66% of Humboldt and 70.1% of Del Norte participants reported pain in the last 12 months that lasted three or more months. Additionally, 57.8% of Humboldt and 60% of Del Norte Counties' (n = 100) older adults reported activity restriction from pain (n = 400). Similarly, to our results, Stubbs et al. (2016) found that among community-dwelling older adults aged 60 years and over, 52% reported chronic musculoskeletal pain (defined as pain that lasted three months in the previous year. Furthermore, those that had chronic musculoskeletal pain had more mobility restrictions and reduced health-related quality of life. Given that pain interference has been associated with increased mobility limitations and mobility limitations are associated with higher fall rates, fall prevention efforts should include identifying populations with pain. In this study, we were able to observe

Humboldt and Del Norte fallers had higher levels of activity restriction from pain. This population could benefit from pain management through the form of balance, mobility, and strengthening exercise programs. Addressing pain and mobility restrictions would not only increase mobility and reduce fall risk, but also possibly reduce health care costs and ER visits, improve quality of life, and increase patient compliance.

The two most reported chronic conditions by Humboldt and Del Norte participants were arthritis or osteoarthritis and hypertension. Individuals with arthritis are 2.5 times more likely to report two or more falls or a fall injury (Barbour et al., 2014). Moreover, the NCOA reported 67% of fall prevention program participants reported having multiple chronic conditions and the most reported were arthritis, heart disease and diabetes (NCOA, 2023). Fall prevention in individuals with chronic conditions should involve management of the disease, support from their primary care provider and a fall prevention program focused on individuals with chronic conditions. Often these individuals curtail their physical activity or show physical limitations due to their diseases and thus further exacerbating their fall risk.

## **Extrinsic Fall Risk Factors**

Home hazards are contributors to falls. Lord et al. (2006) states the relationship between home hazards and falls is between the physical capabilities of an older adult and exposure to home hazards. For example, research has shown older adults with high physical activity levels are more likely to interact with environmental hazards. Moreover, older adults who are frail are less likely to interact with these hazards due either to mobility limitations, or the decision to move less for various reasons or both. However, due to their weakness, home hazards can increase their risk of falling. Campani et al. (2021) identified four home environment factors to reduce falls: (1) appropriate flooring that is slip-resistant, (2) adequate lighting for night and easy to turn on, (3) appropriate furniture that is not too low or too high, and (4) adequate layouts consisting of enough room to move around and uncluttered pathways. We asked our participants to identify outdoor and indoor home hazards. The most reported indoor hazards across Humboldt and Del Norte older adults were front entrances, edges, throw rugs, bathtubs or showers without grab bars, and pets. For outdoor hazards, commonly reported hazards were uneven surfaces and pets. Older adults in these counties can benefit from home hazard education and help identifying resources to address home hazards. More than 85% of older adults in Humboldt and Del Norte reported never having a home inspection for their risk of falls and except for urban Humboldt County participants, were less willing or could not afford home modifications. Given that Humboldt and Del Norte participants had moderate or high physical activity levels and described having low functional capabilities especially fallers compared to non-fallers, older adults in these areas would benefit from home environmental education as part of a multifactorial intervention.

Shoe wear has been previously identified as a risk factor for falls among older adults. Improper footwear has been shown to affect postural stability due to its negative effects on the somatosensory feedback system. Athletic or canvas shoes with a heel height of less than 1 inch, a fastening mechanism, slip-resistant sole, and a thin firm midsole have all been recommended for older adults as ways of reducing fall risk

(Menant et al., 2008). In prior research, wearing slippers or heel height greater than 1 inch, walking barefoot, and wearing socks without shoes are all associated with falls and increased fall risk. One study found older adults who wore shoes greater than 1-inch had a nearly two-fold increase in risk of falling compared with individuals who wore athletic or canvas shoes. In our study shoes with thick soles were the second most frequently reported shoe wear. In our study, Del Norte and Humboldt Counties' participants commonly reported being barefoot and socks without shoes 21% and 16.8% respectively. Prior research showed wearing socks or walking barefoot increased the older adults' chance of falling by 11 times compared with adults who wore athletic or canvas shoes. Furthermore, slippers have previously been reported as the most common type of footwear worn during a fall and have been associated with foot fractures. In our study, slippers were the third highest reported shoe wear worn by Humboldt and Del Norte respondents. Interestingly and seemingly counter to the results of prior studies, nonfallers in Del Norte across rural and urban areas described wearing slippers 25.7% and 13.3% (respectively) more than fallers.

Common reasons why older adults tend to wear high fall risk shoe wear such as slippers are due to the flexibility and comfort of the soft material (Hatton & Rome, 2019). Studies have shown that older adults who wore slippers often described having foot pain, had foot deformities, and had higher fall risk scores than those who did not wear slippers. Improper shoe wear is a modifiable risk factor, and if identified, can potentially reduce the risk of falls.

### **Behavioral Risk Factors**

Humboldt County respondents were more likely to indicate higher levels of physical activity, muscle strengthening, balance, and flexibility than Del Norte. Although participation in exercise is protective against falls, research has shown physically active individuals are more likely to engage with environmental hazards and are more likely to have injurious falls (Chan et al., 2007). Thus, physically active individuals should still receive fall prevention education especially regarding behavior and environmental risks.

Humboldt and Del Norte Counties fallers generally displayed higher percentages of no physical and muscle activity than non-fallers. Moreover, Del Norte rural fallers showed a higher percentage of no activity compared to urban fallers. One strategy to mitigate falls in these populations is through regular physical activity and exercise. Regular physical activity can improve functional capacity and improve overall health. In one study with resistive exercise, older adults were able to gain 30-80% of muscle strength within a year. There has also been a 15% improvement in flexibility when older adults have undergone flexibility exercises for more than 10 weeks. Del Norte had a 21.7% higher percentage of no participation in local exercise classes or performing balance and flexibility exercises compared to Humboldt County. Increasing physical activity, muscle strength, and increasing balance and flexibility can result in better coordination, improved balance, faster reactions to postural disturbances, improved oxidative metabolism, better sleep, more social contact, higher mental stimulus, more mobility, and prevention and management of diseases such as hypertension, osteoporosis and diabetes (Shephard, 2017).

## Fall Prevention Awareness and Barriers

The American Geriatrics Society, British Geriatrics Society (AGS/BGS) and Centers for Disease (CDC) recommend providers screen older adults annually for a history of falls. However, less than half of older adults report a fall and of those who report a fall, are more likely to be women and have fallen more than three times (Stevens et al., 2012). In our study only 16.4% of Humboldt and 11.9% of Del Norte residents had been assessed by their provider for their risk of falls in the last 12 months. Moreover, the three different screening questionnaires used in this study indicated more than half of Humboldt and Del Norte participants were at a high risk of falling. Except for rural Del Norte participants, more than half of all Humboldt and Del Norte County respondents are willing to receive fall prevention. The most frequently requested method of receiving information was through the internet or private conversation with a health care provider.

This study revealed a need to educate providers in Humboldt and Del Norte on available fall prevention guidelines and local fall prevention resources. Other studies have reported similar findings. Stevens and Phelan (2013) found only 6% of providers were aware of AGS/BGS guidelines and providers described time as a barrier to addressing falls. Community resources with medical professionals willing to provide oneon-one counseling such as the local university Cal Poly Humboldt, public health, and agencies such as Area 1 Agency and the Humboldt Senior Resource center can assist local fall prevention efforts by targeting locations with high fall risk. Moreover, older adults in these counties would benefit from a website with fall prevention information and education. For those individuals identified as low risk, single modes of exercise such as Tai Chi should be encouraged, however in those identified as having a high fall risk (individuals who have previously fallen), exercises should be part of a multifactorial fall prevention program in which individuals are further assessed for other fall risk factors and provided tailored interventions (Rose, 2008).

In our study, we observed that participants distance and geographic location of medical assistance were important barriers to receiving or accessing help with fall prevention. These barriers were most frequently reported among our rural Humboldt County participants. Financial assistance in the form of grants would greatly assist in bringing targeted fall prevention resources to these rural communities.

## Geographic Analysis

As part of this study, we developed maps that display the incidence of falls, fall risk, and fall prevention needs disaggregated by zip code. By displaying the survey results of zip code, community agencies may be better able to strategically allocate resources to support fall prevention among older adults in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.

Although some of the zip codes contained no data due to lack of respondents, the descriptive analysis of the current data collection can help this study continue and gain further assistance from community partners. The next step of this visual analysis would
be to perform a "site suitability" analysis to identify potential locations to host fall prevention programs. In areas where fall prevention programs exist such as Arcata and Eureka in Humboldt County, these sites should be mapped along with attendance data to determine whether these locations are best utilized in relation to residence with the highest risk for falls.

## Strengths

This was the first attempt to identify fall risk and fall prevention needs across Humboldt and Del Norte fallers and non-fallers, their zip codes, and rural and urban categories. We included a wide range of risk factors in this analysis compared to any other study. This study was able to describe community gaps in fall prevention and identify fall prevention programs for different zip codes in easily viewable maps with minimal layers. Moreover, the data presented in this study can be used to further engage local community agencies, gather financial support, and educate the public regarding fall risk and needs in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.

## Limitations

This is a descriptive analysis of Humboldt and Del Norte County residents, therefore these results are not generalizable to other population across California or United States. In this study, our primary goal was to provide a purely descriptive analysis of fall risk and fall prevention needs across Humboldt and Del Norte Counties. We did not perform any post-hoc statistical analysis relating the various intrinsic, socioeconomic or extrinsic risk factors to fall incidence. However, following this initial descriptive analysis the North Coast Fall Prevention Program will perform a variety of post-hoc analysis where sufficient statistical power exists. Despite meeting the overall sample size required for statistical power in for our Humboldt County data, we did not meet the required sample size for several specific zip codes in Humboldt. Moreover, the overall sample size for Del Norte County was not met, and thus any statistical analysis of these results should be interpreted with caution. Additionally, because this study involved volunteering, there may be self-selection bias. Also, because we asked our participants to recall falls and circumstances in the last 12 months, recall bias may exist.

Another limitation was that the survey was only available in English and thus reduced participation in underrepresented ethnic groups where English is not their primary language. To further strengthen this study, the survey should also be translated to Spanish and Hmong languages as these are ethnic groups with a relatively high population in Humboldt and Del Norte counties. Moreover, to improve participation from our native American tribal elders, the relationships between community agencies and tribes should continue to be nurtured to support trust and collaboration.

## CONCLUSION

Humboldt and Del Norte Counties' respondents shared similar fall risk categories such as age, ethnicity, race, FOF presence, presence of pain in the last 12 months and chronic conditions. They also shared similar fall circumstances related to types of injuries sustained from previous falls in the last 12 months, fall location and time of fall. Fallers in both Humboldt and Del Norte displayed less functional capabilities than non-fallers. Additionally, Del Norte County participants were less likely to participate in physical activity, muscle strengthening activity and balance and flexibility than Humboldt County. Del Norte County was less willing to accept fall prevention education than Humboldt County, but Humboldt and Del Norte County agreed their preferred methods of receiving education were through the internet and with a private conversation with a provider. Moreover, the GIS analysis revealed locations that were more rural and further away often displayed higher needs of fall prevention. Humboldt County and Del Norte agreed geographic location and distance were an issue to receiving care.

This descriptive analysis revealed fall risk and prevention is needed in Humboldt and Del Norte, especially in the most rural areas and where fallers are located. It also revealed non-fallers had risk factors such as footwear and pain that puts them at risk of falling. By displaying fall risk and needs across Humboldt and Del Norte County we were able to visually analyze areas the North Coast Fall Prevention Coalition can strategically target for fall prevention. Moreover, this study sets the precedence for future fall risk analysis and showcases the need to continue collaborating with local agencies for better research results, gather funding to reach more rural populations, and spend more time preparing and collecting information for a much richer understanding and representation of fall risk and needs across Humboldt and Del Norte older adults. Based on what we have learned from this survey study, any future survey of fall risk and fall prevention needs should 1) have sufficient funding for marketing the survey and support subject recruitment, 2) have more direct supported and engagement from a broader group of community partners, and 3) be conducted over a full year period of time with an emphasis on collecting data in those zip codes where no data was obtained.

## REFERENCES

Administration for Community Living. (2020). 2019 Profile of Older Americans. 26.

Agrawak, Y., Carey, J., & Della Santina, C. (2009). Disorders of Balance and Vestibular Function in US Adults: Data From the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001-2004.
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamainternalmedicine/article-abstract/773517

Alexander, N. B. (1996). Gait Disorders in Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 44(4), 434–451.

American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society. (2011). Summary of the Updated American Geriatrics Society/British Geriatrics Society Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention of Falls in Older Persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(1), 148–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03234.x

American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel. (2019). American
Geriatrics Society 2019 Updated AGS Beers Criteria® for Potentially
Inappropriate Medication Use in Older Adults: 2019 AGS BEERS CRITERIA®
UPDATE EXPERT PANEL. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(4),
674–694. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15767

- Arcury, T. A., Gesler, W. M., Preisser, J. S., Sherman, J., Spencer, J., & Perin, J. (2005).
  The Effects of Geography and Spatial Behavior on Health Care Utilization among the Residents of a Rural Region. *Health Services Research*, 40(1), 135–156.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00346.x
- Arias, E., Heron, M., & Xu, J. (2017). United States Life Tables, 2014. National Vital Statistics Reports: From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, 66.
- Barbour, K. E., Stevens, J. A., Helmick, C. G., Luo, Y. H., Murphy, L. B., Hootman, J. M., ... & Sugerman, D. E. (2014). Falls and fall injuries among adults with arthritis—United States, 2012. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 63(17), 379
- Beattie, B. L., & Schneider, E. (2015). A Practical Guide to State Coalition Building for Falls Prevention. National Council on Aging. https://ncoa.org/article/a-practicalguide-to-state-coalition-building-for-falls-prevention
- Berg, R. L., Cassells, J. S., & Cassells, J. S. (1992). Falls in Older Persons: Risk Factors and Prevention. In *The Second Fifty Years: Promoting Health and Preventing Disability*. National Academies Press (US). <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK235613/</u>

- Berg, W. P., Alessio, H. M., Mills, E. M., & Tong, C. (1997). Circumstances and consequences of falls in independent community-dwelling older adults. *Age and ageing*, 26(4), 261-268.
- Bergen, G., Stevens, M. R., Kakara, R., & Burns, E. R. (2021). Understanding
  Modifiable and Unmodifiable Older Adult Fall Risk Factors to Create Effective
  Prevention Strategies. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*,
  1559827619880529. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827619880529
- Bertera, E., & Bertera, R. (2008). Fear of falling and activity avoidance in a national sample of older adults in the United States. *Health & Social Work*, *33*(1), 54–62.
- Bolin, J. N., Bellamy, G. R., Ferdinand, A. O., Vuong, A. M., Kash, B. A., Schulze, A., & Helduser, J. W. (2015). Rural Healthy People 2020: New Decade, Same Challenges. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *31*(3), 326–333.
- Boron, J. B. (2019). *Cognitive Impairment and Fall Risk*. Right at Home. www.rightathome.net/blog/2019/june/cognitive-impairment-and-fall-risk
- Bouweraerts, A. G., & Ortega, J. (2019). FALL RISK BEHAVIORS AND INTRINSIC
   RISK FACTORS FOR FALLS IN INDIGENOUS AND NON-INDIGENOUS
   RURAL OLDER ADULTS. *Innovation in Aging*, *3*(Suppl 1), S471–S472.
   https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igz038.1758

- Boyd, R., & Stevens, J. A. (2009). Falls and fear of falling: Burden, beliefs and behaviours. *Age and Ageing*, 38(4), 423–428. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afp053
- Bridenbaugh, S. A., & Kressig, R. W. (2020). Epidemiology and Falls Risk Factors in Cognitively Impaired Older Adults. In M. Montero-Odasso & R. Camicioli (Eds.), *Falls and Cognition in Older Persons: Fundamentals, Assessment and Therapeutic Options* (pp. 35–48). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-24233-6\_3
- Bu, F., Abell, J., Zaninotto, P., & Fancourt, D. (2020). A longitudinal analysis of loneliness, social isolation and falls amongst older people in England. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 20064. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77104-z
- Burker, E. J., Wong, H., Sloane, P. D., Mattingly, D., Preisser, J., & Mitchell, C. M. (1995). Predictors of fear of falling in dizzy and nondizzy elderly. *Psychology and Aging*, *10*(1), 104–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.10.1.104
- Çakar, E., Durmuş, O., Dinçer, Ü., Kiralp, M. Z., & Cerit-Soydan, F. (2011). The effect of marital status on health quality and fall risk of elderly people. *Turkish Journal* of Geriatrics, 14(4). http://geriatri.dergisi.org/abstract.php?lang=en&id=610
- California Health Care Foundation. (2020). Humboldt and Del Norte Counties: Community Collaboration in the Face of Health Adversity, 2020. *California Health Care Almanac*, 21.

- Calys, M., Gagnon, K., & Jernigan, S. (2013). A Validation Study of the Missouri Alliance for Home Care Fall Risk Assessment Tool. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 25(2), 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1084822312457942
- Carlson, T., York, S., & Primomo, J. (2011). The utilization of geographic information systems to create a site selection strategy to disseminate an older adult fall prevention program. *The Social Science Journal*, 48(1), 159–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2010.09.002
- Campani, D., Caristia, S., Amariglio, A., Piscone, S., Ferrara, L. I., Barisone, M., ... & IPEST Working Group. (2021). Home and environmental hazards modification for fall prevention among the elderly. *Public Health Nursing (Boston, Mass.)*, 38(3), 493.
- Carter, N. D., Kannus, P., & Khan, K. M. (2001). Exercise in the prevention of falls in older people: A systematic literature review examining the rationale and the evidence. *Sports Medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, *31*(6), 427–438. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131060-00003
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *The Behavioral Risk Factor* Surveillance System (BRFSS) Overview 2018. 11.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). WISQARS Data Visualization. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. https://wisqars-viz.cdc.gov:8006/lcd/home

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). 10 Leading Causes of Nonfatal Emergency Department Visits, United States. Nonfatal Injury Data. https://wisqars.cdc.gov/cgi-bin/broker.exe

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b, August 6). *Facts About Falls*. Older Adult Fall Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/falls/facts.html</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, September 8). *Promoting Health for Older Adults*. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (NCCFPHP).

https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/factsheets/promotinghealth-for-older-adults.htm

- Chan, B. K. S., Marshall, L. M., Winters, K. M., Faulkner, K. A., Schwartz, A. V., & Orwoll, E. S. (2006). Incident Fall Risk and Physical Activity and Physical Performance among Older Men | American Journal of Epidemiology. *Oxford Academic*, 165(6), 696–703.
- Chang, V. C., & Do, M. T. (2015). Risk Factors for Falls Among Seniors: Implications of Gender. American Journal of Epidemiology, 181(7), 521–531. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu268

Charlesworth, C. J., Smit, E., Lee, D. S. H., Alramadhan, F., & Odden, M. C. (2015).
Polypharmacy Among Adults Aged 65 Years and Older in the United States:
1988–2010. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 70(8), 989–995. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glv013

Cheng, M.-H., & Chang, S.-F. (2017). Frailty as a Risk Factor for Falls Among
Community Dwelling People: Evidence From a Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship: An Official Publication of Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing*, 49(5), 529–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12322

- Coben, J. H., Tiesman, H. M., Bossarte, R. M., & Furbee, P. M. (2009). Rural–Urban Differences in Injury Hospitalizations in the U.S., 2004. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 36(1), 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.10.001
- Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2015). Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060. Population Estimates and Projections. Current Population Reports. P25-1143. In US Census Bureau. US Census Bureau. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED578934
- Crimmins, E. M., Hayward, M. D., & Saito, Y. (1996). Differentials in Active Life Expectancy in the Older Population of the United States. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 51B(3), S111–S120. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/51B.3.S111

Cubanski, J., Koma, W., Damico, A., & Neuman, T. (2018, November 19). How Many Seniors Live in Poverty? - Issue Brief. *KFF*. https://www.kff.org/reportsection/how-many-seniors-live-in-poverty-issue-brief/

Cumming, R. G., Miller, J. P., Kelsey, J. L., Davis, P., Arfken, C. L., Birge, S. J., & Peck,
W. A. (1991). Medications and Multiple Falls in Elderly People: The St Louis
OASIS Study. *Age and Ageing*, 20(6), 455–461.
https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/20.6.455

- Cunningham, C., O' Sullivan, R., Caserotti, P., & Tully, M. A. (2020). Consequences of physical inactivity in older adults: A systematic review of reviews and metaanalyses. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 30(5), 816–827. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13616
- Cwikel, J. G., Fried, A. V., Biderman, A., & Galinsky, D. (1998). Validation of a fall-risk screening test, the Elderly Fall Screening Test (EFST), for community-dwelling elderly. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 20(5), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638289809166077

Das Gupta, D., Kelekar, U., & Rice, D. (2020). Associations between living alone, depression, and falls among community-dwelling older adults in the US.
 *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 20, 101273.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101273

- Davison, J., Bond, J., Dawson, P., Steen, I. N., & Kenny, R. A. (2005). Patients with recurrent falls attending Accident & Emergency benefit from multifactorial intervention—A randomised controlled trial. *Age and Ageing*, 34(2), 162–168. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afi053
- Deandrea, S., Lucenteforte, E., Bravi, F., Foschi, R., La Vecchia, C., & Negri, E. (2010).
  Review Article: Risk Factors for Falls in Community-dwelling Older People: "A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis." *Epidemiology*, 21(5), 658–668.
- Denkinger, M. D., Lukas, A., Nikolaus, T., & Hauer, K. (2015). Factors associated with fear of falling and associated activity restriction in community-dwelling older adults: A systematic review. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: Official Journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23(1), 72–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2014.03.002
- Dierking, L., Markides, K., Al Snih, S., & Kristen Peek, M. (2016). Fear of Falling in Older Mexican Americans: A Longitudinal Study of Incidence and Predictive Factors. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 64(12), 2560–2565. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.14496
- Duckham, R. L., Procter-Gray, E., Hannan, M. T., Leveille, S. G., Lipsitz, L. A., & Li, W. (2013). Sex differences in circumstances and consequences of outdoor and indoor falls in older adults in the MOBILIZE Boston cohort study. *BMC Geriatrics*, *13*(1), 133. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-13-133

- Elias, A. M., Ogunwale, A. N., Pepin, M. J., Bailey, J. C., Adams, A. D., Colón-Emeric, C. S., Vognsen, J. D., Schmader, K. E., & Pavon, J. M. (2020). HIGH
  PREVALENCE OF FALL-RELATED MEDICATION USE IN OLDER
  VETERANS AT RISK FOR FALLS. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(2), 438–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16233
- El-Menyar, A., Tilley, E., Al-Thani, H., & Latifi, R. (2019). Females fall more from heights but males survive less among a geriatric population: Insights from an American level 1 trauma center. *BMC Geriatrics*, *19*(1), 238. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-019-1252-6
- Faulkner, K. A., Cauley, J. A., Zmuda, J. M., Landsittel, D. P., Nevitt, M. C., Newman,
  A. B., Studenski, S. A., & Redfern, M. S. (2005). Ethnic Differences in the
  Frequency and Circumstances of Falling in Older Community-Dwelling Women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *53*(10), 1774–1779.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53514.x
- Filiatrault, J., & Desrosiers, J. (2011). Coping strategies used by seniors going through the normal aging process: Does fear of falling matter? *Gerontology*, 57(3), 228– 236. https://doi.org/10.1159/000314529
- Florence, C. S., Bergen, G., Atherly, A., Burns, E., Stevens, J., & Drake, C. (2018). Medical Costs of Fatal and Nonfatal Falls in Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 66(4), 693–698. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15304

- Friedman, S. M., Munoz, B., West, S. K., Rubin, G. S., & Fried, L. P. (2002). Falls and Fear of Falling: Which Comes First? A Longitudinal Prediction Model Suggests Strategies for Primary and Secondary Prevention. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 50(8), 1329–1335. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50352.x
- Gaebler, S. (1993). Predicting which patient will fall again... and again. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *18*(12), 1895–1902. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.1993.18121895.x
- Gale, C. R., Cooper, C., & Avan, A. S. (2016). Prevalence and risk factors for falls in older men and women: The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Age and Ageing*, 45(6), 789–794.
- Ganz, D. A., Bao, Y., Shekelle, P. G., & Rubenstein, L. Z. (2007). Will my patient fall? *JAMA*, 297(1), 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.297.1.77
- Garland, S. J., Stevenson, T. J., & Ivanova, T. (1997). Postural responses to unilateral arm perturbation in young, elderly, and hemiplegic subjects. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 78(10), 1072–1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0003-9993(97)90130-1
- Greenspan, S. L., Myers, E. R., Maitland, L. A., Resnick, N. M., & Hayes, W. C. (1994). Fall Severity and Bone Mineral Density as Risk Factors for Hip Fracture in

Ambulatory Elderly. *JAMA*, 271(2), 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1994.03510260060029

- Guirguis-Blake, J. M., Michael, Y. L., Perdue, L. A., Coppola, E. L., & Beil, T. L.
  (2018). Interventions to Prevent Falls in Older Adults: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. *JAMA*, *319*(16), 1705. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.21962
- Guralnik, J. M., LaCroix, A. Z., Abbott, R. D., Berkman, L. F., Satterfield, S., Evans, D.
  A., & Wallace, R. B. (1993). Maintaining Mobility in Late Life. I. Demographic
  Characteristics and Chronic Conditions. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *137*(8), 845–857. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116746
- Ham, A., Swart, K., Enneman, A., Dijk, S., Oliai Araghi, S., Wijngaarden, J., Zwaluw,
  N., Brouwer-Brolsma, E., Dhonukshe-Rutten, R., Schoor, N., Cammen, T., Lips,
  P., Groot, L., Uitterlinden, A., Witkamp, R., Stricker, B., & Velde, N. (2014).
  Medication-Related Fall Incidents in an Older, Ambulant Population: The BPROOF Study. *Drugs & Aging*, *31*(12), 917–927. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40266014-0225-x
- Hamed, A., Bohm, S., Mersmann, F., & Arampatzis, A. (2018). Follow-up efficacy of physical exercise interventions on fall incidence and fall risk in healthy older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine Open*, 4(1), 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-018-0170-z

- Hammond, T., & Wilson, A. (2013). Polypharmacy and Falls in the Elderly: A Literature Review. *Nursing and Midwifery Studies*, *2*(2), 171–175.
- Hanlin, Lerner, Hargarten, & Farias. (2013). Fall Risk and Prevention Needs Assessment in an Older Adult Latino Population: A Model Community Global Health Partnership. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action*, 7(2), 191–199.
- Hanlon, J. T., Landerman, L. R., Fillenbaum, G. G., & Studenski, S. (2002). Falls in African American and White Community-Dwelling Elderly Residents. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*, 57(7), M473–M478. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/57.7.M473
- Hartikainen, S., Lönnroos, E., & Louhivuori, K. (2007). Medication as a Risk Factor for
  Falls: Critical Systematic Review. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*, 62(10), 1172–1181. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/62.10.1172
- Hartley, D. (2004). Rural Health Disparities, Population Health, and Rural Culture. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(10).
  https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.94.10.1675
- Hatton, A. L., & Rome, K. (2019). Falls, Footwear, and Podiatric Interventions in Older Adults. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*, 35(2), 161–171.

- Hauer, K., Rost, B., Rütschle, K., Opitz, H., Specht, N., Bärtsch, P., Oster, P., & Schlierf, G. (2001). Exercise training for rehabilitation and secondary prevention of falls in geriatric patients with a history of injurious falls. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 49(1), 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49004.x
- Hausdorff, J. M., Edelberg, H. K., Mitchell, S. L., Goldberger, A. L., & Wei, J. Y. (1997). Increased gait unsteadiness in community-dwelling elderly fallers. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 78(3), 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9993(97)90034-4
- Hayes, W. C., Myers, E. R., Morris, J. N., Gerhart, T. N., Yett, H. S., & Lipsitz, L. A. (1993). Impact near the hip dominates fracture risk in elderly nursing home residents who fall. *Calcified Tissue International*, *52*(3), 192–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00298717
- He, W., Sengupta, M., Debarros, K. A., Lilley, H. M., & Forgione, T. S. (2005). 65+ in the United States: 2005.
- Hill, K., Schwarz, J., Flicker, L., & Carroll, S. (1999). Falls among healthy, communitydwelling, older women: A prospective study of frequency, circumstances, consequences and prediction accuracy. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 23(1), 41–48.

- Hochberg, C., Maul, E., Chan, E. S., Landingham, S. V., Ferrucci, L., Friedman, D. S., & Ramulu, P. Y. (2012). Association of Vision Loss in Glaucoma and Age-Related Macular Degeneration with IADL Disability. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, *53*(6), 3201–3206. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.12-9469
- Holton, A. E., Gallagher, P., Fahey, T., & Cousins, G. (2017). Concurrent use of alcohol interactive medications and alcohol in older adults: A systematic review of prevalence and associated adverse outcomes. *BMC Geriatrics*, *17*(1), 148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-017-0532-2
- Homann, B., Plaschg, A., Grundner, M., Haubenhofer, A., Griedl, T., Ivanic, G., Hofer,
  E., Fazekas, F., & Homann, C. N. (2013). The impact of neurological disorders on
  the risk for falls in the community dwelling elderly: A case-controlled study. *BMJ Open*, 3(11), e003367. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003367
- Horak, F. B., Shupert, C. L., & Mirka, A. (1989). Components of postural dyscontrol in the elderly: A review. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 10(6), 727–738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-4580(89)90010-9</u>
- Horevoorts, N. J., Vissers, P. A., Mols, F., Thong, M. S., & van de Poll-Franse, L. V. (2015). Response rates for patient-reported outcomes using web-based versus paper questionnaires: comparison of two invitational methods in older colorectal cancer patients. *Journal of medical Internet research*, *17*(5), e111.

- Houston, M. J., & Nevin, J. R. (1977). *The Effects of Source and Appeal on Mail Survey Response Patterns.* 14(3), 374–378.
- Howland, J., Hackman, H., Taylor, A., O'Hara, K., Liu, J., & Brusch, J. (2018). Older adult fall prevention practices among primary care providers at accountable care organizations: A pilot study. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(10), e0205279. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205279
- Immonen, M., Haapea, M., Similä, H., Enwald, H., Keränen, N., Kangas, M., Jämsä, T., & Korpelainen, R. (2020). Association between chronic diseases and falls among a sample of older people in Finland. *BMC Geriatrics*, 20(1), 225. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01621-9
- Israel, G. D. (1992). Determining Sample Size.
- Jones, M. (2010). It Takes a Village... to Prevent a Fall. 8.
- Jung, D. (2008). Fear of Falling in Older Adults: Comprehensive Review. Asian Nursing Research, 2(4), 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1976-1317(09)60003-7
- Katsoulis, M., Benetou, V., Karapetyan, T., Feskanich, D., Grodstein, F., Pettersson-Kymmer, U., Eriksson, S., Wilsgaard, T., Jørgensen, L., Ahmed, L. A., Schöttker,
  B., Brenner, H., Bellavia, A., Wolk, A., Kubinova, R., Stegeman, B., Bobak, M.,
  Boffetta, P., & Trichopoulou, A. (2017). Excess mortality after hip fracture in

elderly persons from Europe and the USA: The CHANCES project. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 281(3), 300–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12586

- Kellogg International Work Group. (1987). The prevention of falls in later life. A report of the Kellogg International Work Group on the Prevention of Falls by the Elderly. *Danish Medical Bulletin*, 34 Suppl 4, 1–24.
- Kelsey, J. L., Procter-Gray, E., Nguyen, U.-S. D. T., Li, W., Kiel, D. P., & Hannan, M. T. (2010). Footwear and Falls in the Home Among Older Individuals in the MOBILIZE Boston Study. *Footwear Science*, 2(3), 123–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/19424280.2010.491074
- Kerse, N., Butler, M., Robinson, E., & Todd, M. (2004). Wearing slippers, falls and injury in residential care. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 28(2), 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842x.2004.tb00933.x
- Kim, S., & So, W.-Y. (2013). Prevalence and correlates of fear of falling in Korean community-dwelling elderly subjects. *Experimental Gerontology*, 48(11), 1323– 1328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2013.08.015
- Kornzweig, A. L. (1977). Visual Loss in the Elderly. *Hospital Practice*, *12*(7), 51–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21548331.1977.11707163</u>

- Kumar, A., Carpenter, H., Morris, R., Iliffe, S., & Kendrick, D. (2014). Which factors are associated with fear of falling in community-dwelling older people?. *Age and ageing*, *43*(1), 76-84.
- Kwan, M. M.-S., Close, J. C. T., Wong, A. K. W., & Lord, S. R. (2011). Falls Incidence, Risk Factors, and Consequences in Chinese Older People: A Systematic Review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(3), 536–543. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03286.x
- Lach, H. W. (2005). Incidence and Risk Factors for Developing Fear of Falling in Older Adults. *Public Health Nursing*, 22(1), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0737-1209.2005.22107.x
- Langhammer, B., Bergland, A., & Rydwik, E. (2018). The Importance of Physical Activity Exercise among Older People. *BioMed Research International*, 2018, 1– 3. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7856823
- Lavedán, A., Viladrosa, M., Jürschik, P., Botigué, T., Nuín, C., Masot, O., & Lavedán, R.
  (2018). Fear of falling in community-dwelling older adults: A cause of falls, a consequence, or both? *PloS One*, *13*(3), e0194967.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194967
- Li, W., Keegan, T. H. M., Sternfeld, B., Sidney, S., Quesenberry, C. P., & Kelsey, J. L. (2006). Outdoor Falls Among Middle-Aged and Older Adults: A Neglected

Public Health Problem. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96*(7), 1192–1200. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.083055

- Li, Y. H., Song, G. X., Yu, Y., Zhou, D. D., & Zhang, H. W. (2013). Study on age and education level and their relationship with fall-related injuries in Shanghai, China. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences: BES*, 26(2), 79–86. https://doi.org/10.3967/0895-3988.2013.02.001
- Lusardi, M. M., Fritz, S., Middleton, A., Allison, L., Wingood, M., Phillips, E., Criss, M., Verma, S., Osborne, J., & Chui, K. K. (2017). Determining Risk of Falls in Community Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Using Posttest Probability. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy* (2001), 40(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1519/JPT.000000000000099
- Makamal, Mittleman, Longstreth Jr, Newman, Fried, & Siscovick. (2004). Self-reported alcohol consumption and falls in older adults: Cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses of the cardiovascular health study. 52(7), 1174–1179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52318.x.

Maki, B. E., & McIlroy, W. E. (1996). Postural control in the older adult. *Clinics in geriatric medicine*, *12*(4), 635-658.

Marciniak, D., Alexander, N., & Hoffman, G. (2020). *Physical Activity and Falls Among* a National Cohort of Older Veterans. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0733464820915807?journalCode=j aga

- Marcum, Z. A., Perera, S., Thorpe, J. M., Switzer, G. E., Castle, N. G., Strotmeyer, E. S., Simonsick, E. M., Ayonayon, H. N., Phillips, C. L., Rubin, S., Zucker-Levin, A. R., Bauer, D. C., Shorr, R. I., Kang, Y., Gray, S. L., & Hanlon, J. T. (2016).
  Antidepressant Use and Recurrent Falls in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: Findings From the Health ABC Study. *The Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, *50*(7), 525–533. https://doi.org/10.1177/1060028016644466
- Marques, E. A., Elbejjani, M., Frank-Wilson, A. W., Gudnason, V., Sigurdsson, G., Lang, T. F., Jonsson, P. V., Sigurdsson, S., Aspelund, T., Siggeirsdottir, K., Launer, L., Eiriksdottir, G., & Harris, T. B. (2020). Cigarette Smoking Is Associated With Lower Quadriceps Cross-sectional Area and Attenuation in Older Adults. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 22(6), 935–941. https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntz081
- Melzer, I., Benjuya, N., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Postural stability in the elderly: A comparison between fallers and non-fallers. *Age and Ageing*, *33*(6), 602–607. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afh218
- Menant, J. C., Steele, J. R., Menz, H. B., Munro, B. J., & Lord, S. R. (2008). Optimizing footwear for older people at risk of falls. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 45(8), 1167–1181.

- Moreland, B., Kakara, R., & Henry, A. (2020). Trends in Nonfatal Falls and Fall-Related Injuries Among Adults Aged ≥65 Years—United States, 2012–2018. MMWR.
  Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6927a5
- Moreland, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Goldsmith, C. H., & Clase, C. M. (2004). Muscle
  Weakness and Falls in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1121–1129.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52310.x
- Murray, M. P., Gardner, G. M., Mollinger, L. A., & Sepic, S. B. (1980). Strength of isometric and isokinetic contractions: Knee muscles of men aged 20 to 86. *Physical Therapy*, 60(4), 412–419. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/60.4.412</u>
- Musich, S., Wang, S. S., Ruiz, J., Hawkins, K., & Wicker, E. (2018). The impact of mobility limitations on health outcomes among older adults. *Geriatric nursing*, 39(2), 162-169.
- National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2015). Preventing Falls: A Guide to Implementing Effective Community-Based Fall Prevention Programs. *Center for Disease Control and Prevention*.

https://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/community\_preventfalls.ht ml

- Neubauer, D. N. (2012). Chapter 13—Pharmacotherapeutic Approach to Insomnia in Adults. In T. J. Barkoukis, J. K. Matheson, R. Ferber, & K. Doghramji (Eds.), *Therapy in Sleep Medicine* (pp. 172–180). W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-1703-7.10013-1
- Nevitt, M. C., & Cummings, S. R. (1993). Type of Fall and Risk of Hip and Wrist Fractures: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 41(11), 1226–1234. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1993.tb07307.x
- Nicklett, E. J., & Taylor, R. J. (2014). Racial/ethnic predictors of falls among older adults: The Health and Retirement Study. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 26(6), 1060–1075. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264314541698
- Nikolaus, T., & Bach, M. (2003). Preventing falls in community-dwelling frail older people using a home intervention team (HIT): Results from the randomized Falls-HIT trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *51*(3), 300–305. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51102.x
- Northridge, M. E., Nevitt, M. C., Kelsey, J. L., & Link, B. (1995). Home hazards and falls in the elderly: The role of health and functional status. *American Journal of Public Health*, 85(4), 509–515. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.85.4.509

Nykiforuk, C., & Flaman, L. (2011). Geographic Information Systems (GIS) for Health Promotion and Public Health: A Review. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1524839909334624

Okusaga, O., Stewart, M. C. W., Butcher, I., Deary, I., Fowkes, F. G. R., & Price, J. F. (2013). Smoking, hypercholesterolaemia and hypertension as risk factors for cognitive impairment in older adults. *Age and Ageing*, 42(3), 306–311. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afs193

- Paliwal, Y., Slattum, P. W., & Ratliff, S. M. (2017). Chronic Health Conditions as a Risk Factor for Falls among the Community-Dwelling US Older Adults: A Zero-Inflated Regression Modeling Approach. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, e5146378. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5146378
- Peel, N. M., McClure, R. J., & Hendrikz, J. K. (2006). Health-protective behaviours and risk of fall-related hip fractures: A population-based case–control study. *Age and Ageing*, 35(5), 491–497. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afl056
- Popham, L., Tavares, J., & Cohen, M. (2019). *A Profile of Older U.S. Veterans*. National Council on Aging. https://ncoa.org/article/a-profile-of-older-us-veterans
- Pruchno, R. (2012). Not Your Mother's Old Age: Baby Boomers at Age 65. *The Gerontologist*, 52(2), 149–152. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns038

- Pynoos, J., Steinman, B., Nguyen, A. Q. D., & Bressette, M. (2012). Assessing and Adapting the Home Environment to Reduce Falls and Meet the Changing Capacity of Older Adults. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 26(1–3), 137–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2012.673382
- Reed-Jones, R. J., Solis, G. R., Lawson, K. A., Loya, A. M., Cude-Islas, D., & Berger, C.
  S. (2013). Vision and falls: A multidisciplinary review of the contributions of visual impairment to falls among older adults. *Maturitas*, 75(1), 22–28.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.01.019
- Renfro, M., Maring, J., Bainbridge, D., & Blair, M. (2016). Fall risk among older adult high-risk populations: A review of current screening and assessment tools. *Current geriatrics reports*, 5, 160-171.
- Robbins, A. S., Rubenstein, L. Z., Josephson, K. R., Schulman, B. L., Osterweil, D., & Fine, G. (1989). Predictors of Falls Among Elderly People: Results of Two Population-Based Studies. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *149*(7), 1628–1633. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1989.00390070138022
- Romli, M. H., Mackenzie, L., Lovarini, M., Tan, M. P., & Clemson, L. (2018). The Clinimetric Properties of Instruments Measuring Home Hazards for Older People at Risk of Falling: A Systematic Review. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, 41(1), 82–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278716684166</u>

- Rose, D. J. (2008). Preventing falls among older adults: no" one size suits all" intervention strategy. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development*, 45(8).
- Rubenstein, L. Z. (2006). Falls in older people: Epidemiology, risk factors and strategies for prevention. *Age and Ageing*, 35(suppl\_2), ii37–ii41. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afl084
- Rubenstein, L. Z., & Josephson, K. R. (2002). Risk Factors for Falls: A Central Role in Prevention. *Generations: Journal of the American Society on Aging*, 26(4), 15–21.
- Rubenstein, L. Z., & Josephson, K. R. (2006). Falls and Their Prevention in Elderly
  People: What Does the Evidence Show? *Medical Clinics of North America*, 90(5), 807–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2006.05.013
- Rubenstein, L. Z., Vivrette, R., Harker, J. O., Stevens, J. A., & Kramer, B. J. (2011).
  Validating an evidence-based, self-rated fall risk questionnaire (FRQ) for older adults. *Journal of Safety Research*, 42(6), 493–499.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2011.08.006
- Santo, L., Rui, P., & Ashman, J. J. (2020). Physician Office Visits at Which Benzodiazepines Were Prescribed: Findings From 2014–2016 National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey. *National Health Statistics Reports*, 137, 16.

- Sattin, R., Lambert Huber, D. A., Devito, C., Rodriguez, J., Ros, A., Bacchelli, S.,
  Stevens, J. A., & Waxweiler, R. (1990). THE INCIDENCE OF FALL INJURY
  EVENTS AMONG THE ELDERLY IN A DEFINED POPULATION. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *131*(6), 1028–1037.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a115594
- Sekaran, N. K., Choi, H., Hayward, R. A., & Langa, K. M. (2013). Fall-Associated
  Difficulty with Activities of Daily Living in Functionally Independent Individuals
  Aged 65 to 69 in the United States: A Cohort Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(1), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12071
- Sharma, R. (2018). Assessing the Impacts of an Aging Population on Rising Healthcare and Pharmaceutical Expenditures within the United States. 79.
- Shaver, A. L., Clark, C. M., Hejna, M., Feuerstein, S., Wahler, R. G., & Jacobs, D. M. (2020). Trends in fall-related mortality and fall risk increasing drugs among older individuals in the United States,1999–2017. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, n/a(n/a). https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.5201
- Sheldon, J. H. (1963). The Effect of Age on the Control of Sway. *Gerontologia Clinica*, 5(3), 129–138. https://doi.org/10.1159/000244784
- Shephard, R. J. (1997). Aging, physical activity, and health. *Aging, Physical Activity, and Health*. <u>https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19971805726</u>

Shephard, R. J. (2017). Aging, physical activity, and health.

- Singh, A. S., & Masuku, M. B. (2014). Sampling techniques & determination of sample size in applied statistics research: An overview. *International Journal of economics, commerce and management*, 2(11), 1-22.
- Smith, M. L., Stevens, J. A., Ehrenreich, H., Wilson, A. D., Schuster, R. J., Cherry, C. O., & Ory, M. G. (2015). Healthcare Providers' Perceptions and Self-Reported Fall Prevention Practices: Findings from a Large New York Health System. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *3*, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2015.00017
- Smith, M. L., Towne, S. D. J., Motlagh, A. S., Smith, D. R., Boolani, A., Horel, S. A., & Ory, M. G. (2017). Programs and Place: Risk and Asset Mapping for Fall Prevention. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00028
- Stevens, J. A., & Phelan, E. A. (2013). Development of STEADI: A Fall Prevention Resource for Health Care Providers. *Health Promotion Practice*, 14(5), 706–714. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839912463576
- Stevens, J. A., & Sogolow, E. D. (2005). Gender differences for non-fatal unintentional fall related injuries among older adults. *Injury Prevention: Journal of the International Society for Child and Adolescent Injury Prevention*, 11(2), 115–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.2004.005835</u>

- Stevens, J. A., Ballesteros, M. F., Mack, K. A., Rudd, R. A., DeCaro, E., & Adler, G. (2012). Gender differences in seeking care for falls in the aged Medicare population. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 43(1), 59-62.
- Stubbs, B., Schofield, P., & Patchay, S. (2016). Mobility Limitations and Fall-Related Factors Contribute to the Reduced Health-Related Quality of Life in Older Adults With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain. *Pain Practice*, *16*(1), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/papr.12264
- Tencer, A. F., Koepsell, T. D., Wolf, M. E., Frankenfeld, C. L., Buchner, D. M., Kukull, W. A., LaCroix, A. Z., Larson, E. B., & Tautvydas, M. (2004). Biomechanical properties of shoes and risk of falls in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *52*(11), 1840–1846. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52507.x
- Terroso, M., Rosa, N., Torres Marques, A., & Simoes, R. (2014). Physical consequences of falls in the elderly: A literature review from 1995 to 2010. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*, 11(1), 51–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11556-013-</u> 0134-8
- Tinetti, M. E., Speechley, M., & Ginter, S. F. (1988). Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. *New England journal of medicine*, *319*(26), 1701-1707.

- Tinetti, M. E., & Speechley, M. (1989). Prevention of falls among the elderly. *New England journal of medicine*, *320*(16), 1055-1059.
- Tinetti, M. E., Doucette, J., Claus, E., & Marottoli, R. (1995). Risk Factors for Serious
  Injury During Falls by Older Persons in the Community. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 43(11), 1214–1221. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.15325415.1995.tb07396.x
- Tinetti, M. E., Gordon, C., Sogolow, E., Lapin, P., & Bradley, E. H. (2006). Fall-Risk Evaluation and Management: Challenges in Adopting Geriatric Care Practices. *The Gerontologist*, 46(6), 717–725. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/46.6.717
- Tinetti, M. E., & Speechley, M. (1989). Prevention of Falls among the Elderly. New England Journal of Medicine, 320(16), 1055–1059. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198904203201606
- Tinetti, M. E., Speechley, M., & Ginter, S. F. (1988). Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. *New England journal of medicine*, *319*(26), 1701-1707.
- Tinetti, M. E., & Williams, C. S. (1998). The Effect of Falls and Fall Injuries on Functioning in Community-Dwelling Older Persons. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*, 53A(2), M112–M119. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/53A.2.M112

- Tobis, J. S., Reinsch, S., Swanson, J. M., Byrd, M., & Scharf, T. (1985). Visual Perception Dominance of Fallers Among Community-dwelling Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *33*(5), 330–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1985.tb07132.x
- Tovée, M. J. (1996). An Introduction to the Visual System. Cambridge University Press.
- Tromp, A. M., Pluijm, S. M. F., Smit, J. H., Deeg, D. J. H., Bouter, L. M., & Lips, P. (2001). Fall-risk screening test: A prospective study on predictors for falls in community-dwelling elderly. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 54(8), 837–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(01)00349-3
- United Health Foundation. (2021). *Falls*—*Ages* 65+ *in U.S.* / 2021 Senior Report. America's Health Rankings. https://www.americashealthrankings.org/explore/senior/measure/falls\_sr/state/U.S
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). How Does the U.S. Census Bureau Define "Rural?". https://mtgisportal.geo.census.gov/arcgis/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=49cd4bc9c8eb44 4ab51218c1d5001ef6
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2020a). U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Del Norte County, California.
   https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/humboldtcountycalifornia,delnortec ountycalifornia/POP645219

- U.S. Census Bureau. (2020b). U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Humboldt County, California. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/humboldtcountycalifornia/BZA2102
  19
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2018). *Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, 2nd edition.* 118.
- Vespa, J. E. (2020). Those Who Served: America's Veterans From World War II to the War on Terror. 18.
- Walston, J., Hadley, E. C., Ferrucci, L., Guralnik, J. M., Newman, A. B., Studenski, S. A., Ershler, W. B., Harris, T., & Fried, L. P. (2006). Research agenda for frailty in older adults: Toward a better understanding of physiology and etiology: summary from the American Geriatrics Society/National Institute on Aging Research Conference on Frailty in Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *54*(6), 991–1001. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00745.x
- Watson, K. B., Carlson, S. A., Gunn, J. P., Galuska, D. A., O'Connor, A., Greenlund, K.
  J., & Fulton, J. E. (2016). Physical Inactivity Among Adults Aged 50 Years and
  Older—United States, 2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*,
  65(36), 954–958. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6536a3
- Wellman, N. (2010). Size and Demographics of Aging Populations: Food Preparations and Consumption Habits of Community-Dwelling Populations. In *Providing*

*Healthy and Safe Foods As We Age: Workshop Summary*. National Academies Press (US). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK51841/

- Welmer, A.-K., Rizzuto, D., Laukka, E. J., Johnell, K., & Fratiglioni, L. (2016).
  Cognitive and Physical Function in Relation to the Risk of Injurious Falls in
  Older Adults: A Population-Based Study. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, glw141.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glw141
- Wilmoth, J. M., & London, A. S. (2011). Aging Veterans: Needs and Provisions. In R. A.
  Settersten & J. L. Angel (Eds.), *Handbook of Sociology of Aging* (pp. 445–461).
  Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7374-0\_28
- Wolff, T. (2001). Community Coalition Building—Contemporary Practice and Research: Introduction. American Journal of Community Psychology, 29(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010314326787
- World Health Organization. (2021, April 26). *Falls*. https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/falls
- Wyke, B. (1979). Cervical Articular Contributions to Posture and Gait: Their Relation to Senile Disequilibrium. 8(4), 251–258.
Yammarino, F. J., Skinner, S. J., & Childers, T. L. (1991). Understanding Mail Survey Response Behavior a Meta-Analysis. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 55(4), 613–639. https://doi.org/10.1086/269284

Yiannakoulias, N., Rowe, B. H., Svenson, L. W., Schopflocher, D. P., Kelly, K., & Voaklander, D. C. (2003). Zones of prevention: The geography of fall injuries in the elderly. *Social Science & Medicine*, 57(11), 2065–2073. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00081-9

- Young, W. R., & Mark Williams, A. (2015). How fear of falling can increase fall-risk in older adults: Applying psychological theory to practical observations. *Gait & Posture*, 41(1), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.09.006
- Zhang, W., Low, L.-F., Schwenk, M., Mills, N., Gwynn, J. D., & Clemson, L. (2019).
  Review of Gait, Cognition, and Fall Risks with Implications for Fall Prevention in Older Adults with Dementia. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 48(1–2), 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1159/000504340

#### **APPENDICES**

Appendix A. The North Coast Fall Prevention Survey flier

CAL POLY HUMBOLDT IN COLLABORATION WITH AREA 1 AGENCY PRESENTS HUMBOLDT AND DEL NORTE COUNTIES' FIRST

# NORTH COAST FALL PREVENTION SURVEY 2022

## We need your assistance!

Who: All adults aged 60 years and over Background: About one out of every four older adults will fall each year. In older adults, falls can cause fear of falling, functional limitations, reduced independence and even death. In rural areas like Humboldt and Del Norte, provider shortages and reduced medical services can hinder fall prevention efforts. How to help: If you are 60 years and over and live in Humboldt County or Del Norte please complete our anonymous survey. The survey can be assessed in two ways:

**Online:** https://arcg.is/1aP9SH or scan with your phone camera **Paper copy:** (707) 826-5973



**Questions?** Please contact North Coast Fall Prevention at (707) 826-5973

> Thank you for your participation! North Coast Fall Prevention Cal Poly Humboldt Area 1 Agency on Aging

> > Agency on Aging

Appendix B. The North Coast Fall Prevention Survey components: The cover letter, "Anonymous Exempt Consent" Informed Consent, and the North Coast Fall Prevention Survey

## We need your assistance!

**Background:** Cal Poly Humboldt in collaboration with Area 1 Agency presents Humboldt and Del Norte Counties' first North Coast Fall Prevention Survey 2022 for adults aged 60 years and over. About one out of every four adults fall each year. Falls are expensive, can result in fear of falling, long hospitalizations, loss of independence and even death in older adults. In rural areas like Humboldt and Del Norte Counties', provider shortages and reduced medical services can set back fall prevention efforts. **To understand Humboldt and Del Norte's community fall risk and fall prevention needs we need your participation in this survey!** 

What can you do?

If you are at least 60 years or older and live in Humboldt or Del Norte Counties, please complete this anonymous 15-minute survey and return in the enclosed envelope as soon as possible. Or mail to:

## North Coast Fall Prevention Kinesiology Department 1 Harpst Street, Arcata CA 95521.

If you would like to complete this survey online, you can visit: https://arcg.is/1aP9SH or scan this QR code with your phone camera:



### **More information**

**How will this help?** Your answers will help assist Humboldt and Del Norte Counties fall prevention efforts.

**Other information:** Your answers will be kept strictly confidential and safeguarded. Participation in this anonymous study is voluntary.

Questions? Please call 707-826-5973 or email ml157@humboldt.edu



Thank you for your participation!

Justus Ortega, PhD North Coast Fall Prevention Cal Poly Humboldt

#### Anonymous Exempt Consent INFORMED CONSENT

Geospatial Analysis of Rural Older Adult Fall Risk and Prevention Needs: An Analysis of the North Coast Fall Prevention Survey Data

On behalf of the North Coast Fall Prevention Program at Cal Poly Humboldt, We are conducting this research study to understand fall risk and fall prevention needs in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties. If you volunteer to participate, you will be asked to complete this anonymous survey. Your participation in this study will last 15-minutes.

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You have the right not to participate at all or to leave the study at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. There are some possible risks involved for participants. These risks are not anticipated to be any greater than risks you encounter in daily life. There are some or no benefits to this research, particularly that the data collected will be used for county fall prevention efforts.

An incentive will not be offered. Your participation in this study is voluntary.

It is anticipated that study results will be shared with the public through presentations and/or publications. Information collected for this study is anticipated to be completely anonymous and cannot be linked back to you. The anonymous data will be maintained in a safe, locked location and may be used for future research studies or distributed to another investigator for future research studies without additional informed consent from you. Raw data will be destroyed after a period of 10 years after study completion.

If you have any questions about this research at any time, please email the North Coast fall Prevention Program Coordinator, Mishell Lopez at <u>ml157@humboldt.edu</u> or call at 707-826-5973. If you have any concerns with this study or questions about your rights as a participant, contact the Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects at irb@humboldt.edu or (707) 826-5165.

Your participation in this study indicates that you are 60 years and older, have read and understand the information provided above, that you willingly agree to participate, and that you may withdraw your consent at any time and discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

Please keep this form as your copy.

North Coast Fall Prevention Survey 2022

\_\_\_\_\_

#### Fall History

The following questions relate to your fall/s experience in the last 12 months. A fall is defined as an unintentional or sudden loss of balance such that your hands, arms, knees, buttocks, or body touch or hit the ground or floor.			
<ol> <li>Did you experience a fall in the past 12 months?</li> <li>YES, answer questions #2 through #10</li> <li>NO, skip to question #11</li> </ol>			
<ol><li>How many times have you fallen in the past 12 months?</li></ol>			
3. Have you been injured by one or more falls in the past year? YES NO			
<ol> <li>What type of injury did you sustain from falls experienced in the past 12 months? Mark [X] all that apply.</li> </ol>			
Did not sustain an injury       Spinal cord injury         Dislocation       Hemorrhage         Head/Brain Injury       Cuts or abrasions         Bruises       Fractures/broken bones, please specify where:			
The following questions relate to your most recent fall in the past 12 months.			
5. Please indicate the location of your most recent fall. Mark [X] all that apply.         Outdoors (Area outside a building)       Bedroom         Home yard       Bathroom         Street curb       Kitchen         Sidewalk       Living room         Parking lot       Inside stairs         Outside stairs       Hallway         Indoors (Any area inside a building)       Other, please specify where:			
<ol><li>About what time of the day did your most recent fall occur?</li></ol>			
7. In what direction did you fall? Straight down Forward Backwards Sideways Do not remember			

8. Indicate the reason for your most recent fall. Mark [X] all that apply.
Tripped       Medications       Fell out of bed         Slipped       Alcohol       Loss of consciousness         Misplaced step       Could not see/lighting       Got knocked over by someone         Loss of balance       Fainted       Was not paying attention         Legs gave away       Felt dizzy       Other, please specify:
<ol> <li>What activity were you performing leading to your most recent fall? Mark [X] all that apply.</li> </ol>
Sitting       Changing position       Walking on level ground or floor         Lying down       Using a stool/ladder       Walking on uneven ground         Standing       Gardening       Rushing or hurrying         Cooking       Home improvements       Running         Eating       Going up the stairs       Hiking         Reaching       Going down the stairs       Walking a pet         Bathing       Sitting down       Turning around         Bending       Getting up from sitting       Carrying heavy or bulky items         Using restroom       Playing sports       Other:
<ol> <li>What type of medical services did you receive because of your recent fall? Mark [X] all that apply.</li> </ol>
I did not seek any assistance       Visited hospital emergency department         Called 911       Spent at least one night in hospital         Received ambulance services       Required surgery         Went to doctor's office       Required rehab/physical therapy         Required visits to medical specialist       Other, please specify:
Health Status
11. What is your current weight? Height: 12. In the last 12 months, have you had pain that lasted 3 or more months in any area of
your body? YES, answer questions #13 through #15 NO, skip to question #16
<ol> <li>Please indicate any area of your body you have felt pain in the last 12 months that lasted at least 3 months or more. Mark all that apply</li> </ol>
Hip Hands Shoulders
Back Knee Neck

14. Does the pain prevent you from moving? Always Often Sometimes Never				
15. Are you currently taking any medications to manage your pain? Second YES NO				
16. Do you have any chronic medical conditions?	YES NO If NO, skip to question #18			
<ol> <li>Has a health care professional told you that you had any of the following conditions? Mark [X] all that apply.</li> </ol>	Are you taking any medications for the condition(s) you have?			
Alzheimer's	YES NO			
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)	YES NO			
Cancer	YES NO			
Cardiovascular disease/heart disease	YES NO			
Deafness	YES NO			
Dementia	YES NO			
Depression	YES NO			
Diabetes	YES NO			
Dizziness or vertigo	YES NO			
Epilepsy	YES NO			
History of stroke	YES NO			
Hypertension	YES NO			
Neuropathy	YES NO			
Orthostatic hypotension/postural hypotension	YES NO			
Osteoarthritis or arthritis	YES NO			
Osteoporosis	YES NO			

Sleeping disorders such as insomnia			res 🗌 NO	
Syncope/loss of consciousness		1	res 🗌 NO	
Urinary incontinence			res 🗌 NO	
Prescribed Medication				
18. Do you take prescribed medicines? (If NO	skip to q	uestion	#24) 🗌 YES	5 🗌 NO
19. Do you know what medications you are tak	ng? 🗌	YES 🗌	] NO	
20. Has your doctor or pharmacist talked to you about how the medication you are taking may affect your balance? YES NO				
21. Do you take any prescribed medicine to hel	p you sle	ep? 🗌 `	/ES 🗌 NO	
22. Do you take any prescribed medicine to imp	prove you	r mood?	YES	] NO
23. How many prescription medicines do you take?				
Functional Limitations				
The following questions relate to you balance and mobility in the last 12 months.				
	Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
24. Are you afraid of falling?				
25. Have you restricted your activity because of your fear of falling?				
26. Do you feel unsteady when you are walking?				
27. Do you feel you have problems with balance?				
28. Are you able to bend down, stoop or kneel without assistance?				
29. Can you walk up/downstairs alone?				
30. Do you need to use your hands or get assistance to stand up from a chair?				

31. Do you use a walker, cane, or any other form of assistance for your mobility?	Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
<ol> <li>Because of any health problem, do you need help from other people with your</li> </ol>	Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
a. PERSONAL CARE needs (eating, bathing, dressing, or getting around the house)?				
b. HANDLING CHORES OR ERRANDS (household chores, shopping, etc.)?				
Lifestyle				
<ul> <li>33. How would you describe your (current) daily physical activity level? (Moderate physical activity is when your heart works harder and your breathing gets deeper and faster and can include dancing, hiking, exercising, walking etc.)</li> <li>I am engaged in moderate physical activity 30min/day, 5-7 days/week.</li> <li>I am engaged in moderate physical activity at least 30min/day, 2-4 times/week.</li> <li>I am generally not active and don't participate in moderate physical activity.</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>34. How would you describe your weekly muscle-strengthening activities that work major muscle groups (i.e., legs, hips, back, chest, shoulders, and arms)?</li> <li>I am engaged in muscle-strengthening activities at least twice a week.</li> <li>I am engaged in muscle-strengthening activities at least once a week.</li> <li>I generally do not perform any muscle-strengthening activities.</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>35. Do you participate in activities to improve your balance, flexibility, or both? Mark [X] all that apply.</li> <li>Yes, I stretch or do balance exercises by myself</li> <li>Yes, I perform balance exercises prescribed by my physical therapist</li> <li>Yes, I participate in a local class. Please indicate all that apply.</li> <li>SAIL A Matter of Balance Tai Chi Other, specify:</li> <li>I do NOT participate in activities to help improve my balance or flexibility</li> </ul>				
Environmental Risk Factors				
36. What kind of shoes do you regularly wear? Mark [X] all that apply				
Slippers       Barefoot         Shoes with thick soles (>1 INCH)       Socks without shoes         Shoes with thin soles (~1 inch or less)       Other, please specify:				

37. Have you ever had your home inspected	l for fall injury prevention? YES NO		
38.Rate how willing you are to pay for home Cannot afford/not willing 1 2 3	modifications to reduce risk of injury?		
<ol> <li>Take a moment to look around the insid following? Mark [X] all that apply.</li> </ol>	e of your home. Do you notice any of the		
Throw rugs       Visible cords on the ground         Slippery surfaces       Poor or no lighting around pathways         Loose or worn carpets       Pets around your feet such as a dog or cat         Clutter on the ground       Bathtub or shower area without grab bars         Cluttered pathways/halls       Edge you must step over at the front entrance         Staircases without railings       Edge you must step over at the bathtub         Furniture in the way of walking       Items placed in hard-to-reach areas         Too low or too high toilet height       Light switch or light far away from the bed         Too low or too high bed height       Phone is not easily accessible			
40. Take a moment to look outside your home. Do you notice any of the following around			
Steps or walking surfaces are slippery Stairs do not have railing Poor or no lighting around walkways Surfaces of stairs and ground are uneven Walkways flood with water when it rains Pets or other animals around your feet Items on walkways (e.g., flowerpots, hoses, etc.) Items are placed in hard-to-reach areas			
Fall Prevention Needs Assessment			
41. How would you rate your likelihood of falling in the next 12 months?	42. In the past 12 months, have you been assessed by a health care professional for your risk of falling? Yes No		
43. Are you willing to receive fall prevention education  YES NO			

44. What is your preferred format of receiving information? Mark [X] your top three.				
Television         Newspaper         Class           Radio         Internet         Private conversation with health professional           Other, please specify:				
<ul> <li>45. Which fall prevention classes would you be willing to take if offered for free? Mark [X] your top three.</li> <li>Tai Chi (balance)</li> <li>A Matter of Balance-AMOB (balance, strength, fear of falling)</li> <li>Stay Active and Independent for Life-SAIL (balance, strength, mobility)</li> <li>Walking group on flat ground (balance, strength, mobility)</li> <li>Hiking group on different trails (balance, strength, mobility)</li> <li>Biking group on flat ground (balance, strength, mobility)</li> <li>Other, please specify:</li> </ul>				
46. In general, what are the barriers, if an regarding your physical health?	y, to receiving or accessing the help you need			
Demographics				
<ol> <li>What is your zip code?</li></ol>	ome?			
49. As of today, my age is	years			
50. What is your gender? Male Fema	ale Other, please specify:			
51. What is your marital status?  Married Widowed Single Divorced Partnered, not married Other, please specify:				
52. What best describes your educational background? 0-11 years, no diploma High school graduated or GED Some college Associate's degree Bachelor's degree Graduate or other professional degree	53. What is your yearly income (including Soc. Security, pension, investments)?         Less than \$10,000         \$10,000 to less than \$20,000         \$20,000 to less than \$30,000         \$30,000 to less than \$40,000         \$40,000 to less than \$50,000         \$50,000 to less than \$60,000         \$60,000 to less than \$70,000         \$70,000 to less than \$80,000         \$80,000 and more			

54. What is your ethnicity? Hispanic or Latino Non-Hispanic or Latino			
55. What is your race? Mark [X] all that apply.			
Asian       Black or African American         Hispanic or Latino       American Indian or Alaskan Native, please specify         Caucasian/White       what tribe:         Native Hawaiian, Pacific Islander       Other, please specify:			
56. What type of residence do you live in?			
House       Nursing home         Condo/townhouse       Shelter or dormitory         Apartment       Homeless         Senior independent living apartment       Other, please specify:         Group home or assisted living facility			
57. Have you ever served in the active military of the United States? YES NO If NO, skip a-c questions.			
b. Do you have a VA Service-connected disability rating? YES NO c. What is your service-connected disability rating?			
Thank you for your time! Please use the provided self-			

Thank you for your time! Please use the provided self addressed envelope to send this survey.

If you have any questions or further comments, please contact Mishell Lopez at the North Coast Fall Prevention Coalition (707-826-5973)

End of Survey.

Appendix C. All tables for this study are listed in this section.

Table 1. Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA, calculated sample size using the formula of Sample for Proportions and 2020 U.S. Census older adult population.

California Counties	2020 U.S. Census Older Adult Population	Sample for Proportions
Del Norte	6907	378
Humboldt	34079	395

Zip codes	2020 U.S. Census Older	Sample for	Finite Population
	Adult Population	Proportions	<b>Corrections for Proportions</b>
95501	5185	371	347
95503	7038	378	359
95511	63	54	29
95514	23	22	11
95519	4564	368	340
95521	3850	362	331
95524	648	247	179
95525	611	242	173
95526	119	92	52
95528	486	219	151
95536	1109	294	233
95537	50	44	24
95540	3229	356	321
95542	735	259	192
95545	30	28	15
95546	1027	288	225
95547	460	214	146
95549	254	155	97
95550	17	16	9
95551	296	170	108
95553	203	135	81
95554	254	155	97
95555	98	79	44
95556	130	98	56
95558	184	126	75
95559	47	42	22
95560	517	226	157
95562	756	262	195
95564	153	111	64
95565	140	104	60
95569	64	55	30
95570	755	261	194
95571	11	11	6
95573	450	212	144
95589	523	227	158

Table 2. Humboldt County, CA, calculated sample sizes using the formulas of Sample for Proportions, and Finite Population Corrections for Proportions. The 2020 U.S. Census older adult population was used for each formula.

Table 3. Del Norte County, CA, calculated sample sizes using the formulas of Sample for Proportions, and Finite Population Corrections for Proportions. The 2020 U.S. Census older adult population was used for each formula.

Zip Codes	2020 U.S. Census Older Adult Population	Sample for Proportions	Finite Population Corrections for Proportions
95531	5554	373	350
95543	274	163	102
95548	391	198	132
95567	688	253	185

Table 4: Community organizations in Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA, notified of the North Coast Fall Prevention (NCFP) Survey. \*UIHS = United Indian Health Services.

Organization	Location of Organization
Del Norte County Public Health	Del Norte County
Del Norte Senior Center	Del Norte County
Family Resource Center of the Redwoods	Del Norte County
Wild Rivers Outpost online news	Del Norte County
Del Norte Triplicate newspaper	Del Norte County
Rotary Club of Crescent City	Del Norte County
Soroptimist International of Crescent City	Del Norte County
Cal Poly Humboldt	Del Norte and Humboldt County
Area 1 Agency on Aging	Del Norte and Humboldt County
UIHS*	Del Norte and Humboldt County
Yurok Tribe	Parts of Humboldt and Del Norte County
Bicoastal Media radio station	Parts of Humboldt and Del Norte County
KHSU radio station	Parts of Humboldt and Del Norte County
Humboldt County Public Health	Humboldt County
Humboldt Senior Resource Center	Humboldt County
Food for People	Humboldt County
Times Standard newspaper	Humboldt County
Adorni Recreation Center	Humboldt County
Eureka Silvercrest Residencies	Humboldt County
Rotary Club of Eureka	Humboldt County
Rotary Club of Old Town Eureka	Humboldt County
Soroptimist International Humboldt Bay	Humboldt County
Azalea Hall and McKinleyville Community Center	Humboldt County
Arcata Community Center	Humboldt County
Rotary Club of Arcata	Humboldt County
Rotary Club of Arcata Sunrise	Humboldt County
Blue Lake Community Resource Center	Humboldt County
Ferndale Community Center	Humboldt County
Fortuna Senior Center	Humboldt County
K'ima:w Medical Center of the Hoopa Valley Tribe	Humboldt County
Healy Senior Center	Humboldt County
Willow Creek Community Resource Center	Humboldt County
Blue Lake Rancheria	Parts of Humboldt County
Karuk Tribe	Parts of Humboldt County
Wiyot Tribe	Parts of Humboldt County
KMUD radio station	Parts of Humboldt County

Name of Location of Community Board	Location
Del Norte County Public Health Del Norte Veteran Service Office	Del Norte County, CA 95531 Del Norte County, CA 95531
Del Norte Library District	Del Norte County, CA 95531
Eureka Vet Center	Humboldt County, CA 95501
North Coast Co-Op-Eureka	Humboldt County, CA 95501
Ramone's Bakery & Café-Harrison Ave, Eureka	Humboldt County, CA 95501
Eureka Natural Foods-Eureka	Humboldt County, CA 95501
EPT McKinleyville	Humboldt County, CA 95519
Murphy's Markets-McKinleyville	Humboldt County, CA 95519
Eureka Natural Foods-McKinleyville	Humboldt County, CA 95519
Murphy's Markets-Bayside	Humboldt County, CA 95521
North Coast Co-Op-Arcata	Humboldt County, CA 95521
Humboldt County Library-Garberville	Humboldt County, CA 95542
Ray's Food Place-Garberville	Humboldt County, CA 95542
Chautauqua Natural Foods-Garberville	Humboldt County, CA 95542
Orick Market	Humboldt County, CA 95555
Shop Smart Food Warehouse-Redway	Humboldt County, CA 95560
Trinidad Town Hall	Humboldt County, CA 95570
Trinidad USPS	Humboldt County, CA 95570
Trinidad Trading Company	Humboldt County, CA 95570
Murphy's Markets-Trinidad	Humboldt County, CA 95570

Table 5. Name and location of community boards across Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA, used to display the North Coast Fall Prevention (NCFP) Survey flier.

Organization	Surveys Provided	Surveys Returned
Area 1 Agency on Aging	2211	531
Blue Lake Community Resource Center	33	3
Cal Poly Humboldt	3250	181
Del Norte Senior Center	261	8
Healy Senior Center	25	0
UIHS	150	15
Willow Creek Community Resource Center	25	5
Yurok Tribe	25	0

Table 6. Organizations in Humboldt County, CA, and Del Norte County, CA, who requested paper copies of the survey to distribute. The total number of paper surveys provided and the number of paper copies received from the organizations are listed.

Zip Code	Name of Zip Code	Surveys Returned	Paper	Online
95501	Eureka	102	99	3
95503	Eureka	136	132	4
95511	Alderpoint	1	1	0
95514	Blocksburg	3	3	0
95519	McKinlevville	75	71	4
95521	Arcata	97	94	3
95524	Bayside	14	14	0
95525	Blue Lake	13	12	1
95526	Ruth	0	0	0
95528	Carlotta	1	1	0
95536	Ferndale	4	4	0
95537	Fields Landing	1	1	Ō
95540	Fortuna	47	43	4
95542	Garberville	26	25	1
95545	Honeydew	0	0	0
95546	Ноора	1	1	0
95547	Hydesville	1	1	0
95549	Kneeland	1	1	0
95550	Korbel	0	0	0
95551	Loleta	7	6	1
95553	Miranda	0	0	0
95554	<b>Myers Flat</b>	5	4	1
95555	Orick	12	12	0
95556	Orleans	0	0	0
95558	Petrolia	2	2	0
95559	Phillipsville	0	0	0
95560	Redway	2	2	0
95562	<b>Rio Dell</b>	4	4	0
95564	Samoa	0	0	0
95565	Scotia	1	1	0
95569	Redcrest	3	3	0
95570	Trinidad	19	18	1
95571	Weott	0	0	0
95573	Willow Creek	5	5	0
95589	Whitethorn	32	31	1

Table 7. The total number of paper and online surveys received from the zip codes of Humboldt County, CA. Also displayed are the total number of surveys received and the names of the zip code.

names of th	le zip code.			
Zip Code	Name of Zip Code	Surveys Returned	Paper	Online
95531	<b>Crescent City</b>	95	92	3
95543	Gasquet	9	9	0
95548	Klamath	4	3	1

**Smith River** 

Table 8. The total number of paper and online surveys received from the zip codes of Del Norte County, CA. Also displayed are the total number of surveys received and the names of the zip code.

Table 9: Humboldt County, CA, participants' demographics separated by rural and urban. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. † Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Characteristic	Humboldt $(N = 615)$	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 130)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 485)
Age (years)*	$74.0\pm7.5$	$72.4 \pm 7.1$	74.4 ±7.5
Gender (n)	612	130	482
Male	178 (29.1%)	45 (34.6%)	133 (27.6%)
Female	432 (70.6%)	85 (65.4%)	347 (72.0%)
Other	2 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (0.4%)
Ethnicity (n)	568	122	437
Non-Hispanic	557 (98.1%)	117 (95.9%)	432 (98.9%)
Hispanic	11 (1.9%)	5 (4.1%)	5 (1.1%)
Race (n)†	611	134	477
Asian	2 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (0.4%)
Hispanic or Latino	9 (1.5%)	4 (3.0%)	5 (1.0%)
Caucasian	559 (91.5%)	117 (87.3%)	442 (92.7%)
Black or African American	3 (0.5%)	1 (0.7%)	2 (0.4%)
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	1 (0.2%)	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)
American Indian	22 (3.6%)	8 (6.0%)	14 (2.9%)
Other	15 (2.5%)	3 (2.2%)	12 (2.5%)
Educational Background (n)	612	129	483
0-11, no diploma	7 (1.1%)	3 (2.3%)	4 (0.8%)
Highschool graduate or GED	56 (9.2%)	17 (13.2%)	39 (8.1%)
Some College	127 (20.8%)	27 (20.9%)	100 (20.7%)
Associates	51 (8.3%)	14 (10.9%)	37 (7.7%)
Bachelors	156 (25.5%)	33 (25.6%)	123 (25.5%)
Graduate or professional	215 (35.1%)	35 (27.1%)	180 (37.3%)

Table 10. Del Norte County, CA, participants' demographics separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. † Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Characteristic	Del Norte	Rural	Urban
	(N = 147)	(n = 52)	(n = 95)
Age (years)*	$73.4 \pm 7.6$	$73.6 \pm 8.3$	$73.3 \pm 7.2$
Gender (n)	147	52	95
Male	56 (38.1%)	22 (42.3%)	34 (35.8%)
Female	91 (61.9%)	30 (57.7%)	61 (64.2%)
Other	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Ethnicity (n)	123	45	78
Non-Hispanic	119 (96.7%)	45 (100.0%)	74 (94.9%)
Hispanic	4 (3.3%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (5.1%)
Race (n)†	155	51	104
Asian	2 (1.3%)	1 (2.0%)	1 (1.0%)
Hispanic or Latino	3 (1.9%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (2.9%)
Caucasian	118 (76.1%)	37 (72.5%)	81 (77.9%)
Black or African American	2 (1.3%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.9%)
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
American Indian	22 (14.2%)	10 (19.6%)	12 (11.5%)
Other	8 (5.2%)	3 (5.9%)	5 (4.8%)
Educational Background (n)	146	52	94
0-11, no diploma	8 (5.5%)	2 (3.8%)	6 (6.4%)
Highschool graduate or GED	19 (13.0%)	4 (7.7%)	15 (16.0%)
Some College	44 (30.1%)	14 (26.9%)	30 (31.9%)
Associates	25 (17.1%)	14 (26.9%)	11 (11.7%)
Bachelors	16 (11.0%)	8 (15.4%)	8 (8.5%)
Graduate or professional	34 (23.3%)	10 (19.2%)	24 (25.5%)

Characteristic	Humboldt	Rural	Urban
	( <i>N</i> = 615)	( <i>n</i> = 130)	( <i>n</i> = 485)
Marital Status (n)	607	129	478
Married	256 (42.2%)	55 (42.6%)	201 (42.1%)
Widowed	136 (22.4%)	28 (21.7%)	108 (22.6%)
Single	78 (12.9%)	14 (10.9%)	64 (13.4%)
Divorced	97 (16.0%)	23 (17.8%)	74 (15.5%)
Partnered, not married	40 (6.6%)	9 (7.0%)	31 (6.5%)
Yearly Income (n)	558	118	440
Less than 10k	21 (3.8%)	6 (5.1%)	15 (3.4%)
10k-20k	86 (15.4%)	25 (21.2%)	61 (13.9%)
20k-30k	92 (16.5%)	16 (13.6%)	76 (17.3%)
30k-40k	77 (13.8%)	17 (14.4%)	60 (13.6%)
40k-50k	39 (7.0%)	9 (7.6%)	30 (6.8%)
50k-60k	41 (7.3%)	9 (7.6%)	32 (7.3%)
60k-70k	38 (6.8%)	7 (5.9%)	31 (7.0%)
70k-80k	39 (7.0%)	8 (6.8%)	31 (7.0%)
80k+	125 (22.4%)	21 (17.8%)	104 (23.6%)
Type of Residence (n)	612	130	482
House	556 (90.8%)	125 (96.2%)	431 (89.4%)
Condo/Townhouse	6 (1.0%)	1 (0.8%)	5 (1.0%)
Apartment	28 (4.6%)	3 (2.3%)	25 (5.2%)
Senior independent living	2(0.3%)	0(0.0%)	2(0.4%)
Group home/assisted living	$\frac{1}{1}(0.2\%)$	0 (0.0%)	1(0.2%)
Nursing Home	1(0.2%)	0 (0.0%)	1(0.2%)
Mobile	16 (2.6%)	1 (0.8%)	15 (3.1%)
Shelter	0 (0.0%)	0(0.0%)	0(0.0%)
Homeless	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Other	2 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	2(0.4%)
Veteran (n)	609	129	480
No	548 (90.0%)	114 (88.4%)	434 (90.4%)
Yes	61 (10.0%)	15 (11.6%)	46 (9.6%)
VA Service-connected (n)	56	13	43
No	44 (78.6%)	10 (76.9%)	34 (79.1%)
Yes	12 (21.4%)	3 (23.1%)	9 (20.9%)

Table 11. Humboldt County CA, participants' socio-economic status separated by rural and urban clusters.

Characteristic	Del Norte	Rural	Urban
	( <i>N</i> = <b>147</b> )	(n = 52)	( <i>n</i> = 95)
Marital Status (n)	147	52	95
Married	68 (46.3%)	24 (46.2%)	44 (46.3%)
Widowed	29 (19.7%)	7 (13.5%)	22 (23.2%)
Single	21 (14.3%)	8 (15.4%)	13 (13.7%)
Divorced	21 (14.3%)	12 (23.1%)	9 (9.5%)
Partnered, not married	8 (5.4%)	1 (1.9%)	7 (7.4%)
Yearly Income (n)	132	47	85
Less than 10k	8 (6.1%)	1 (2.1%)	7 (8.2%)
10k-20k	29 (22.0%)	9 (19.1%)	20 (23.5%)
20k-30k	26 (19.7%)	11 (23.4%)	15 (17.6%)
30k-40k	12 (9.1%)	3 (6.4%)	9 (10.6%)
40k-50k	9 (6.8%)	4 (8.5%)	5 (5.9%)
50k-60k	8 (6.1%)	3 (6.4%)	5 (5.9%)
60k-70k	8 (6.1%)	2 (4.3%)	6 (7.1%)
70k-80k	6 (4.5%)	1 (2.1%)	5 (5.9%)
80k+	26 (19.7%)	13 (27.7%)	13 (15.3%)
Type of Residence (n)	147	52	95
House	110 (74.8%)	41 (78.8%)	69 (72.6%)
Condo/Townhouse	2 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (2.1%)
Apartment	10 (6.8%)	1 (1.9%)	9 (9.5%)
Senior independent living	2 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (2.1%)
Group home/assisted living	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Nursing Home	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Mobile	23 (15.6%)	10 (19.2%)	13 (13.7%)
Shelter	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Homeless	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Other	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Veteran (n)	146	52	94
No	125 (85.6%)	45 (86.5%)	80 (85.1%)
Yes	21 (14.4%)	7 (13.5%)	14 (14.9%)
VA Service Connected (n)	18	7	11
No	14 (77.8%)	6 (85.7%)	8 (72.7%)
Yes	4 (22.2%)	1 (14.3%)	3 (27.3%)

Table 12. Del Norte County, CA, participants' socio-economic status separated by rural and urban clusters.

Table 13. Humboldt County, CA, fall risk separated by rural and urban clusters screened by three screening tools. \*3 Key Qs = Three Key Questions (Eckstrom et al., 2017); MAHC-10 = Missouri Alliance for Home Care Fall Risk Assessment Tool (Calys et al., 2013). STEADI 12-Q = Stopping Elderly Accidents, Deaths, & Injuries Stay Independent Fall Risk Assessment Tool (Rubenstein et al., 2011). † Denotes characteristic is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions.

Screening Tool	Humboldt ( <i>N</i> = 615)	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 130)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 485)
3 Key Qs* (n) Not at risk	615 01 (14 89/)	130 21 (16 29/)	485 70 (14 49/ )
At risk	524 (85.2%)	109 (83.8%)	415 (85.6%)
MAHC-10* (n)	615	130	485
Score <sup>†</sup>	$4.1 \pm 1.6$	$3.9 \pm 1.4$	$4.2\pm1.6$
Not at risk	234 (38.0%)	60 (46.2%)	174 (35.9%)
At risk	381 (62.0%)	70 (53.8%)	311 (64.1%)
STEADI 12-Q* (n)	615	130	147
Score†	$4.1 \pm 2.6$	$3.7 \pm 2.4$	$4.2 \pm 2.7$
Not at risk	277 (45.0%)	67 (51.5%)	210 (43.3%)
At risk	338 (55.0%)	63 (48.5%)	275 (56.7%)

Table 14. Del Norte County, CA, fall risk separated by rural and urban clusters screened by three screening tools. \*3 Key Qs = Three Key Questions (Eckstrom et al., 2017); MAHC-10 = Missouri Alliance for Home Care Fall Risk Assessment Tool (Calys et al., 2013). STEADI 12-Q = Stopping Elderly Accidents, Deaths, & Injuries Stay Independent Fall Risk Assessment Tool (Rubenstein et al., 2011). † Denotes characteristic is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions.

Screening Tool	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	<b>Rural</b> $(n = 52)$	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 95)
3 Key Qs* (n)	147	52	95
Not at risk	23 (15.6%)	6 (11.5%)	17 (17.9%)
At risk	124 (84.4%)	46 (88.5%)	78 (82.1%)
MAHC-10* (n)	147	52	95
Score†	$4.3\pm1.6$	$4.1 \pm 1.6$	$4.5 \pm 1.6$
Not at risk	46 (31.3%)	17 (32.7%)	29 (30.5%)
At risk	101 (68.7%)	35 (67.3%)	66 (69.5%)
STEADI 12-Q* (n)	147	52	95
Score†	$\textbf{4.2} \pm \textbf{2.8}$	$\textbf{4.0} \pm \textbf{2.6}$	$4.3 \pm 2.8$
Not at risk	68 (31.3%)	27 (51.9%)	41 (43.2%)
At risk	79 (53.7%)	25 (48.1%)	54 (56.8%)

Table 15. Humboldt County, CA, participants' fall history separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. † Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Fall History	Humboldt	Rural	Urban
-	(N = 615)	( <i>n</i> = 130)	( <i>n</i> = 485)
Fall history (n)	615	130	485
Non-faller	320 (52.0%)	60 (46.2%)	260 (56.6%)
Faller	295 (48.0%)	70 (53.8%)	225 (46.4%)
Number of falls*	$1.4 \pm 6.0$	$3.2 \pm 12.5$	$1.0 \pm 1.8$
Injured by a fall (n)	292	70	222
No	89 (30.5%)	24 (34.3%)	65 (29.3%)
Yes	203 (69.5%)	46 (65.7%)	157 (70.7%)
Type of injury (n)†	450	101	349
None	84 (18.7%)	22 (21.8%)	62 (17.8%)
Dislocation	6 (1.3%)	3 (3.0%)	3 (0.9%)
Head/Brain	15 (3.3%)	1 (1.0%)	14 (4.0%)
Bruises	146 (32.4%)	30 (29.7%)	116 (33.2%)
Sprain/ligament	48 (10.7%)	8 (7.9%)	40 (11.5%)
Spinal	2 (0.4%)	1 (1.0%)	1 (0.3%)
Hemorrhage	2 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (0.6%)
Cuts/abrasions	90 (20.0%)	22 (21.8%)	68 (19.5%)
<b>Broken bones/fractures</b>	44 (9.8%)	12 (11.9%)	32 (9.2%)
Other	13 (2.9%)	2 (2.0%)	11 (3.2%)
Medical services received (n)*	367	89	278
No assistance	227 (61.9%)	54 (60.7%)	173 (62.2%)
Called 911	11 (3.0%)	4 (4.5%)	7 (2.5%)
Ambulance service	12 (3.3%)	3 (3.4%)	9 (3.2%)
Doctor's office	26 (7.1%)	2 (2.2%)	24 (8.6%)
Medical specialist	11 (3.0%)	4 (4.5%)	7 (2.5%)
ER	29 (7.9%)	7 (7.9%)	22 (7.9%)
Night at hospital	6 (1.6%)	2 (2.2%)	4 (1.4%)
Surgery	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Physical therapy	24 (6.5%)	8 (9.0%)	16 (5.8%)
Other	21 (5.7%)	5 (5.6%)	16 (5.8%)

Table 16. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall history separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions. † Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Fall History	<b>Del Norte</b>	Rural	Urban
	(N = 147)	(n = 52)	(n = 95)
Fall history (n)	146	51	95
Non-faller	86 (58.9%)	30 (58.8%)	56 (58.9%)
Faller	60 (41.1%)	21 (41.2%)	39 (41.1%)
Number of falls*	$1.2 \pm 2.6$	$0.9 \pm 1.5$	$1.3 \pm 3.0$
Injured by a fall (n)	60	21	39
No	8 (13.3%)	1 (4.8%)	7 (17.9%)
Yes	52 (86.7%)	20 (95.2%)	32 (82.1%)
Type of injury (n)†	93	32	61
None	7 (7.5%)	1 (3.1%)	6 (9.8%)
Dislocation	2 (2.2%)	1 (3.1%)	1 (1.6%)
Head/Brain	4 (4.3%)	1 (3.1%)	3 (4.9%)
Bruises	34 (36.6%)	11 (34.4%)	23 (37.7%)
Sprain/ligament	9 (9.7%)	3 (9.4%)	6 (9.8%)
Spinal	2 (2.2%)	1 (3.1%)	1 (1.6%)
Hemorrhage	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Cuts/abrasions	22 (23.7%)	10 (31.3%)	12 (19.7%)
<b>Broken bones/fractures</b>	7 (7.5%)	2 (6.3%)	5 (8.2%)
Other	6 (6.5%)	2 (6.3%)	4 (6.6%)
Medical services received (n) <sup>†</sup>	80	28	52
No assistance	44 (55.0%)	15 (53.6%)	29 (55.8%)
Called 911	5 (6.3%)	2 (7.1%)	3 (5.8%)
Ambulance service	4 (5.0%)	2 (7.1%)	2 (3.8%)
Doctor's office	5 (6.3%)	2 (7.1%)	3 (5.8%)
Medical specialist	2 (2.5%)	1 (3.6%)	1 (1.9%)
ER	10 (12.5%)	4 (14.3%)	6 (11.5%)
Night at hospital	2 (2.5%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.8%)
Surgery	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Physical therapy	6 (7.5%)	2 (7.1%)	4 (7.7%)
Other	2 (2.5%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.8%)

Table 17. Humboldt County, CA, participants' fall circumstance of their most recent fall	
in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. * Denotes characteristic is	
displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of	
times a data value was selected within that question.	

Fall Circumstance	Humboldt	Rural	Urban
	( <i>N</i> = <b>615</b> )	( <i>n</i> = 130)	( <i>n</i> = 485)
Fall location (n)*	486	104	382
Outdoors	128 (26.3%)	37 (35.6%)	91 (23.8%)
Home yard	55 (11.3%)	16 (15.4%)	39 (10.2%)
Street curb	24 (4.9%)	5 (4.8%)	19 (5.0%)
Sidewalk	18 (3.7%)	1 (1.0%)	17 (4.5%)
Parking lot	17 (3.5%)	4 (3.8%)	13 (3.4%)
Outdoor stairs	18 (3.7%)	2 (1.9%)	16 (4.2%)
Indoors	57 (11.7%)	10 (9.6%)	47 (12.3%)
Bedroom	24 (4.9%)	3 (2.9%)	21 (5.5%)
Bathroom	23 (4.7%)	4 (3.8%)	19 (5.0%)
Kitchen	19 (3.9%)	1 (1.0%)	18 (4.7%)
Living room	30 (6.2%)	7 (6.7%)	23 (6.0%)
Inside stairs	16 (3.3%)	6 (5.8%)	10 (2.6%)
Hallway	5 (1.0%)	1 (1.0%)	4 (1.0%)
Other	52 (10.7%)	7 (6.7%)	45 (11.8%)
Time of fall (n)	261	64	197
Night	7 (2.7%)	3 (4.7%)	4 (2.0%)
Morning	64 (24.5%)	12 (18.8%)	52 (26.4%)
Afternoon	148 (56.7%)	40 (62.5%)	108 (54.8%)
Evening	42 (16.1%)	9 (14.1%)	33 (16.8%)
Fall direction (n)*	313	76	237
Straight down	50 (16.0%)	10 (13.2%)	40 (16.9%)
Forward	114 (36.4%)	25 (32.9%)	89 (37.6%)
Backward	54 (17.3%)	11 (14.5%)	43 (18.1%)
Sideways	82 (26.2%)	30 (39.5%)	52 (21.9%)
Unable to recall	13 (4.2%)	0 (0.0%)	13 (5.5%)

Fall Circumstance	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 52)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 95)
Fall location (n)*	113	35	78
Outdoors	23 (20.4%)	7 (20.0%)	16 (20.5%)
Home yard	15 (13.3%)	6 (17.1%)	9 (11.5%)
Street curb	5 (4.4%)	2 (5.7%)	3 (3.8%)
Sidewalk	3 (2.7%)	2 (5.7%)	1 (1.3%)
Parking lot	1 (0.9%)	1 (2.9%)	0 (0.0%)
Outdoor stairs	9 (8.0%)	4 (11.4%)	5 (6.4%)
Indoors	15 (13.3%)	3 (8.6%)	12 (15.4%)
Bedroom	4 (3.5%)	2 (5.7%)	2 (2.6%)
Bathroom	3 (2.7%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (3.8%)
Kitchen	7 (6.2%)	2 (5.7%)	5 (6.4%)
Living room	14 (12.4%)	4 (11.4%)	10 (12.8%)
Inside stairs	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Hallway	3 (2.7%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (3.8%)
Other	10 (8.8%)	2 (5.7%)	8 (10.3%)
Time of fall (n)	53	20	33
Night	2 (3.8%)	1 (5.0%)	1 (3.0%)
Morning	21 (39.6%)	7 (35.0%)	14 (42.4%)
Afternoon	23 (43.4%)	9 (45.0%)	14 (42.4%)
Evening	7 (13.2%)	3 (15.0%)	4 (12.1%)
Fall direction (n)*	67	22	45
Straight down	9 (13.4%)	4 (18.2%)	5 (11.1%)
Forward	23 (34.3%)	5 (22.7%)	18 (40.0%)
Backward	9 (13.4%)	4 (18.2%)	5 (11.1%)
Sideways	23 (34.3%)	8 (36.4%)	15 (33.3%)
Unable to recall	3 (4.5%)	1 (4.5%)	2 (4.4%)

Table 18. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall circumstance of their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Table 19. Humboldt County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Reasons for their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger \text{LOC} = \text{Loss of consciousness.}$ 

Fall Circums	stance	Humboldt $(N = 615)$	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 130)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 485)
Reasons for 1	fall (n)*	472	110	362
	Tripped	124 (26.3%)	28 (25.5%)	96 (26.5%)
	Slipped	1 (0.2%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.3)
	Misplaced step	71 (15.0%)	17 (15.5%)	54 (14.9%)
	Loss of balance	103 (21.8%)	21 (19.1%)	82 (22.7%)
	Legs gave away	34 (7.2%)	9 (8.2%)	25 (6.9%)
	Medications	2 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (0.6%)
	Alcohol	3 (0.6%)	1 (0.9%)	2 (0.6%)
	Sparse/no lighting	11 (2.3%)	3 (2.7%)	8 (2.2%)
	Fainted	3 (0.6%)	1 (0.9%)	2 (0.6%)
	Felt dizzy	17 (3.6%)	4 (3.6%)	13 (3.6%)
	Fell out of bed	4 (0.8)	1 (0.9%)	3 (0.8%)
	LOC†	6 (1.3%)	2 (1.8%)	4 (1.1%)
	Got knocked over	1 (0.2%)	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)
	Inattentive	50 (10.6%)	13 (11.8%)	37 (10.2%)
	Other	42 (8.9%)	9 (8.2%)	33 (9.1%)

Table 20. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Reasons for their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger$  LOC = Loss of consciousness.

Fall Circum	istance	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 52)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 95)
Reasons for	fall (n)*	99	29	70
	Tripped	24 (24.2%)	11 (37.9%)	13 (18.6%)
	Slipped	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
	Misplaced step	13 (13.1%)	3 (10.3%)	10 (14.3%)
	Loss of balance	19 (19.2%)	4 (13.8%)	15 (21.4%)
	Legs gave away	11 (11.1%)	2 (6.9%)	9 (12.9%)
	Medications	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
	Alcohol	2 (2.0%)	1 (3.4%)	1 (1.4%)
	Sparse/no lighting	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.4%)
	Fainted	3 (3.0%)	1 (3.4%)	2 (2.9%)
	Felt dizzy	6 (6.1%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (8.6%)
	Fell out of bed	1 (1.0%)	1 (3.4%)	0 (0.0%)
	<b>LOC</b> †	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.4%)
	Got knocked over	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
	Inattentive	13 (13.1%)	5 (17.2%)	8 (11.4%)
	Other	5 (5.1%)	1 (3.4%)	4 (5.7%)

Table 21. Humboldt County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Activity leading to their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Fall Circumstance	Humboldt ( <i>N</i> = 615)	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 130)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 485)
Activity leading to fall (n)*	513	105	408
Sitting	26 (5.1%)	4 (3.8%)	22 (5.4%)
Lying down	3 (0.6%)	1 (1.0%)	2 (0.5%)
Standing	38 (7.4%)	5 (4.8%)	33 (8.1%)
Cooking	4 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (1.0%)
Eating	1 (0.2%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.2%)
Reaching	20 (3.9%)	4 (3.8%)	<b>16 (3.9%)</b>
Bathing	5 (1.0%)	1 (1.0%)	4 (1.0%)
Bending	11 (2.1%)	1 (1.0%)	10 (2.5%)
Using restroom	14 (2.7%)	2 (1.9%)	12 (2.9%)
Changing position	23 (4.5%)	5 (4.8%)	18 (4.4%)
Using a stool/ladder	4 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (1.0%)
Gardening	28 (5.5%)	7 (6.7%)	21 (5.1%)
Home improvements	6 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (1.5%)
Going up the stairs	15 (2.9%)	0 (0.0%)	15 (3.7%)
Going down the stairs	27 (5.3%)	4 (3.8%)	23 (5.6%)
Sitting down	8 (1.6%)	0 (0.0%)	8 (2.0%)
Getting up from sitting	12 (2.3%)	2 (1.9%)	10 (2.5%)
Playing sports	4 (0.8%)	1 (1.0%)	3 (0.7%)
Walking on level ground	60 (11.7%)	13 (12.4%)	47 (11.5%)
Walking on uneven ground	72 (14.0%)	23 (21.9%)	49 (12.0%)
<b>Rushing/hurrying</b>	47 (9.2%)	13 (12.4%)	34 (8.3%)
Running	5 (1.0%)	1 (1.0%)	4 (1.0%)
Hiking	9 (1.8%)	0 (0.0%)	9 (2.2%)
Walking a pet	15 (2.9%)	3 (2.9%)	12 (2.9%)
Turning around	20 (3.9%)	4 (3.8%)	16 (3.9%)
Carrying heavy/bulky items	22 (4.3%)	7 (6.7%)	15 (3.7%)
Other	14 (2.7%)	4 (3.8%)	10 (2.5%)

Table 22. Del Norte County, CA, participants' fall circumstance. Activity leading to their most recent fall in the past 12 months separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Fall Circumstance	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 52)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 95)
Activity leading to fall (n)*	114	34	80
Sitting	4 (3.5%)	2 (5.9%)	2 (2.5%)
Lying down	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Standing	11 (9.6%)	1 (2.9%)	10 (12.5%)
Cooking	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Eating	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Reaching	7 (6.1%)	1 (2.9%)	6 (7.5%)
Bathing	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Bending	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Using restroom	2 (1.8%)	1 (2.9%)	1 (1.3%)
Changing position	6 (5.3%)	1 (2.9%)	5 (6.3%)
Using a stool/ladder	2 (1.8%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (2.5%)
Gardening	4 (3.5%)	3 (8.8%)	1 (1.3%)
Home improvements	1 (0.9%)	1 (2.9%)	0 (0.0%)
Going up the stairs	6 (5.3%)	1 (2.9%)	5 (6.3%)
Going down the stairs	6 (5.3%)	4 (11.8%)	2 (2.5%)
Sitting down	1 (0.9%)	1 (2.9%)	0 (0.0%)
Getting up from sitting	2 (1.8%)	1 (2.9%)	1 (1.3%)
Playing sports	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Walking on level ground	16 (14.0%)	6 (17.6%)	11 (12.5%)
Walking on uneven ground	15 (13.2%)	4 (11.8%)	11 (13.8%)
<b>Rushing/hurrying</b>	6 (5.3%)	1 (2.9%)	5 (6.3%)
Running	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Hiking	1 (0.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)
Walking a pet	3 (2.6%)	1 (2.9%)	2 (2.5%)
Turning around	7 (6.1%)	1 (2.9%)	6 (7.5%)
Carrying heavy/bulky items	6 (5.3%)	2 (5.9%)	4 (5.0%)
Other	3 (2.6%)	2 (5.9%)	1 (1.3%)

Table 23. Humboldt County, CA participants' intrinsic risk factors separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions.  $\dagger$  BMI = Body Mass Index. FOF = Fear of falling. ADL = Activities of Daily Living. IADL = Instrumental Activities of Daily Living.

Intrinsic Risk Factor	Humboldt County (N = 615)	Rural Non- Fallers (n= 60)	Rural Fallers (n= 70)	Urban Non-Fallers (n= 260)	Urban Fallers (n= 225)
BMI*	$27.0 \pm 7.6$	$27.6 \pm 5.6$	$27.4 \pm 7.1$	$26.5\pm8.2$	$27.2 \pm 7.5$
Fear of falling (n)	610	59	68	259	224
Always	49 (8.0%)	0 (0.0%)	7 (10.3%)	10 (3.9%)	32 (14.3%)
Often	64 (10.5%)	2 (3.4%)	9 (13.2%)	20 (7.7%)	33 (14.7%)
Sometimes	341 (55.9%)	34 (57.6%)	37 (54.4%)	149 (57.5%)	121 (54.0%)
Never	156 (25.6%)	23 (39.0%)	15 (22.1%)	80 (30.9%)	38 (17.0%)
Activity restriction	607	60	68	257	222
from FOF† (n)					
Always	25 (4.1%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (4.4%)	4 (1.6%)	18 (8.1%)
Often	54 (8.9%)	4 (6.7%)	11 (16.2%)	16 (6.2%)	23 (10.4%)
Sometimes	241 (39.7%)	19 (31.7%)	21 (30.9%)	100 (38.9%)	101 (45.5%)
Never	287 (47.3%)	37 (61.7%)	33 (48.5%)	137 (53.3%)	80 (36.0%)
ADL <sup>†</sup> restriction (n)	612	60	69	259	224
Always	14 (2.3%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.4%)	1 (0.4%)	12 (5.4%)
Often	15 (2.5%)	1 (1.7%)	3 (4.3%)	4 (1.5%)	7 (3.1%)
Sometimes	29 (4.7%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (8.7%)	7 (2.7%)	16 (7.1%)
Never	554 (90.5%)	59 (98.3%)	<b>59 (85.5%)</b>	247 (95.4%)	189 (84.4%)
IADL <sup>†</sup> restriction (n)	612	59	70	259	224
Always	37 (6.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (5.7%)	9 (3.5%)	24 (10.7%)
Often	31 (5.1%)	1 (1.7%)	4 (5.7%)	10 (3.9%)	16 (7.1%)
Sometimes	117 (19.1%)	5 (8.5%)	15 (21.4%)	48 (18.5%)	49 (21.9%)
Never	427 (69.8%)	53 (89.8%)	47 (67.1%)	192 (74.1%)	135 (60.3%)
Chronic condition (n)	611	58	70	258	225
No	134 (21.9%)	18 (31.0%)	16 (22.9%)	58 (22.5%)	42 (18.7%)
Yes	477 (78.1%)	40 (69.0%)	54 (77.1%)	200 (77.5%)	183 (81.3%)

Table 24. Del Norte County, CA, participants' intrinsic risk factors separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions.  $\dagger$  BMI = Body Mass Index. FOF = Fear of falling. ADL = Activities of Daily Living. IADL = Instrumental Activities of Daily Living.

Intrinsic Risk Factor	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> =147)	Rural Non- Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 60)	Rural Fallers (n= 70)	Urban Non-Fallers (n= 260)	Urban Fallers (n= 225)
BMI*	$27.0 \pm 7.6$	27.6 ± 5.6	$27.4 \pm 7.1$	$26.5 \pm 8.2$	$27.2 \pm 7.5$
Fear of falling (n)	610	59	68	259	224
Always	49 (8.0%)	0 (0.0%)	7 (10.3%)	10 (3.9%)	32 (14.3%)
Often	64 (10.5%)	2 (3.4%)	9 (13.2%)	20 (7.7%)	33 (14.7%)
Sometimes	341 (55.9%)	34 (57.6%)	37 (54.4%)	149 (57.5%)	121 (54.0%)
Never	156 (25.6%)	23 (39.0%)	15 (22.1%)	80 (30.9%)	38 (17.0%)
Activity restriction	607	60	68	257	222
from FOF† (n)					
Always	25 (4.1%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (4.4%)	4 (1.6%)	18 (8.1%)
Often	54 (8.9%)	4 (6.7%)	11 (16.2%)	16 (6.2%)	23 (10.4%)
Sometimes	241 (39.7%)	19 (31.7%)	21 (30.9%)	100 (38.9%)	101 (45.5%)
Never	287 (47.3%)	37 (61.7%)	33 (48.5%)	137 (53.3%)	80 (36.0%)
ADL <sup>†</sup> restriction (n)	612	60	69	259	224
Always	14 (2.3%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.4%)	1 (0.4%)	12 (5.4%)
Often	15 (2.5%)	1 (1.7%)	3 (4.3%)	4 (1.5%)	7 (3.1%)
Sometimes	29 (4.7%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (8.7%)	7 (2.7%)	16 (7.1%)
Never	554 (90.5%)	59 (98.3%)	59 (85.5%)	247 (95.4%)	189 (84.4%)
IADL <sup>†</sup> restriction (n)	612	59	70	259	224
Always	37 (6.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (5.7%)	9 (3.5%)	24 (10.7%)
Often	31 (5.1%)	1 (1.7%)	4 (5.7%)	10 (3.9%)	16 (7.1%)
Sometimes	117 (19.1%)	5 (8.5%)	15 (21.4%)	48 (18.5%)	49 (21.9%)
Never	427 (69.8%)	53 (89.8%)	47 (67.1%)	192 (74.1%)	135 (60.3%)
Chronic condition					
( <b>n</b> )	611	58	70	258	225
No	134 (21.9%)	18 (31.0%)	16 (22.9%)	58 (22.5%)	42 (18.7%)
Yes	477 (78.1%)	40 (69.0%)	54 (77.1%)	200 (77.5%)	183 (81.3%)
Table 25. Humboldt County, CA, participants with chronic conditions separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger$  COPD = Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. OH = Orthostatic hypotension. LOC = Loss of consciousness. UI = Urinary incontinence.  $\ddagger$  = Arthritis includes Osteoarthritis.

Intrinsic Risk Factor	Humboldt	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	(N = 615)	Non-	Fallers	Non-Fallers	Fallers
		Fallers	(n = 70)	(n = 260)	(n = 225)
		( <i>n</i> = 60)			
Chronic Conditions					
( <b>n</b> )*	1390	38	50	192	179
Alzheimer's	7 (0.5%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (2.0%)	1 (0.5%)	5 (2.8%)
COPD†	37 (2.7%)	6 (15.8%)	4 (8.0%)	15 (7.8%)	12 (6.7%)
Cancer	53 (3.8%)	6 (15.8%)	4 (8.0%)	24 (12.5%)	19 (10.6%)
Cardiovascular	<b>99</b> (7.1%)	7 (18.4%)	8 (16.0%)	40 (20.8%)	44 (24.6%)
Deafness	23 (1.7%)	2 (5.3%)	3 (6.0%)	8 (4.2%)	10 (5.6%)
Dementia	13 (0.9%)	1 (2.6%)	2 (4.0%)	2 (1.0%)	8 (4.5%)
Depression	85 (6.1%)	2 (5.3%)	7 (14.0%)	24 (12.5%)	52 (29.1%)
Diabetes	131 (9.4%)	4 (10.5%)	12 (24.0%)	29 (15.1%)	31 (17.3%)
Epilepsy	6 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (2.1%)	2 (1.1%)
Dizziness/vertigo	59 (4.2%)	7 (18.4%)	3 (6.0%)	22 (11.5%)	27 (15.1%)
Stroke	18 (1.3%)	1 (2.6%)	1 (2.0%)	5 (2.6%)	11 (6.1%)
Hypertension	173 (12.4%)	15 (39.5%)	16 (32.0%)	80 (41.7%)	62 (34.6%)
Neuropathy	85 (6.1%)	4 (10.5%)	7 (14.0%)	35 (18.2%)	39 (21.8%)
OH†	15 (1.1%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	5 (2.6%)	10 (5.6%)
Arthritis‡	236 (17.0%)	18 (47.4%)	18 (36.0%)	98 (51.0%)	102 (57.0%)
Osteoporosis	95 (6.8%)	5 (13.2%)	7 (14.0%)	41 (21.4%)	42 (23.5%)
Sleeping disorders	114 (8.2%)	7 (18.4%)	10 (20.0%)	39 (20.3%)	58 (32.4%)
Syncope/ LOC†	33 (2.4%)	1 (2.6%)	2 (4.0%)	9 (4.7%)	21 (11.7%)
UI†	108 (7.8%)	7 (18.4%)	10 (20.0%)	39 (20.3%)	52 (29.1%)

Table 26. Del Norte County, CA, participants with chronic conditions separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger$  COPD = Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. OH = Orthostatic hypotension. LOC = Loss of consciousness. UI = Urinary incontinence.  $\ddagger$  = Arthritis includes Osteoarthritis.

Intrinsic Risk Factor	Del Norte	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	(N <b>=147</b> )	Non-Fallers	Fallers	Non-Fallers	Fallers
		(n = 30)	(n = 21)	( <i>n</i> = 56)	( <i>n</i> = <b>39</b> )
Chronic Conditions (n)*	371	21	17	41	33
Alzheimer's	1 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (5.9%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
COPD†	16 (4.3%)	5 (23.8%)	1 (5.9%)	7 (17.1%)	3 (9.1%)
Cancer	10 (2.7%)	2 (9.5%)	1 (5.9%)	2 (4.9%)	5 (15.2%)
Cardiovascular	32 (8.6%)	5 (23.8%)	5 (29.4%)	15 (36.6%)	7 (21.2%)
Deafness	1 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (3.0%)
Dementia	4 (1.1%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (5.9%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (9.1%)
Depression	26 (7.0%)	2 (9.5%)	5 (29.4%)	9 (22.0%)	10 (30.3%)
Diabetes	26 (7.0%)	5 (23.8%)	2 (11.8%)	7 (17.1%)	11 (33.3%)
Epilepsy	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Dizziness/vertigo	23 (6.2%)	3 (14.3%)	4 (23.5%)	7 (17.1%)	9 (27.3%)
Stroke	9 (2.4%)	1 (4.8%)	2 (11.8%)	2 (4.9%)	4 (12.1%)
Hypertension	48 (12.9%)	8 (38.1%)	6 (35.3%)	18 (43.9%)	16 (48.5%)
Neuropathy	22 (5.9%)	1 (4.8%)	2 (11.8%)	10 (24.4%)	9 (27.3%)
OH*	2 (0.5%)	1 (4.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (3.0%)
<b>Arthritis</b> ‡	65 (17.5%)	12 (57.1%)	9 (52.9%)	22 (53.7%)	21 (63.6%)
Osteoporosis	24 (6.5%)	5 (23.8%)	2 (11.8%)	12 (29.3%)	5 (15.2%)
Sleeping disorders	26 (7.0%)	3 (14.3%)	2 (11.8%)	13 (31.7%)	8 (24.2%)
Syncope/ LOC†	6 (1.6%)	1 (4.8%)	1 (5.9%)	1 (2.4%)	3 (9.1%)
ŪI†	30 (8.1%)	4 (19.0%)	6 (35.3%)	7 (17.1%)	12 (36.4%)

Table 27. Humboldt County, CA, participants who are taking medication for chronic conditions separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger$  COPD = Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. OH = Orthostatic hypotension. LOC = Loss of consciousness. UI = Urinary incontinence.  $\ddagger$  Arthritis includes Osteoarthritis.

Chronic Condition	Humboldt ( <i>N</i> =615)	Rural Non-Fallers (n = 60)	<b>Rural</b> <b>Fallers</b> ( <i>n</i> = 70)	Urban Non-Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 260)	Urban Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 225)
Med intake for (n)*	1028	30	42	166	157
Alzheimer's	1 (0.1%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.6%)
<b>COPD</b> †	31 (3.0%)	5 (16.7%)	4 (9.5%)	13 (7.8%)	9 (5.7%)
Cancer	31 (3.0%)	5 (16.7%)	1 (2.4%)	14 (8.4%)	11 (7.0%)
Cardiovascular	89 (8.7%)	6 (20.0%)	8 (19.0%)	38 (22.9%)	37 (23.6%)
Deafness	23 (2.2%)	2 (6.7%)	3 (7.1%)	8 (4.2%)	10 (6.4%)
Dementia	6 (0.6%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.6%)	5 (3.2%)
Depression	78 (7.6%)	2 (6.7%)	7 (16.7%)	23 (13.9%)	46 (29.3%)
Diabetes	114 (11.1%)	3 (10.0%)	10 (23.8%)	26 (15.7%)	20 (12.7%)
Epilepsy	4 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.2%)	2 (1.3%)
Dizziness/vertigo	30 (2.9%)	2 (6.7%)	2 (4.8%)	13 (7.8%)	13 (8.3%)
Stroke	11 (1.1%)	0 (0%)	1 (2.4%)	4 (2.4%)	6 (3.8%)
Hypertension	163 (15.9%)	13 (43.3%)	14 (33.3%)	78 (47.0%)	58 (36.9%)
Neuropathy	57 (5.5%)	1 (3.3%)	6 (14.3%)	25 (15.1%)	25 (15.9%)
OH†	10 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (2.4%)	6 (3.8%)
Arthritis‡	161 (15.7%)	10 (33.3%)	12 (28.6%)	72 (43.4%)	67 (42.7%)
Osteoporosis	61 (5.9%)	3 (10.0%)	4 (9.5%)	27 (16.3%)	27 (17.2%)
Sleeping disorders	84 (8.2%)	5 (16.7%)	6 (14.3%)	32 (19.3%)	41 (26.1%)
Syncope/LOC <sup>†</sup>	10 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (1.8%)	7 (4.5%)
UI†	64 (6.2%)	2 (6.7%)	7 (16.7%)	27 (16.3%)	28 (17.9%)

Table 28. Del Norte County, CA, participants who are taking medication for chronic conditions separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger$  COPD = Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. OH = Orthostatic hypotension. LOC = Loss of consciousness. UI = Urinary incontinence.  $\ddagger$  = Arthritis includes Osteoarthritis.

Chronic Condition	<b>Del Norte</b>	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	(N <b>=147</b> )	Non-Fallers	Fallers	Non-Fallers	Fallers
		(n = 30)	( <i>n</i> = 21)	( <i>n</i> = 56)	( <i>n</i> = <b>39</b> )
Med intake for (n)*	286	19	15	36	29
Alzheimer's	1 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (6.7%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
COPD*	16 (5.6%)	5 (26.3%)	1 (6.7%)	7 (19.4%)	3 (10.3%)
Cancer	6 (2.1%)	2 (10.5%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (2.8%)	3 (10.3%)
Cardiovascular	26 (9.1%)	4 (21.1%)	3 (20.0%)	13 (36.1%)	6 (20.7%)
Deafness	1 (0.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (3.4%)
Dementia	2 (0.7%)	0 (0%)	1 (6.7%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (3.4%)
Depression	23 (8.0%)	1 (5.3%)	5 (33.3%)	7 (19.4%)	10 (34.5%)
Diabetes	24 (8.4%)	4 (21.1%)	2 (13.2%)	7 (19.4%)	10 (34.5%)
Epilepsy	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	(0.0%)
Dizziness/vertigo	12 (4.2%)	2 (10.5%)	2 (13.3%)	3 (8.3%)	5 (17.2%)
Stroke	3 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2.8%)	2 (6.9%)
Hypertension	45 (15.7%)	7 (36.8%)	6 (40.0%)	17 (47.2%)	15 (51.7%)
Neuropathy	14 (4.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (6.7%)	8 (22.2%)	5 (17.2%)
OH†	2 (0.7%)	1 (5.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (3.4%)
Arthritis‡	49 (17.1%)	8 (42.1%)	6 (40.0%)	19 (52.8%)	15 (51.7%)
Osteoporosis	17 (5.9%)	3 (15.8%)	2 (13.3%)	9 (25.0%)	3 (10.3%)
Sleeping disorders	21 (7.3%)	2 (10.5%)	2 (13.3%)	10 (27.8%)	7 (24.1%)
Syncope/LOC†	3 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (6.7%)	1 (2.8%)	1 (3.4%)
UI†	21 (7.3%)	2 (10.5%)	4 (26.7%)	5 (13.9%)	10 (34.5%)

Table 29. Humboldt County, CA, participants who are taking prescribed medications separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions.

Medication Intake	Humboldt $(N = 615)$	Rural Non-Fallers (n = 60)	Rural Fallers $(n = 70)$	Urban Non-Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 260)	Urban Fallers (n = 225)
Prescribed med (n)	613	60	70	259	224
No	96 (15.7%)	16 (26.7%)	15 (21.4%)	37 (14.3%)	28 (12.5%)
Yes	517 (84.3%)	44 (73.3%)	55 (78.6%)	222 (85.7%)	196 (87.5%)
Sleep med (n)	515	44	55	220	196
No	430 (83.5%)	38 (86.4%)	44 (80.0%)	189 (85.9%)	159 (81.1%)
Yes	85 (16.5%)	6 (13.6%)	11 (20.0%)	31 (14.1%)	37 (18.9%)
Mood med (n)	512	44	54	220	194
No	397 (77.5%)	37 (84.1%)	43 (79.6%)	185 (84.1%)	132 (68.0%)
Yes	115 (22.5%)	7 (15.9%)	11 (20.4%)	35 (15.9%)	62 (32.0%)
# of meds*	$4.0 \pm 2.8$	$3.3 \pm 2.3$	$3.9 \pm 2.4$	$3.6 \pm 2.6$	$4.6 \pm 3.0$

Table 30. Del Norte County, CA, participants who are taking prescribed medications separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes number of falls is displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD. All other values show the number and percentage of total participants who answered the questions.

Medication Intake	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	Rural Non-Fallers (n = 30)	Rural Fallers (n = 21)	Urban Non-Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 56)	Urban Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 39)
Prescribed med (n)	143	30	21	54	37
No	17 (11.9%)	6 (20.0%)	3 (14.3%)	6 (11.1%)	2 (5.4%)
Yes	126 (88.1%)	24 (80.0%)	18 (85.7%)	48 (88.9%)	35 (94.6%)
Sleep med (n)	122	23	18	46	34
No	111 (91.0%)	22 (95.7%)	17 (94.4%)	41 (89.1%)	30 (88.2%)
Yes	11 (9.0%)	1 (4.3%)	1 (5.6%)	5 (10.9%)	4 (11.8%)
Mood med (n)	124	24	18	46	35
No	96 (77.4%)	21 (87.5%)	12 (66.7%)	37 (80.4%)	25 (71.4%)
Yes	28 (22.6%)	3 (12.5%)	6 (33.3%)	9 (19.6%)	10 (28.6%)
# of meds*	$4.6 \pm 3.9$	$3.7 \pm 1.8$	$3.9 \pm 2.7$	$4.7 \pm 3.9$	$5.4 \pm 5.2$

Table 31. Humboldt County, CA, participants with pain separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † ARFP = Activity restriction from pain.

Intrinsic Risk Factor	Humboldt	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	(N = 615)	Non-Fallers	Fallers	Non-Fallers	Fallers
		( <i>n</i> = 60)	(n = 70)	(n = 260)	(n = 225)
<b>D</b> - <b>!</b> ()	(00	50	70	254	224
Pain (n)	609	59 20 (50 00()		250	224
No	207 (34.0%)	30 (50.8%)	21 (30.0%)	92 (35.9%)	64 (28.6%)
Yes	402 (66.0%)	29 (49.2%)	49 (70.0%)	164 (64.1%)	160 (71.4%)
Pain Location (n)*	1056	29	48	164	159
Нір	157 (14.9%)	10 (34.5%)	22 (45.8%)	<b>65 (39.6%)</b>	60 (37.7%)
Back	197 (18.7%)	14 (48.3%)	21 (43.8%)	80 (48.8%)	82 (51.6%)
Foot	125 (11.8%)	5 (17.2%)	13 (27.1%)	54 (32.9%)	53 (33.3%)
Hands	100 (9.5%)	4 (13.8%)	12 (25.0%)	45 (27.4%)	39 (24.5%)
Knee	157 (14.9%)	15 (51.7%)	21 (43.8%)	58 (35.4%)	63 (39.6%)
Wrist	52 (4.9%)	4 (13.8%)	6 (12.5%)	19 (11.6%)	23 (14.5%)
Shoulders	115 (10.9%)	13 (44.8%)	14 (29.2%)	47 (28.7%)	41 (25.8%)
Neck	<b>98 (9.3%)</b>	9 (31.0%)	13 (27.1%)	39 (23.8%)	37 (23.3%)
Other	55 (5.2%)	3 (10.3%)	5 (10.4%)	23 (14.0%)	24 (15.1%)
ARFP† (n)	400	29	48	163	160
Always	2 (0.5%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (4.2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0.0%)
Often	37 (9.3%)	2 (6.9%)	7 (14.6%)	11 (6.7%)	17 (10.6%)
Sometimes	192 (48.0%)	14 (48.3%)	28 (58.3%)	73 (44.8%)	77 (48.1%)
Never	169 (42.3%)	13 (44.8%)	11 (22.9%)	79 (48.5%)	66 (41.3%)
Pain medication (n)	394	28	47	160	159
No	199 (50.5%)	11 (39.3%)	28 (59.6%)	88 (55.0%)	72 (45.3%)
Yes	195 (49.5%)	17 (60.7%)	19 (40.4%)	72 (45.0%)	87 (54.7%)

Table 32. Del Norte County, CA, participants with pain separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † ARFP = Activity restriction from pain.

Intrinsic Risk Factor	Del Norte	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	( <i>N</i> = <b>147</b> )	Non-Fallers	Fallers	Non-Fallers	Fallers
		(n = 30)	( <i>n</i> = 21)	( <i>n</i> = 56)	( <i>n</i> = <b>39</b> )
Dain (n)	144	30	20	54	30
	177 13 (20 0%)	12 (A0 0%)	20 6 (30 0%)	3 <del>4</del> 15 (27 8%)	37 10 (25 6%)
No	43 (23.370) 101 (70 107)	12 (40.0 /0)	0(30.070) 14(70.007)	13(27.070) 20(72.20/)	10(23.070) 20(74.497)
	101 (70.170)	10 (00.0 70)	14 (70.070)	39 (12.270)	29 (74.470)
Pain Location (n)*	303	18	14	39	29
Hip	46 (15.2%)	9 (50.0%)	8 (57.1%)	18 (46.2%)	10 (34.5%)
Back	64 (21.1%)	10 (55.6%)	8 (57.1%)	24 (61.5%)	21 (72.4%)
Foot	28 (9.2%)	3 (16.7%)	3 (21.4%)	13 (33.3%)	8 (27.6%)
Hands	19 (6.3%)	1 (5.6%)	1 (7.1%)	9 (23.1%)	7 (24.1%)
Knee	45 (14.9%)	5 (27.8%)	6 (42.9%)	18 (46.2%)	16 (55.2%)
Wrist	14 (4.6%)	1 (5.6%)	1 (7.1%)	6 (15.4%)	5 (17.2%)
Shoulders	34 (11.2%)	5 (27.8%)	5 (35.7%)	13 (13.3%)	11 (37.9%)
Neck	32 (10.6%)	7 (38.9%)	2 (14.3%)	14 (35.9%)	9 (31.0%)
Other	21 (6.9%)	3 (16.7%)	2 (14.3%)	8 (20.5%)	8 (27.6%)
ARFP† (n)	100	18	14	39	28
Always	4 (4.0%)	1 (5.6%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (5.1%)	1 (3.6%)
Often	<b>9 (9.0%</b> )	0 (0.0%)	2 (14.3%)	3 (7.7%)	3 (10.7%)
Sometimes	47 (47.0%)	5 (27.8%)	6 (42.9%)	19 (48.7%)	17 (60.7%)
Never	40 (40.0%)	12 (66.7%)	6 (42.9%)	15 (38.5%)	7 (25.0%)
Pain medication (n)	98	18	14	37	29
No	56 (57.1%)	14 (77.8%)	9 (64.3%)	22 (59.5%)	11 (37.9%)
Yes	42 (42.9%)	4 (22.2%)	5 (35.7%)	15 (40.5%)	18 (62.1%)

Limitation	Humboldt $(N - 615)$	Rural Non-Fallers	Rural Fallers	Urban Non-Fallers	Urban Fallers
	(11 - 013)	(n = 60)	(n = 70)	(n = 260)	(n = 225)
Walking instability (n)	598	60	66	256	216
Always	28 (4.7%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.0%)	6 (2.3%)	20 (9.3%)
Often	52 (8.7%)	2 (3.3%)	12 (18.2%)	15 (5.9%)	23 (10.6%)
Sometimes	234 (39.1%)	17 (28.3%)	24 (36.4%)	97 (37.9%)	<b>96 (44.4%)</b>
Never	284 (47.5%)	41 (68.3%)	28 (42.4%)	138 (53.9%)	77 (35.6%)
Balance instability (n)	607	59	69	257	222
Always	52 (8.6%)	1 (1.7%)	4 (5.8%)	11 (4.3%)	36 (16.2%)
Often	56 (9.2%)	0(0.0%)	9 (13.0%)	15 (5.8%)	32 (14.4%)
Sometimes	252 (41.5%)	26 (44.1%)	33 (47.8%)	110 (42.8%)	83 (37.4%)
Never	247 (40.7%)	32 (54.2%)	23 (33.3%)	121 (47.1%)	71 (32.0%)
Able to bend, stoop, or	609	59	70	257	223
kneel without					
assistance? (n)					
Always	396 (65%)	40 (67.8%)	46 (65.7%)	179 (69.6%)	131 (58.7%)
Often	93 (15.3%)	10 (16.9%)	14 (20.0%)	34 (13.2%)	35 (15.7%)
Sometimes	64 (10.5%)	8 (13.6%)	8 (11.4%)	17 (6.6%)	31 (13.9%)
Never	56 (9.2%)	1 (1.7%)	2 (2.9%)	27 (10.5%)	26 (11.7%)
Able to walk	609	59	69	258	223
up/downstairs alone? (n)					
Always	511 (83.9%)	57 (96.6%)	57 (82.6%)	218 (84.5%)	179 (80.3%)
Often	31 (5.1%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (8.7%)	13 (5.0%)	12 (5.4%)
Sometimes	25 (4.1%)	2 (3.4%)	3 (4.3%)	10 (3.9%)	10 (4.5%)
Never	42 (6.9%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (4.3%)	17 (6.6%)	22 (9.9%)
Need to use hands or	609	59	69	258	223
assistance to get up					
from a chair? (n)					
Always	83 (13.6%)	1 (1.7%)	12 (17.4%)	29 (11.2%)	41 (18.4%)
Often	81 (13.3%)	12 (20.3%)	7 (10.1%)	21 (8.1%)	41 (18.4%)
Sometimes	192 (31.5%)	13 (22.0%)	26 (37.7%)	85 (32.9%)	68 (30.5%)
Never	253 (41.5%)	33 (55.9%)	24 (34.8%)	123 (47.7%)	73 (32.7%)
Use walker/cane or	604	59	70	255	220
other forms of					
assistance for					
mobility? (n)					
Always	51 (8.4%)	0 (0.0%)	9 (12.9%)	16 (6.3%)	26 (11.8%)
Often	35 (5.8%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (8.6%)	9 (3.5%)	20 (9.1%)
Sometimes	99 (16.4%)	6 (10.2%)	8 (11.4%)	35 (13.7%)	50 (22.7%)
Never	419 (69.4%)	53 (89.8%)	47 (67.1%)	195 (76.5%)	124 (56.4%)

Table 33. Humboldt County, CA, participants with limitations separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers.

Limitation	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	Rural Non-Fallers (n = 30)	Rural Fallers (n = 21)	Urban Non-Fallers (n = 56)	Urban Fallers (n = 39)
Wallzing instability (n)	142	20	21	53	29
Always	142	29 1 (3.4%)	21 2 (9 5%)	55 3 (5 7%)	30 7 (18 4%)
Often	13(9.270) 11(770)	1 (3.4 /0) 0 (0.0%)	2(9.5%)	5 (0.1%)	3 (7 0%)
Sometimes	<b>61</b> ( <b>73</b> 0%)	14 (48 3%)	2(5.570) 12(571%)	18 (34 0%)	3(7.770) 17 (AA 7%)
Never	57 (40 1%)	14 (48 3%)	5(23.8%)	10 (34.070) 27 (50 9%)	11 (28 9%)
Relence instability (n)	143	30	2 (23.070) 21	27 (30.970) 54	38
Always	13 (9 1%)	1 (3 3%)	3 (14 3%)	1 (1 9%)	8 (21 1%)
Often	15 (10 5%)	3 (10.0%)	1(4.8%)	<b>5</b> (9 3%)	6 (15 8%)
Sometimes	60 ( <b>4</b> 2,0%)	13 (43.3%)	13 (61.9%)	21 (38.9%)	13 (34.2%)
Never	55 ( <b>38</b> ,5%)	13 (43.3%)	4(19.0%)	27 (50.0%)	11 (28.9%)
Able to bend, stoon, or	142	30	20	54	37
kneel without		•••	_0	• •	
assistance? (n)					
Always	82 (57.7%)	22 (73.3%)	10 (50.0%)	37 (68.5%)	12 (32.4%)
Often	19 (13.4%)	3 (10.0%)	1 (5.0%)	7 (13.0%)	8 (21.6%)
Sometimes	26 (18.3%)	0 (0.0%)	9 (45.0%)	5 (9.3%)	12 (32.4%)
Never	15 (10.6%)	5 (16.7%)	0 (0.0%)	5 (9.3%)	5 (13.5%)
Able to walk	143	30	21	53	38
up/downstairs alone? (n)					
Always	108 (75.5%)	29 (96.7%)	14 (66.7%)	42 (79.2%)	23 (60.5%)
Often	16 (11.2%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (19.0%)	4 (7.5%)	8 (21.1%)
Sometimes	13 (9.1%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (9.5%)	7 (13.2%)	3 (7.9%)
Never	6 (4.2%)	1 (3.3%)	1 (4.8%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (10.5%)
Need to use hands or	144	30	21	54	38
assistance to get up					
from a chair? (n)					
Always	21 (14.6%)	3 (10.0%)	4 (19.0%)	6 (11.1%)	7 (18.4%)
Often	24 (16.7%)	3 (10.0%)	4 (19.0%)	11 (20.4%)	6 (15.8%)
Sometimes	49 (34.0%)	9 (30.0%)	8 (38.1%)	19 (35.2%)	13 (34.2%)
Never	50 (34.7%)	15 (50.0%)	5 (23.8%)	18 (33.3%)	12 (31.6%)
Use walker/cane or	143	30	21	54	37
other forms of					
assistance for					
mobility? (n)					
Always	18 (12.6%)	2 (6.7%)	4 (19.0%)	4 (7.4%)	7 (18.9%)
Often	4 (2.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (5.6%)	1 (2.7%)
Sometimes	24 (16.8%)	2 (6.7%)	5 (23.8%)	7 (13.0%)	10 (27.0%)
Never	97 (67.8%)	26 (86.7%)	12 (57.1%)	40 (74.1%)	19 (51.4%)

Table 34. Del Norte County, CA, participants with limitations separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers.

Table 35. Humboldt County, CA, participants' physical, muscle, and balance, and flexibility activity according to rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* 2-4 days = 30 min/day, 2-4 times/week. † 5-7 days = 30 min/day, 5-7 days/week. ‡ Muscle activity = Muscle strengthening activity. § Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Behavioral Risk	Humboldt	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
Factor	( <i>N</i> = 615)	Non-fallers	Fallers	Non-fallers	Fallers
		(n = 60)	(n = 70)	(n = 260)	(n = 225)
Physical activity	606	60	70	256	220
Not active	134 (22.1%)	10 (16.7%)	15 (21.4%)	45 (17.6%)	64 (29.1%)
2-4 days*	213 (35.1%)	20 (33.3%)	20 (28.6%)	100 (39.1%)	73 (33.2%)
5-7 days†	259 (42.7%)	30 (50.0%)	35 (50.0%)	111 (43.4%)	83 (37.7%)
Muscle activity‡	601	60	69	252	220
Not active	225 (37.4%)	18 (30.0%)	23 (33.3%)	85 (33.7%)	99 (45.0%)
Once a week	120 (20.0%)	15 (25.0%)	14 (20.3%)	50 (19.8%)	41 (18.6%)
Twice a week	256 (42.6%)	27 (45.0%)	32 (46.4%)	117 (46.4%)	80 (36.4%)
Participate in a	683	59	69	253	222
balance, flexibility,					
or local class?§					
Stretching	287 (42.0%)	31 (52.5%)	34 (49.3%)	125 (49.4%)	97 (43.7%)
Balance	63 (9.2%)	2 (3.4%)	5 (7.2%)	27 (10.7%)	29 (13.1%)
Local Class	83 (12.2%)	6 (10.2%)	7 (10.1%)	44 (17.4%)	26 (11.7%)
No	250 (36.6%)	26 (44.1%)	30 (43.5%)	92 (36.4%)	102 (45.9%)

Table 36. Del Norte County, CA, participants' physical, muscle, and balance, and flexibility activity according to rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* 2-4 days = 30 min/day, 2-4 times/week. † 5-7 days = 30 min/day, 5-7 days/week. ‡ Muscle activity = Muscle strengthening activity. § Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Behavioral Risk	Del Norte	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
Factor	(N = 147)	Non-fallers	Fallers	Non-fallers	Fallers
		(n = 30)	(n = 21)	( <i>n</i> = 56)	( <i>n</i> = <b>39</b> )
Physical activity	144	30	21	54	38
Not active	44 (30.6%)	7 (23.3%)	10 (47.6%)	15 (27.8%)	12 (31.6%)
2-4 days*	46 (31.9%)	12 (40.0%)	5 (23.8%)	17 (31.5%)	11 (28.9%)
5-7 days†	54 (37.5%)	11 (36.7%)	6 (28.6%)	22 (40.7%)	15 (39.5%)
Muscle activity <sup>‡</sup>	143	30	21	54	37
Not active	77 (53.8%)	12 (40.0%)	15 (71.4%)	26 (48.1%)	23 (62.2%)
Once a week	20 (14.0%)	6 (20.0%)	1 (4.8%)	6 (11.1%)	7 (18.9%)
Twice a week	46 (32.2%)	12 (40.0%)	5 (23.8%)	22 (40.7%)	7 (18.9%)
Participate in a	151	30	21	53	38
balance, flexibility,					
or local class? §					
Stretching	53 (35.1%)	10 (33.3%)	8 (38.1%)	21 (39.6%)	14 (36.8%)
Balance	7 (4.6%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (5.7%)	4 (10.5%)
Local Class	3 (2.0%)	1 (3.3%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.8%)	0 (0.0%)
No	88 (58.3%)	20 (66.7%)	14 (66.7%)	31 (58.5%)	23 (60.5%)

Table 37. Humboldt County participants' common indoor home hazards separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Extrinsic Risk Factor	Humboldt	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	(N = 615)	Non-fallers	Fallers	Non-fallers	Fallers
		( <i>n</i> = 60)	(n = 70)	(n = 260)	( <i>n</i> = 225)
Indoor hazards (n)*	1075	51	63	737	108
Nopo	17/3	1(2.00/)	03 2 (2 20/ )	10 (A 20/ )	170
Thurse mag	17(0.970) 203(15.20/)	1(2.070)	2(3.270) 24(54.00/)	10 (4.370)	4(2.070) 110(55(0/)
Inrow rugs	303(15.5%)	25 (49.0%)	34 (54.0%) 11 (17 50()	134(57.8%)	110 (55.0%)
Suppery surfaces	87 (4.4%)	5 (9.8%)	11 (17.5%)	31 (13.4%)	40 (20.2%)
Loose/worn carpets	39 (2.0%)	7 (13.7%)	7 (11.1%)	12 (5.2%)	13 (6.6%)
Clutter on ground	63 (3.2%)	9 (17.6%)	9 (14.3%)	17 (7.3%)	28 (14.1%)
Cluttered pathways	32 (1.6%)	4 (7.8%)	4 (6.3%)	9 (3.9%)	15 (7.6%)
Staircases w/o railing	40 (2.0%)	3 (5.9%)	11 (17.5%)	13 (5.6%)	13 (6.6%)
Furniture obstacles	20 (1.0%)	3 (5.9%)	3 (4.8%)	3 (1.3%)	11 (5.6%)
Too low/too high toilet height	46 (2.3%)	3 (5.9%)	5 (7.9%)	22 (9.5%)	16 (8.1%)
Too low/too high bed height	30 (1.5%)	2 (3.9%)	1 (1.6%)	16 (6.9%)	11 (5.6%)
Cords on ground	74 (3.7%)	4 (7.8%)	13 (20.6%)	22 (9.5%)	35 (17.7%)
Poor/no lighting around pathways	23 (1.2%)	3 (5.9%)	5 (7.9%)	4 (1.7%)	11 (5.6%)
Pets around feet	228 (11.5%)	21 (41.2%)	27 (42.9%)	92 (39.7%)	88 (44.4%)
Bathtub/ shower without grab bars	261 (13.2%)	30 (58.8%)	41 (65.1%)	101 (43.5%)	89 (44.9%)
Front entrance edge	302 (15.3%)	27 (52.9%)	34 (54.0%)	131 (56.5%)	110 (55.6%)
Bathtub Edge	216 (10.9%)	22 (43.1%)	23 (36.5%)	93 (40.1%)	78 (39.4%)
Hard-to-reach areas	129 (6.5%)	11 (21.6%)	15 (23.8%)	49 (21.1%)	54 (27.3%)
Far away light	31 (1.6%)	3 (5.9%)	4 (6.3%)	12 (5.2%)	12 (6.1%)
Phone not accessible	34 (1.7%)	1 (2.0%)	8 (12.7%)	9 (3.9%)	16 (8.1%)

Table 38. Del Norte County participants' common indoor home hazards separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Extrinsic Risk Factor	Del Norte	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban
	(N = 147)	Non-fallers	Fallers	Non-fallers	Fallers
		(n = 30)	( <i>n</i> = 21)	( <i>n</i> = 56)	( <i>n</i> = 39)
Indoor hazards (n)*	490	22	16	48	35
None	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Throw rugs	78 (15.9%)	12 (54.5%)	10 (62.5%)	36 (75.0%)	20 (57.1%)
Slippery surfaces	18 (3.7%)	5 (22.7%)	3 (18.8%)	7 (14.6%)	3 (8.6%)
Loose/worn carpets	15 (3.1%)	2 (9.1%)	2 (12.5%)	6 (12.5%)	5 (14.3%)
Clutter on ground	9 (1.8%)	1 (4.5%)	1 (6.3%)	2 (4.2%)	5 (14.3%)
Clutter ed pathways	12 (2.4%)	3 (13.6%)	4 (25.0%)	3 (6.3%)	2 (5.7%)
Staircases w/o	4 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (4.2%)	2 (5.7%)
railing					
Furniture obstacles	11 (2.2%)	2 (9.1%)	1 (6.3%)	3 (6.3%)	5 (14.3%)
Too low/too high	17 (3.5%)	3 (13.6%)	0 (0.0%)	6 (12.5%)	7 (20.0%)
toilet height					
Too low/too high	8 (1.6%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (8.3%)	4 (11.4%)
bed height					
Cords on ground	12 (2.4%)	4 (18.2%)	1 (6.3%)	5 (10.4%)	2 (5.7%)
Poor/no lighting	7 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (6.3%)	4 (11.4%)
around pathways					
Pets around feet	63 (12.9%)	13 (59.1%)	6 (37.5%)	29 (60.4%)	15 (42.9%)
<b>Bathtub/ shower</b>	62 (12.7%)	11 (50.0%)	7 (43.8%)	29 (60.4%)	15 (42.9%)
without grab bars					
Front entrance edge	66 (13.5%)	8 (36.4%)	12 (75.0%)	30 (62.5%)	16 (45.7%)
Bathtub Edge	60 (12.2%)	11 (50.0%)	10 (62.5%)	25 (52.1%)	14 (40.0%)
Hard-to-reach areas	28 (5.7%)	4 (18.2%)	4 (25.0%)	9 (18.8%)	11 (31.4%)
Far away light	13 (2.7%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (18.8%)	7 (14.6%)	3 (8.6%)
Phone not accessible	7 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (12.5%)	2 (4.2%)	3 (8.6%)

Table 39. Humboldt County, CA, outdoor home hazards separated by rural and urban clusters. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Extrinsic Risk Factor	Humboldt ( <i>N</i> = 615)	Rural Non- fallers ( <i>n</i> = 60)	Rural Fallers (n = 70)	Urban Non-fallers (n = 260)	Urban Fallers (n = 225)
Outdoor hazards (n)*	897	44	61	176	176
None	41 (4.6%)	4 (9.1%)	2 (3.3%)	20 (11.4%)	15 (8.5%)
Slippery walking areas	119 (13.3%)	9 (20.5%)	25 (41.0%)	38 (21.6%)	47 (26.7%)
No Stair railing	136 (15.2%)	16 (36.4%)	21 (34.4%)	53 (30.1%)	46 (26.1%)
Poor/no lighting	89 (9.9%)	14 (31.8%)	15 (24.6%)	27 (15.3%)	33 (18.8%)
Uneven surfaces	213 (23.7%)	24 (54.5%)	37 (60.7%)	64 (36.4%)	88 (50.0%)
Walkways flood	33 (3.7%)	3 (6.8%)	8 (13.1%)	7 (4.0%)	15 (8.5%)
Pets near feet	148 (16.5%)	12 (27.3%)	25 (41.0%)	49 (27.8%)	62 (35.2%)
Items on walkways	86 (9.6%)	8 (18.2%)	18 (29.5%)	24 (13.6%)	36 (20.5%)
Hard-to-reach items	32 (3.6%)	1 (2.3%)	9 (14.8%)	6 (3.4%)	16 (9.1%)

Table 40. Del Norte County, CA, outdoor home hazards separated by rural and urban. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Extrinsic Risk Factor	Del Norte $(N - 147)$	Rural Non-fallers	Rural Fallers	Urban Non-fallers	Urban Fallers
	(11 - 147)	(n = 30)	(n = 21)	(n = 56)	(n = 39)
Outdoor hazards (n)*	194	20	11	42	28
None	1 (0.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (3.6%)
Slippery walking areas	26 (13.4%)	7 (35.0%)	3 (27.3%)	11 (26.2%)	5 (17.9%)
No Stair railing	20 (10.3%)	2 (10.0%)	2 (18.2%)	9 (21.4%)	7 (25.0%)
Poor/no lighting	22 (11.3%)	1 (5.0%)	4 (36.4%)	12 (28.6%)	5 (17.9%)
Uneven surfaces	33 (17.0%)	7 (35.0%)	2 (18.2%)	14 (33.3%)	10 (35.7%)
Walkways flood	16 (8.2%)	4 (20.0%)	2 (18.2%)	5 (11.9%)	5 (17.9%)
Pets near feet	40 (20.6%)	8 (40.0%)	3 (27.3%)	20 (47.6%)	9 (32.1%)
Items on walkways	22 (11.3%)	5 (25.0%)	3 (27.3%)	8 (19.0%)	6 (21.4%)
Hard-to-reach items	14 (7.2%)	1 (5.0%)	3 (27.3%)	4 (9.5%)	6 (21.4%)

Table 41. Humboldt County, CA, participants' common footwear worn separated by rural and urban. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Extrinsic Risk Factor	Humboldt ( <i>N</i> = 615)	Rural Non-fallers (n = 60)	<b>Rural</b> Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 70)	Urban Non-fallers ( <i>n</i> = 260)	Urban Fallers ( <i>n</i> = 225)
Shoe wear (n)*	1168	60	70	259	223
Slippers	210 (18.0%)	18 (30.0%)	25 (35.7%)	89 (34.4%)	78 (35.0%)
Thick soles shoes	293 (25.1%)	30 (50.0%)	29 (41.4%)	112 (43.2%)	122 (54.7%)
Thin soles shoes	339 (29.0%)	36 (60.0%)	39 (55.7%)	150 (57.9%)	114 (51.1%)
Barefoot	105 (9.0%)	16 (26.7%)	17 (24.3%)	42 (16.2%)	30 (13.5%)
Socks w/o shoes	91 (7.8%)	14 (23.3%)	11 (15.7%)	36 (13.9%)	30 (13.5%)
Other	130 (11.1%)	13 (21.7%)	18 (25.7%)	59 (22.8%)	40 (17.9%)

Table 42. Del Norte County, CA, participants' common footwear worn separated by rural and urban. Rural and urban clusters separated further by non-fallers and fallers. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Extrinsic Risk Factor	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	Rural Non-fallers (n = 30)	Rural Fallers (n = 21)	Urban Non-fallers (n = 56)	Urban Fallers (n = 39)
Shoe wear (n)*	271	30	21	53	39
Slippers	48 (17.7%)	12 (40.0%)	3 (14.3%)	22 (41.5%)	11 (28.2%)
Thick soles shoes	61 (22.5%)	12 (40.0%)	6 (28.6%)	23 (43.4%)	20 (51.3%)
Thin soles shoes	70 (25.8%)	16 (53.3%)	11 (52.4%)	28 (52.8%)	15 (38.5%)
Barefoot	31 (11.4%)	7 (23.3%)	4 (19.0%)	13 (24.5%)	7 (17.9%)
Socks w/o shoes	26 (9.6%)	5 (16.7%)	5 (23.8%)	12 (22.6%)	4 (10.3%)
Other	35 (12.9%)	7 (23.3%)	5 (23.8%)	12 (22.6%)	10 (25.6%)

Fall Prevention Awareness	Humboldt	Rural	Urban
	(N = 615)	(n = 130)	(n = 485)
Aware of medications prescribed? (n)	510	98	412
No	9 (1.8%)	1 (1.0%)	8 (1.9%)
Yes	501 (98.2%)	97 (99.0%)	404 (98.1%)
Doctor or pharmacist talked to them about how	509	99	410
their medication may affect their balance? (n)			
No	324 (63.7%)	63 (63.6%)	261 (63.7%)
Yes	185 (36.3%)	36 (36.4%)	149 (36.3%)
Ever had a home inspection for risk of falls? (n)	607	129	478
No	520 (85.7%)	122 (94.6%)	398 (83.3%)
Yes	87 (14.3%)	7 (5.4%)	80 (16.7%)
Willing to pay for home modifications to reduce	578	125	453
injury? (n)			
Cannot afford/not willing	160 (27.7%)	52 (41.6%)	108 (23.8%)
Unlikely	84 (14.5%)	14 (11.2%)	70 (15.5%)
Maybe	113 (19.6%)	18 (14.4%)	95 (21.0%)
Likely	87 (15.1%)	20 (16.0%)	67 (14.8%)
Very willing	134 (23.2%)	21 (16.8%)	113 (24.9%)
Perceived likelihood of falling in the next 12	612	129	483
months? (n)			
High	37 (6.0%)	11 (8.5%)	26 (5.4%)
Moderate	141 (23.0%)	34 (26.4%)	107 (22.2%)
Low	368 (60.1%)	70 (54.3%)	298 (61.7%)
None	66 (10.8%)	14 (10.9%)	52 (10.8%)
Assessed in the last 12 months by a health care	596	127	469
provider for their risk of falling? (n)			
No	498 (83.6%)	116 (91.3%)	382 (81.4%)
Yes	98 (16.4%)	11 (8.7%)	87 (18.6%)

Table 43. Humboldt County, CA, participants' awareness of fall prevention separated by rural and urban clusters.

Fall Prevention Awareness	<b>Del Norte</b>	Rural	Urban
	(N = 147)	( <i>n</i> = 52)	( <i>n</i> = 95)
	100	42	70
Aware of medications prescribed? (n)		43	79
INO N			
Yes	122 (100.0%)	43 (100.0%)	79 (100%)
Doctor or pharmacist talked to them about how	124	42	82
their medication may affect their balance? (n)			
No	72 (58.1%)	26 (61.9%)	46 (56.1%)
Yes	52 (41.9%)	16 (38.1%)	36 (43.9%)
Ever had a home inspection for risk of falls? (n)	144	52	92
No	128 (88.9%)	50 (96.2%)	78 (84.8%)
Yes	16 (11.1%)	2 (3.8%)	14 (15.2%)
Willing to pay for home modifications to reduce	140	48	92
injury? (n)			
Cannot afford/not willing	55 (39.3%)	20 (41.7%)	35 (38.0%)
Unlikely	19 (13.6%)	7 (14.6%)	12 (13.0%)
Maybe	18 (12.9%)	4 (8.3%)	14 (15.2%)
Likely	18 (12.9%)	9 (18.8%)	9 (9.8%)
Very willing	30 (21.4%)	8 (16.7%)	22 (23.9%)
Perceived likelihood of falling in the next 12	147	52	95
months? (n)			
High	9 (6.1%)	1 (1.9%)	8 (8.4%)
Moderate	31 (21.1%)	14 (26.9%)	17 (17.9%)
Low	87 (59.2%)	32 (61.5%)	55 (57.9%)
None	20 (13.6%)	5 (9.6%)	15 (15.8%)
Assessed in the last 12 months by a health care	143	51	92
provider for their risk of falling? (n)			
No	126 (88.1%)	47 (92.2%)	79 (85.9%)
Yes	17 (11.9%)	4 (7.8%)	13 (14.1%)

Table 44. Del Norte County, CA, participants' awareness of fall prevention separated by rural and urban clusters.

Table 45. Humboldt County, CA, fall prevention separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.  $\dagger$  AMOB = A Matter of Balance.  $\ddagger$  SAIL = Stay Active and Independent for Life.

Fall Prevention	Humboldt	Rural	Urban
	( <i>N</i> = 615)	( <i>n</i> = 130)	( <i>n</i> = 485)
Willing to possive fall prevention? (n)	505	101	474
winning to receive ran prevention: (ii)	373 212 (25 90/ )	141	4/4
NO	213 (35.8%)	55 (45.8%)	160 (33.8%)
Yes	382 (64.2%)	68 (56.2%)	314 (66.2%)
Preferred method of receiving	1336	259	1077
information? (n)*			
Television	173 (12.9%)	40 (15.4%)	133 (12.3%)
Radio	75 (5.6%)	22 (8.5%)	53 (4.9%)
Newspaper	179 (13.4%)	30 (11.6%)	149 (13.8%)
Internet	375 (28.1%)	83 (32.0%)	292 (27.1%)
Class	159 (11.9%)	13 (5.0%)	146 (13.6%)
Private conversation with	292 (21.9%)	55 (21.2%)	237 (22.0%)
health professional			
Other	83 (6.2%)	16 (6.2%)	67 (6.2%)
Fall prevention classes willing to take if	1226	231	995
offered for free? (n)*			
Tai chi	271 (22.1%)	51 (22.1%)	220 (22.1%)
AMOB†	154 (12.6%)	25 (10.8%)	129 (13.0%)
SAIL:	252 (20.6%)	45 (19.5%)	207 (20.8%)
Walking group	188 (15.3%)	32 (13.9%)	156 (15.7%)
Hiking group	178 (14.5%)	37 (16.0%)	141 (14.2%)
Biking group	87 (7.1%)	19 (8.2%)	68 (6.8%)
Other	78 (6.4%)	19 (8.2%)	<b>59 (5.9%)</b>
Other-water aerobics	5 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	5 (0.5%)
<b>Other-Yoga/Pilates</b>	13 (1.1%)	3 (1.3%)	10 (1.0%)

Table 46. Del Norte County, CA, fall prevention separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question. † AMOB = A Matter of Balance. ‡ SAIL = Stay Active and Independent for Life.

Fall Prevention	Del Norte $(N - 147)$	Rural $(n - 52)$	(n-95)
	(IV - I + I)	(n - 32)	(n - 33)
Willing to receive fall prevention? (n)	133	41	92
No	54 (40.6%)	23 (56.1%)	31 (33.7%)
Yes	79 (59.4%)	18 (43.9%)	61 (66.3%)
Preferred method of receiving	289	97	192
information? (n)*			
Television	61 (21.1%)	19 (19.6%)	42 (21.9%)
Radio	16 (5.5%)	7 (7.2%)	9 (4.7%)
Newspaper	20 (6.9%)	6 (6.2%)	14 (7.3%)
Internet	80 (27.7%)	31 (32.0%)	49 (25.5%)
Class	20 (6.9%)	6 (6.2%)	14 (7.3%)
Private conversation with	<b>69 (23.9%)</b>	23 (23.7%)	46 (24.0%)
health professional			
Other	23 (8.0%)	5 (5.2%)	18 (9.4%)
Fall prevention classes willing to take if	276	103	173
offered for free? (n)*			
Tai chi	61 (22.1%)	26 (25.2%)	35 (20.2%)
<b>AMOB</b> †	35 (12.7%)	13 (12.6%)	22 (12.7%)
SAIL‡	56 (20.3%)	19 (18.4%)	37 (21.4%)
Walking group	44 (15.9%)	15 (14.6%)	29 (16.8%)
Hiking group	32 (11.6%)	14 (13.6%)	18 (10.4%)
Biking group	19 (6.9%)	6 (5.8%)	13 (7.5%)
Other	23 (8.3%)	7 (6.8%)	16 (9.2%)
Other-water aerobics	3 (1.1%)	2 (1.9%)	1 (0.6%)
<b>Other-Yoga/Pilates</b>	3 (1.1%)	1 (1.0%)	2 (1.2%)

Table 47. Humboldt County, CA, participants' perceived barriers to receiving or accessing the help they need regarding their health separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Perceived Barriers	Humboldt $(N = 615)$	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 130)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 485)
Barriers to receiving or accessing care (n)*	406	98	308
None	116 (28.6%)	13 (13.3%)	103 (33.4%)
Motivation	26 (6.4%)	2 (2.0%)	24 (7.8%)
Transportation	16 (3.9%)	3 (3.1%)	13 (4.2%)
Time	32 (7.9%)	8 (8.2%)	24 (7.8%)
Assistance with ADL*	15 (3.7%)	4 (4.1%)	11 (3.6%)
Availability in local area	12 (3.0%)	6 (6.1%)	6 (1.9%)
COVID	12 (3.0%)	1 (1.0%)	11 (3.6%)
Medical condition	30 (7.4%)	6 (6.1%)	24 (7.8%)
Do not like groups	5 (1.2%)	1 (1.0%)	4 (1.3%)
Distance/geographic location	47 (11.6%)	37 (37.8%)	10 (3.2%)
Availability of medical appointments	7 (1.7%)	2 (2.0%)	5 (1.6%)
Finance	26 (6.4%)	3 (3.1%)	23 (7.5%)
Shortage of providers	23 (5.7%)	7 (7.1%)	16 (5.2%)
Other	39 (9.6%)	5 (5.1%)	34 (11.0%)

Table 48. Del Norte County, CA, participants' perceived barriers to receiving or accessing the help they need regarding their health separated by rural and urban clusters. \* Denotes characteristic is displayed as a frequency value and the number and percentages depict the number of times a data value was selected within that question.

Perceived Barriers	<b>Del Norte</b> ( <i>N</i> = 147)	<b>Rural</b> ( <i>n</i> = 52)	Urban ( <i>n</i> = 95)
Barriers to receiving or accessing care (n)*	83	26	57
None	20 (24.1%)	7 (26.9%)	13 (22.8%)
Motivation	2 (2.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.5%)
Transportation	2 (2.4%)	1 (3.8%)	1 (1.8%)
Time	3 (3.6%)	1 (3.8%)	2 (3.5%)
Assistance with ADL*	2 (2.4%)	1 (3.8%)	1 (1.8%)
Availability in local area	6 (7.2%)	1 (3.8%)	5 (8.8%)
COVID	2 (2.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.5%)
Medical condition	8 (9.6%)	2 (7.7%)	6 (10.5%)
Do not like groups	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Distance/geographic location	14 (16.9%)	5 (19.2%)	9 (15.8%)
Availability of medical appointments	3 (3.6%)	1 (3.8%)	2 (3.5%)
Finance	7 (8.4%)	3 (11.5%)	4 (7.0%)
Shortage of providers	4 (4.8%)	1 (3.8%)	3 (5.3%)
Other	10 (12.0%)	3 (11.5%)	7 (12.3%)